## **Mechanisms of Enterovirus 71 Antagonizing**

## **Type I Interferon Response**

8

då

LU, Jing

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Public Health

The Chinese University of Hong Kong

September 2011

UMI Number: 3514572

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent on the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI 3514572

Copyright 2012 by ProQuest LLC.

All rights reserved. This edition of the work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.



ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 - 1346

## Thesis /Assessment Committee

Prof. Hsiangfu Kung (Chair) Professor Mingliang He (Thesis Supervisor) Professor Marie Lin (Committee Member)

i

### Abstract

Enterovirus 71 (EV71) is a typical positive strand RNA virus that usually causes hand, foot and mouth disease (HFMD). Acute EV71 infection may result in severe neural syndromes and even death especially among young children. To date, no effective treatment is available for EV71 infection.

Type I interferon (IFN), as the first line of host immune response, is critical in mediating viral clearance, host defense, and adaptive immunity development upon virus invasion. Recominant IFNs are also applied to treat and control several clinical viral infections. In case of EV71, previous studies showed that conventional IFNs fail to treat EV71 infection in mice. It suggests that virus has developed mechanisms to escape from type I IFN response. Uncover the underling mechanisms would help us to develop strategies to combate EV71 infection.

In this thesis, I firstly characterized the viral kinetics of EV71 in infected human rhabdomyosarcoma cells and analyzed the correlation between the cellular type I IFN level and viral replication. The induction of IFN- $\beta$  was observed during viral infection. However, viral replication was not restricted and quickly led to a peak post infection. These results indicated that EV71 infection sensed by host cells could activate the type I interferon production, while virus developed unkown mechanisms to antagonize the IFN response. Secondly, by analyzing with RT-PCR, the mRNA level of IFN stimulated genes (ISGs) were demonstrated to be repressed in EV71 infected cells after treated with recombinant IFN- $\alpha$  when compared with mock infected control. Thirdly, subsequent

analysis showed that EV71 inhibited the type I IFN response by blocking the IFNmediated phosphorylation of STAT1 and STAT2. Fourthly, EV71 was demonstrated to inhibit Jak/STAT signaling by promoting internalization and degradation of type I IFN receptor subunit IFNAR1. Fifthly, 2A protease encoded by EV71 was identified as an antagonist of the type I IFNs and ecotopic expression of 2A<sup>pro</sup> led to repress the expression of IFNAR1, led to inhibition of the phosphorylation of Jak1, Tyk2, STAT1 and STAT2. Finally, the site-direct mutation indicated that the protease activity of 2A<sup>pro</sup> was essential in this process, although the 2A<sup>pro</sup> could not directly cleave IFNAR1 both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Taken together, this study for the first time proved that EV71 was able to inhibit the cellular type I IFN response by reducing IFNAR1 level. Moreover, 2A protease encoded by EV71 was demonstrated to function as the antagonist to the IFN signaling. These data provides new knowledge of EV71 to block the host innate immune response, and may facilitate development of new antiviral therapies for EV71 or other picornaviruses infections.

### 摘要

腸病毒 71 型 (EV71) 是一種單鏈的核糖核酸病毒。病毒感染易引發手足口病,急性 感染對兒童來說更可能引起腦炎、肺水腫及肺出血進而導致死亡。目前,針對 EV71 感染尚沒有有效的治療方式。I 型幹擾素是機體細胞對病毒感染或各種生物 誘生作用反應產生並分泌的一類具有多種生物活性的糖蛋白, 可啟動別的基因亞群 進行轉錄、從而具有抗病毒和免疫調節作用。因此重組的工型幹擾素常用於臨床的 抗病毒治療、但之前研究結果表明在小鼠和細胞模型中、常用的幹擾素並不能有效的 治療和抑制 EV71 病毒感染。這表明 EV71 病毒可能通過某些機制來逃逸 I 型幹擾 素引起的免疫反應,而揭示 EV71 病毒的逃逸機制將有助於將來的抗病毒治療。 本 論文首先對 EV71 病毒的感染動力學進行了詳盡的描述,並且分析了病毒感染過 程中 I 型幹擾素與病毒複製的關係。研究發現病毒感染可以引起幹擾素β的產生、 但是病毒的複製並沒有因此受到抑制反而在感染後很快達到複製高峰。這說明病 毒感染雖然被細胞的免疫系統識別但是同時通過某些機制逃逸 I 型幹擾素引起的 免疫反應。隨後我們對幹擾素通路下遊的基因亞群(ISGs)進行了分析。與對照相 比、EV71 感染可以顯著抑制內源或者外源幹擾素激活的 ISGs 轉錄。通過對 I 型幹 擾素通路信號元件的進一步分析,發現 EV71 病毒通過抑制 STAT1 和 STAT2 的磷 酸化而抑制幹擾素引起的免疫反應。隨後的實驗證明 EV71 對 Jak/STAT 信號通路 的抑制是通過加速幹擾素受體 IFNAR1 的内吞和降解來實現的。為進一步暸解病 毒的逃逸機制,我們對 11 個病毒蛋白進行了相關分析,發現病毒編碼的 2A 蛋白可以 拮抗 I型幹擾素通路。與病毒感染相似,2A 蛋白也是通過抑制 I型幹擾素受體 IFNAR1 進而抑制幹擾素通路中 JAK1 和 Tyk2 的磷酸化纖而抑制下遊 STAT1 和 STAT2 的磷酸化,最後抑制通路下遊抗病毒基因群轉錄的啟動。最後,體外和細胞 內的實驗結果進一步證明了 2A 對細胞內 IFNAR1 蛋白水準的抑制並不是通過直接 的剪切作用但是仍然依賴于 2A 的蛋白酶活性。綜上所述,本論文闡述了 EV71 病 毒抑制 I 型幹擾素通路的具體機制,併發現病毒編碼的 2A 蛋白通過抑制細胞內 I 型 幹擾素的相關受體水準來達到逃逸幹擾素免疫反應的作用。

ν

## Acknowledgement

I would first like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Professor Ming-Liang He, for all of his guidance and support throughout the study. His brilliance and experience in scientific research have been instrumental in the successful of this project.

I warmly thank Professor Hsiang Fu Kung, who gave me patient guidance, invaluable advices and constant support in the last three years. He sets a good example for all of our students because of his enthusiasm and untiring efforts in science research.

Also, my thanks go to the members of Stanley Ho Centre for Emerging Infectious Disease and the School of Public Health of the Chinese University of Hong Kong, past and present, who give me a lot of help not only in my study but also in my living in Hong Kong. During these three years, they have provided me memorable experience and sincere friendship.

Finally, and most importantly, my deepest gratitude goes to my parents and my wife Lina for their selfless love, support and encouragement in three-year study period.

## **Publications**

#### **Conference abstract:**

Jing Lu, Lina Yi, Mingliang He.

Gene Expression Profiling Indicates Differential Cellular Gene Expression in Response to Enterovirus 71 Infection.

42nd Asia-Pacific Academic Consortium for Public Health Conference (Presentation).

### **Journal Articles:**

- Lina Yi, Jing Lu, Hsiang-fu Kung, Ming-Liang He. The virology and developments toward control of human enterovirus 71. *Critical Reviews in Microbiology*. 2011, 1-15.
- Jing Lu, Yaqing He, Lina Yi, Hong Zan, Hsiang-fu Kung, Ming-Liang He. The viral kinetics of Enterovirus 71 in human rhabdomyosarcoma cells. *World Journal of Gastroenterology* (Accepted).
- Jing Lu, Ren Liu, Lina Yi, Hsiang-fu Kung, Ming-Liang He. The Host-Virus Interaction: Interferon Responses and Modulation of Type I IFN Signaling Pathway by Human Enteroviruses. Journal of Virology Research (Accepted).

## **Table of Contents**

Abstract	øii	
摘要	iv	
Acknowledgement	vi	
Publicationsvii		
List of Tables and Figuresxii		
List of Abbreviation	xiv	
Chapter 1 Introduction	1	
1.1 EV71	2	
1.1.1 Epidemiology of EV71	2	
1.1.1.1 Early epidemic activity	2	
1.1.1.2 EV71 in the Asia-Pacific region		
1.1.2 Classification and molecular epidemiology	6	
1.1.3 Genome, lifecycle and kinetics of EV71	9	
1.1.4 Clinical features of EV71 infection	13	
1.1.5 Pathogenesis	16	
1.1.6 Controls of human enterovirus 71	18	
1.1.6.1 Vaccines		
1.1.6.2 Antiviral drugs	20	
1.2 Type I interferon	22	
1.2.1 Types of interferons	22	
1.2.2 The production of type I interferon	24	
1.2.2.1 Toll-like Receptors		
1.2.2.2 TLR signaling pathway in virus infection		
1.2.2.3 RIG-1 like Receptors		

1.2.2.4	RIG-1/MDA5 Signaling	
1.2.2.5	Transcriptional activation of type 1 IFNs	
1.2.3	Type I IFN signaling pathway	32
1.2.3.1	Type I IFN receptors	
1.2.3.2	JAK/STAT signaling	
1.2.4	Interferon induced antiviral proteins	35
1.2.4.1	dsRNA-dependent protein kinase R	
1.2.4.2	2 2'-5' OAS and RNaseL	
1.2.4.3	B The Mx proteins	
1.2.4.4	4 ISG15, ISG54 and ISG56	
1.2.5	Type I IFN induced antiviral status	40
1.2.5.1	I IFN induced cell apoptosis and cell cycle arrest	
1.2.5.2	2 Immunomodulation	41
1.3	Viral evasion of type I IFN response	42
1.3.1	Viral inhibition of IFN production	43
1.3.1.	Interfere with PRR activation	43
1.3.1.2	2 Inactivation of the IFN transcriptional factors	45
1.3.2	Viral inhibition of IFN signaling	48
1.3.3	Antagonists encoded by members of picornavirus family	51
1.3.4	Thesis hypothesis and objective	53
Chapt	er 2 Materials and Methods	
2.1	Cells and Virus propagation	55
2.2	Viral infection and cytopathic effects assay	55
2.3	MTT assay	56
2.4	Plasmids	56
2.5	Transfection and cell treatment	59

2.6	RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis
2.7	Protein expression and purification
2.8	Direct cleavage assays of 2A <sup>pro</sup>
2.9	Real-Time Quantitative PCR
2.10	Western Blotting analysis
2.11	Immunoprecipitation
2.12	Immunofluorescence
2.13	Statistical Analysis
Chapt	er 3 Results 67
3.1	Viral Kinetics 68
2.1.1	Catenathic offects and the kinetic of cell visbility 69
3.1.1	Cytopathic effects and the kinetic of cell viability
3.2	E v /1 antagonize type 1 IFN response
3.2.1 activa	EV71 infection activated Type I IFN production but inhibited ISGs
activa	/ 0
3.2.2	EV71 antagonized the antiviral effect of IFN- $\alpha$ treatment81
3.2.3	Phosphorylation of STAT1 and STAT2 was inhibited by EV7184
3.2.4	EV71 Blocked IFN-mediated Jak/STAT signaling by reducing IFNAR1
protei	In level
3.2.5	EV/I promote internalization of IFNAR1
3.2.6	Identification 2A as an antagonist of IFN signaling
3.2.7 Janus	2A Blocks Type I IFN-mediated phosphorylation of STAT proteins and kinases by reducing IFNAR1
3.2.8	Inhibition of IFN signaling is depend on the protease activity of 2A <sup>pro</sup> 101
3.2.9	2A <sup>pro</sup> can not directly cleave IFNAR
Chap	ter 4 Discussion
4.1	EV71 viral kinetics in RD cells
4.2	EV71 antagonizes type I IFN response
4.2	Future studies and perspective:
4.5	ruture studies and perspective

x

# List of Tables and Figures

Table 1.1.2	Enteroviral species and types	8
Table 2.4	Primer used for cloning	57
Table 2.9	Primers for Quantitative Real-time PCR Analysis	63
Figure 1.1.1.2	The reported HFMD cases and related death in China from 2007 to 2010	5
Figure 1.1.3.1	Schematic of the picornavirus genome, the polyprotein products and their main functions	11
Figure 1.1.3.2	Summary of the picornavirus life cycle	12
Figure 1.2.2	Overview of signaling pathways leading to IFN- $\beta$ induction	25
Figure 1.2.3.2	Signaling pathway activated by IFN- $\alpha/\beta$	34
Figure 3.1.1	Cytopathic effects and kinetics of cell viability upon EV71 infection	69
Figure 3.1.2	The kinetics of EV71 Replication	71
Figure 3.1.3	The kinetics of virus VP1 protein synthesis	73
Figure 3.1.4	The kinetics of EV71 virus package	75
Figure 3.1.5	The kinetics of EV71 virus secretion	77
Figure 3.2.1	EV 71 infection induced IFN-beta response while antagonized the induction of ISGs	80
Figure 3.2.2	EV71 antagonized the antiviral effect of 1FN- $\alpha$ treatment	82
Figure 3.2.3	EV 71 infection inhibited IFN induced STAT phosphorylation	85
Figure 3.2.4	EV71 Blocked IFN-mediated Jak/STAT signaling by reducing IFNAR1 protein level	90
Figure 3.2.5	EV71 promote internalization of IFNAR1	94

Figure 3.2.6	Inhibition of IFN-induced MxA activation by EV71 proteins	98
Figure 3.2.7	2A Blocks Type I IFN-mediated phosphorylation of STAT proteins and Japus kinases by reducing JENAR1	
`		100
Figure 3.2.8	Protease activity is required for 2A inhibiting IFN signaling	102
Figure 3.2.9	2A <sup>pro</sup> can not directly cleave IFNAR	104
Figure 4.2	Hypothetical model for regulation of IFNAR1 degradation	118

## List of Abbreviation

AFP: acute flaccid paralysis

AP-1: activator protein-1

BDV: Borna disease virus

BVDV: Bovine viral diarrhea virus

CA16: Coxsackievirus A16

CARDs: caspase activation and recruitment domains

CDK: cyclin-dependent kinase

CMV: cytomegalovirus

CNS: central nervous system

CPE: cellular pathogenesis

CpG: deoxycytidyl-phosphate-deoxyguanosine

CREB: cAMP response element binding

CSFV: Classical swine fever virus

CTLs: cytotoxic T lymphocytes

DCs: dendritic cells

EBV: Epstein-Barr virus

elF2a: eukaryotic translational initiation factor 2

eIF4G: eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4 gamma

EMCV: encephalomyocarditis virus

EV71: enteroviruses 71

GCN5: general control of amino acid synthesis 5

xiv

GTP: guanine trisphosphate

HBV: Hepatitis B virus

HCV: Hepatitis C virus

HFMD: hand, foot, and mouth disease

HHV-8: Human herpes virus 8

HIV: Human immunodeficiency virus

HMG: high mobility group

HPV: Human papillomavirus

IFNs: interferons

IKKi: inducible IkB kinase

IL-29: interleukin-29

IPS-1: interferon-β promoter stimulator 1

IRES: internal ribosome entry site

IRF3: interferon regulatory factor 3

ISGs: interferon-stimulated genes

JAK: Janus kinases

LPS: lipopolysaccharide

LRRs: leucine-rich repeats

MAVS: mitochondria-associated protein

MAVS: mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein

MIF: migration inhibitory factor

MRI: magnetic resonance image

NK cell: natural killer cell

p.i.: post infection

PAMPs: pathogen-associated molecular patterns

pDCs: plasmacytoid dendritic cells

PFU: plaque-forming unit

PKR: protein kinase R

PRDs: positive regulatory domains

PRR: pattern recognition receptor

qRT-PCR: quantitative real-time PCR

RABV: Rabies virus

RD: rhabdomyosarcoma

SOCS: suppressor of cytokine signaling

STATs: signal transduction and activator of transcription

TBK1: TANK binding kinase 1

TIR: toll/interleukin 1 receptorhomology

TLRs: toll-like receptors

UPR: unfolded protein response

UTRs: untranslated regions

VACV: Vaccinia virus

VLP: virus-like particle

WNV: West Nile virus

## **Chapter 1 Introduction**

### 1.1 EV71

Enteroviruse 71 (EV71) is a non-enveloped, single-stranded, positive-sense RNA virus from the enterovirus genus in the family of Picornaviridae [1]. EV71 infection was a major cause of outbreaks of hand, foot, and mouth disease (HFMD), most frequently affecting infants and young children [2,3]. As an typical neurotropic virus, EV71 has a propensity to cause neurological disease during acute infection [4,5] and the neurological complications, which occasionally cause permanent paralysis and even death [6,7]. In order to have a general idea on EV71 and viral infection, six bodies of literature are reviewed in this chapter.

### 1.1.1 Epidemiology of EV71

### 1.1.1.1 Early epidemic activity

EV71 was first identified in 1969 in California in an infant suffering from encephalitis [8]. In the next three years, this type of virus was continuously isolated from 23 further cases of severe neurological disease in this area [9]. Thereafter, occurrences of EV71 infections were occasionally reported outside of the USA. For example, in Australia, the EV71 was first identified between 1972 and 1973 when an epidemic of aseptic meningitis in Melbourne occurred [10]. Although the first isolation of EV71 virus was in the early 1970s, the real recognition of EV71's neurological toxicity was in the late 1970s when large outbreaks of EV71 infections were occurred in Bulgarian and Hungary. During the epidemic, EV71 was identified as the cause of many disastrous neurological diseases such as aseptic meningitis, encephalitis, and acute cerebellar ataxia [11,12]. In Bulgarian, the first outbreak of EV71 was reported between May and

September in 1975. EV71 infection resulted in 545 cases (77%) of aseptic meningitis, 149 cases (21%) of AFP (acute flaccid paralysis), and even worse, 44 cases of deaths were reported [13]. Children under 5 years of age accounted for most of paralytic cases (93%). In many cases of bulbar disease, the rapid fatal was reported since the death occurred between 10 and 30 hours after illness onset. Three years later after the first outbreak in Bulgarian, the second large EV71 epidemic occurred in Hungary and viral infection result in 1550 cases (826 aseptic meningitis, 724 encephalitis) and 47 deaths [12].

### 1.1.1.2 EV71 in the Asia-Pacific region

In the Asia-Pacific region, the EV71 infection was more severe than the other areas. The initial cases of EV71 infection were reported during HFMD epidemics in Japan and Australia in 1970s [10,14,15]. Thereafter, small epidemics were recorded in Hong Kong (1985) and Australia (1986), in which several cases of AFP were identified [16,17]. However, since late 1990s the densely populated Asia Pacific region has become the hotspot for EV71 epidemics: Taiwan, Singapore, Malaysia, China, Vietnam, and Australia have experienced recurrent various sizes of EV71 epidemics. In 1998, a large EV71 epidemic occurred in Taiwan [18,19,20]. A total of 130,000 cases of HFMD and herpangina caused by both EV71 and CA16 infections were reported. Virological and histopathological studies indentified that EV71 was responsible for ~70% of HFMD cases during this epidemic. Besides, cases with acute EV71 infection were also identified, which initially manifested as brainstem encephalitis , and further developed into acute pulmonary oedema or other neurological diseases. It is recorded that during the 1998 Taiwan EV71 epidemic, EV71 infection resulted in 405 cases of

3

severe neurological disease of which 78 deaths were included [21,22,23]. In China, EV71-associated HFMD epidemics were initially occurred in Hubei Province during the winter of 1987 [24]. No cases of AFP or aseptic meningitis were identified during this epidemic. Local outbreaks have been continuously reported since late 1990s. Recently, HFMD caused by EV71 is becoming an emerging infectious disease, which poses a major threat to China. The data from health ministry showed that the infected cases and deaths caused by EV71 were increased year by year from 2007 to 2010 (Fig 1.1.1.2). In 2008, the outbreak of HFMD caused nationwide anxiety, around 490,000 infections and 126 deaths were reported. The HFMD caused by EV71 was mainly occurred in rural areas and nearly 80% of cases were reported over 10 provinces and autonomous regions, including Henan, Shandong, Jiangsu, Guangxi, Anhui, Guangdong, Hebei, Hubei, Zhejiang Hunan and (http://news.xinhuanet.com/english/2009-04/10/content 11165126.htm). Compared with outbreak in 2008, the EV71 epidemicseemed to come earlier and the number of HFMD disease cases reached a peak from May to July in 2009, and recurrence was reported in many provinces which underwent the 2008 outbreaks. There were 1,155,525 HFMD cases among which 353 deaths were recorded in 2009 in China, while the percentage of EV71 infections among HFMD is not very sure because the virological technique is not well defined. In 2010, the largest EV71-caused HFMD epidemic occurred in China. According to the most recently data reported by Chinese government, a total of ~1,700,000 cases of HFMD and herpangina were identified with 900 deaths (http://www.moh.gov.cn/publicfiles/business/htmlfiles/ more than zwgkzt/pyq/list.htm).



Figure 1.1.1.2 The reported HFMD cases and related death in China from 2007 to 2010.

ş

### 1.1.2 Classification and molecular epidemiology

EV71 belongs to the enterovirus genus in the family of Picornaviridae. The Picornaviridae family contains 12 genera of RNA viruses including Aphthovirus, Cardiovirus, Enterovirus, Erbovirus, Hepatovirus, Kobuvirus, Parechovirus, Teschovirus, Tremovirus, Avihepatovirus, Senecavirus, and Sapelovirus [1]. The first seven genera are currently recognized as human pathogens. For Enteroviruses, the species mainly include poliovirus, echovirus, coxsackievirus A and B, and other different serum types of enterovirus [1]. Based on their molecular and biological properties, the Enteroviruses can be further classified into at least 90 subtypes and separated into mainly ten species (Table 1.1.2) [25].

In previous studies, EV71 was mainly divided into three genotypes (A, B, and C) and different genotypes of EV71 circulated at different regions. The phylogenetic analysis of EV71 is according to the sequence of capsid protein VP1 which is conserved in recombination and has a high degree of diversity [26]. Using this region for analysis, each group of EV71 has at least 15% divergence from the others [27]. In group A, there is only one member, the prototype BrCr strain, which was first identified in California, USA, in 1970. Thereafter, this strain was not reported outside the USA until 2008 when it was isolated in Anhui province of central China [28]. Genotypes B can be further sub-divided into genogroups B1–B5 [29,30]. The B group, in particular B3 and B4, were identified as the major causes of the EV71 epidemic in Malaysia (1997) and Singapore (1999) [30,31]. Genotypes C contains genogroups C1–C5 [32,33]. This genotype virus was mainly circulates in Asia-Pacific region and was recognized as the predominant one in recent large epidemic in Taiwan, mainland China and Vietnam

[34,35,36]. The low-level circulation of subgroup C1 viruses was initially reported sporadically in the mid-1980s [27,37]. The large outbreak of subgroup C2 viruses was reported in Taiwan (1998), and Australia (1999) [31,34,38]. Subgroup C3 caused the outbreak in Japan (1994) and in Korea (2000) [31,39,40]. Subgroup C4 has been reported in Japan, Vietnam, and Taiwan. Since 2000, the C4 genogroup EV71 was isolated from sporadic infections in mainland China which indicated it became the predominant circulating subtype in mainland China [34,35,36]. Subgroup C5 has been reported in southern Vietnam and Taiwan [35,41].

Enterovirus species	Types
Human enterovirus A	Human Coxsackievirus A2–8, 10, 12, 14, 16. Human enterovirus 71, 76, 89–92.
Human enterovirus B	Human Coxsackievirus A9, B1–6. Human echovirus 1–9, 11– 21, 24–27, 29–33. Human enterovirus 69, 73–75, 77–88, 93, 97, 98, 101, 106, 107.
Human enterovirus C	Human poliovirus 1–3. Human Coxsackievirus A1, 11, 13, 15, 17–22, 24. Human enterovirus 95, 96, 99, 102, 104, 105, 109.
Human enterovirus D	Human enterovirus 68, 70, 94.
Human rhinovirus A, B, C	
Porcine enterovirus B	
Bovine enterovirus	
Simian enterovirus A	

Table 1.1.2 Enteroviral species and types [42].

### 1.1.3 Genome, lifecycle and kinetics of EV71

The genome of EV71 consists of a single open reading frame (ORF) flanked by 5'/3'untranslated regions (UTR) and a polyadenylated tail. This ORF encodes a polyprotein of approximately 2200 amino acids which can be subdivided into P1, P2 and P3 regions. P1 is further divided into four structural proteins (VP1-VP4) and the other two regions contribute to seven proteins (2A-C, 3A-D) function in viral replication and pathogenesis (Fig 1.1.3.1) [43]. Only little information about EV71 life cycle was reported, while most of the knowledge was speculated according to studies on other enteroviruses (Fig 1.1.3.2). The cell entry of EV71 has been explored recently, and the process involves viral surface attachment, receptor binding and finally uptake through endocytic pathways [44]. Once the viral genomic RNA is uncoated and successfully released into the host cell cytoplasm, a cap-independent pattern of translation would occur immediatly through the recruitment of host translational machinery at the internal ribosome entry site (IRES) located in the 5' UTR of the viral RNA. After translation, the viral polyprotein can be subsequently cleaved into four structural (VP1, VP2, VP3, and VP4) and seven non-structural (2A, 2B, 2C, 3A, 3B, 3C, and 3D) proteins, in which 2A<sup>pro</sup> and 3C<sup>pro</sup> function as proteases in this process. [5]. For virus RNA replication, a complementary minus-strand RNA is synthesised in the cytoplasm and then this minus-strand RNA can serve as a template for new plus-strand RNA molecules. These events typically take place in virus-induced membrane complexes within host cells. Finally, the newly synthesized virus RNA may go into another round of translation and replication, or is packaged into capsid proteins to produce infectious viral particles (see review in Ref [45]).

Although the disease with rapid courses was observed during EV71 infection, it is still elusive on EV71 viral kinetics. Studies on other viruses demonstrate that the knowledge of virus kinetics is important for clarifying viral pathogenesis and exploring effective treatments. The knowledge of the viral kinetics on human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), hepatitis B virus (HBV) and hepatitis C virus (HCV) has greatly improved the understanding of the cell response to these viruses and mechanisms of related antiviral therapy [46,47,48]. In the *Picornaviruse* family, the kinetics of swine vesicular disease virus (SVDV) and foot-and-mouth disease virus (FMDV) has been described in several studies [49,50]. However, little information is known about EV71 infection. In the part one of results, rhabdomyosarcoma (RD) cells were used as an *in vitro* model and the viral kinetics of EV71, including the kinetics of viral replication, viral protein synthesis, packaging and secretion, were intensively investigated.



Figure 1.1.3.1 Schematic of the picornavirus genome, the polyprotein products and their main functions. A diagrammatic representation of the enterovirus genome is shown. The 11 mature polypeptides together with the three main cleavage intermediates are presented. The main biological functions are included for each polypeptide [51].



Figure 1.1.3.2 Summary of the picornavirus life cycle. The life cycle of a typical picornavirus is presented, and the main events included are described in the text [52].

### 1.1.4 Clinical features of EV71 infection

The clinical features of EV71 infection mainly include HFMD, herpangina, neurological disease and neurogenic pulmonary oedema.

HFMD is a common illness in children under 10 year's age. The infection has an incubation period of 3-7 days. The illness is characterized by fever, lymphadenopathy and the development of a vesicular on the palmar and plantar skin, buccal mucosa and tongue and a papulovesicular exanthema on the hands, feet and buttocks. Coxsackievirus A16 (CA16) and EV71 are recognized as the major cause of the epidemics of HFMD, although other coxsackieviruses like CA5, CA9, CA10 can also be the cause of this disease [53]. Clinical observation from HFMD epidemics in Asia-Pacific region indicate EV71 are more common than other viruses, and the clinical features of HFMD caused by EV71 are distinguishable from other virus [54,55]. Different from CA16, the manifestation caused by EV71 is more likely to have a high fever ( $\geq$ 39°C) last for more than 3 days and a higher risk of developing complications and fatalities [56,57].

Herpangina is another common disease caused by EV71 infection. Clinical observation from EV71 epidemics in Hong Kong, Japan and Taiwan indicate that herpangina caused EV71 infection is characterized by an abrupt onset of fever and sore throat. The disease is associated with the development of raised popular lesions on the mucosa of the anterior pillars of fauces, soft palate and uvula [53]. During the 1998 Taiwanese epidemic, herpangina is diagnosed as the second most common disease after HFMD caused by EV71. Moreover, about 10% of children with EV71-associated neurological disease in Taiwan had an initial or concurrent diagnosis of herpangina [58].

13

HFMD or herpangina are important diagnostic indicators of EV71 infection, but by themselves are not servere diseases. In few patients, severe central nervous system (CNS) diseases and complications may occur, and children under 5 years of age have the highest incidence of these severe complications. For many years, polioviruses were the most important neurotropic viruses and led to large outbreaks of paralytic disease. To data, EV71 is caused more and more attention since the poliovirus has been eradicated in many regions and the large outbreaks of EV71 and associated neurological disease are frequently reported in Asia-Pacific region in recent years. The clinical observations indicate that EV71 mainly causes neural disorder in virus-infected patients by inducing inflammation in the CNS region including the cerebral cortex, the brain stem, and all levels of the spinal cord [59]. The inflammation may be caused by directly viral infection because the viral particle, viral genome and antigens have been detected in these related CNS tissues by histopathology, immunohistochemistry, and reverse transcriptase PCR [59,60]. Moreover, the inflammation occurred in CNS mainly the brain stem spinal cord could result in encephalitis, aseptic meningitis, and brain stem encephalitis. In the case of EV71 associated with encephalitis, observations from ultrasonographic and magnetic resonance image (MRI) assays revealed CNS inflammation predominantly affects and damage of the grey matter of the spinal cord and the whole medulla oblongata [61,62].

Pulmonary edema or hemorrhage as a complication of systemic EV71 infection has a higher mortality [7,63]. Although the real cause is still elusive, the pulmonary oedema is observed to be closely associated with CNS inflammation. Previous studies on patients who died from EV71-induced pulmonary oedema indicated the inflammation was found in the spinal cord and the brain regions and was not detected in the lung and

14

heart of patients [7,59]. These results suggest that EV71 associated pulmonary edema is neurogenic origin and is secondary to autonomic dysfunction resulting from infection within brainstem.

AFP is also a notable complication associated with EV71 infection. Sporadic cases of AFP have been associated with these EV71 outbreaks, with varying rates of incidence reported around the world [9,12,16,27,64,65]. Compared with poliovirus associated disease, EV71-associated AFP seems to be milder and have higher rates of recovery. However, the more varied presentation and clinical features of EV71-associated AFP suggests more than one neuropathological mechanism is involved in this process. Furthermore, a clinical study on infected patients have shown that the AFP in EV71 patients was mostly reversible under clinical manifestation, but patients with bilateral AFP and bilateral anterior horn lesion might have less severe outcomes, such as residual motor weakness [66]. So the EV71-induced paralysis syndromes and the paralysis sites are determined by hyper intense lesions in the anterior horn and ventral root in specific spinal cord sites.

### 1.1.5 Pathogenesis

As mentioned above, EV71 is a potential pathogen for causing a large number of neurological diseases. To date, two possible ways have been suggested for EV71 to induce these severe diseases.

First, EV71 can induce inflammation in all levels of the CNS region in infected patients[67]. The inflammation may be directly caused by viral infection since a large amount of studies have demonstrated the association between EV71 infection in neural tissue and induced inflammation in associated CNS regions. Before inducing the inflammation, the virus either enters the CNS from the blood across the blood-brain barrier or is transmitted to the CNS through peripheral nerves via retrograde axonal transport [68,69,70]. The experiments on EV71-infected mice model suggest that EV71 is highly neurotropic and retrograde axonal transport in neuron cells. It may represent the major transmission route for EV71 into the CNS [71]. Besides neuron cells, EV71 can also infect the immune cells like human T cell line (Jurkat), the macrophage cell line (THP-1), the human peripheral blood mononuclear cells and human dendritic cells (DCs) in culture system [72,73]. EV71 infection have been demonstrated to lead NF-κb (nuclear factor  $\kappa B$ ) activation that promotes production of many pro-inflammatory factors or cytokines [74,75]. As a result, the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF-a, IL-6, IL-12 and macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) are often observed during virus infection [72].

Secondly, neuronal damage can also be caused by EV71-induced cell apoptosis [76,77,78] and autophagy [79]. Studies have shown the hallmark event of early

16

apoptosis like chromosomal degradation and membrane blebbing was observed in EV71 infected neural cells, and this may serve as an alternative mechanism of organ damage in systemic infections [80]. Several studies have extensively explored the characterizations and mechanisms of EV71 triggered apoptosis [73,80]. In EV71infected neural cells, the efflux of cytochrome c from the mitochondria to the cytoplasma and subsequent cleavage by caspase-9 has been identified. So the mitochondrial pathway of apoptosis was regard as a main pathway for EV71-induced cell apoptosis. Moreover, studies on EV71-infected glioblastoma cell line (SF268) indicated that the virus induced cell apoptosis is depended on viral protein synthesis while the virus adsorption, internalization, entry, uncoating, and viral RNA replication were not required to trigger apoptosis [81]. Among 11 viral proteins, EV71 2A and 3C protease are the factors that induce apoptosis in infected cells. Caspase-3 is activated in SF268 cells that expressed 3C protease [82]. Moreover, the cleavage on cellular protein by 3C protease could be another apoptosis factor. For example, EV71 3C protease can cleave the cleavage stimulation factor, 3' preRNA, subunit 2, 64kDa (CsF-64), thereby impaires the host cell mRNA polyadenylation and induces apoptotic cell death [83]. Similar, 2A protease of EV71 was also reported to induce cell apoptosis in HeLa cells but the mechanism is still not clear. Previous work on poliovirus indicates that 2A<sup>pro</sup> of poliovirus induces the caspases-independent apoptosis by cleaving eIF4GI (eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4 gamma I) [84]. It is now conceivable that EV71 2Apro induces apoptosis indirectly by activation of other unidentified cellular substrates pertinent to an endogenous cell suicide program. Further experiments are needed to better identified these substrates and delineate the mechanism(s).

### 1.1.6 Controls of human enterovirus 71

### 1.1.6.1 Vaccines

Due to the severe disease caused by EV71 infection, more and more studies have been taken to prevent EV71 infection. Currently, the development of effective EV71 vaccine appears to be a top priority. Conventional vaccines are being investigated by different approaches. These include live-attenuated or inactivated whole virus vaccine, DNA vaccine and recombinant protein vaccine [85,86].

Live-attenuated or inactivated whole virus vaccine has achieved good results in several studies on animal model while its protection role and potential side effects on human need to be further investigated. Studies on mice model showed that passive transfer of serum from formalin-inactivated and heat-inactivated virus vaccine immunized adult mice could provide protection against EV71 challenge in neonatal mice [85]. In rhesus monkeys model, the experimentally inactivated vaccine was also demonstrated to induce an immune response and offers protection to against future virus attacks [87]. Two laboratory-adapted EV71 strains including a vero cell-adapted virulent strain (YN3-4a) and an attenuated strain (S1-3') possess several desirable features suitable as vaccine candidates against EV71. YN3-4a exhibits characteristics that are especially crucial for inactivated viral vaccine such as high viral yield, strong immunogenicity, broad-based antigenic coverage, and passage stability [88]. The stain S1-3' is suitable as a live attenuated antigen. Monkeys inoculated with S1-3' showed a mild neurological symptom (tremor) but survived with lethal challenge. The sera of immunized monkeys also display a broad spectrum of neutralizing activities against different genotypes of EV71 [89]. Currently, another inactivated vaccine has entered
the stage of clinical trials. This vaccine is produced by using an EV71 strain isolated in China.

Subunit vaccines, including DNA vaccine or recombinant protein vaccine, have also shown ability to elicit maternal antibodies and to protect animals against EV71 infection [90,91]. The antigenic diversity of EV71 is caused by variations within structure proteins VP1 to VP3. Particularly, VP1 displays the densest neutralizing epitopes. Two VP1 subunit vaccines of EV71, one administered as a DNA vaccine, and the other as a recombinant protein vaccine, have illustrated protective effects against lethal EV71 challenge in newborn mice [85,90,91,92]. The cytokine profile of immunized mouse showed high levels of IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-12 in the DNA vaccine groups, and high levels of IL-10 and IFN-y in the VP1 protein groups, indicating that VP1 DNA vaccine elicits predominantly a Th1 response, while the subunit VP1 recombinant protein elicits a mixed Th1 and Th2 response. Synthetic peptide Scanning experiments revealed a small peptide (residue 208-222 of VP1) to be potent in eliciting a neutralizing antibody titer comparable to that obtained with a whole virion-immune sera. Hydrophobic profile assays showed that this highly conserved sequence is located within the major hydrophilic regions and expected to be exposed at the surface of the protein, hence making it a promising and attractive candidate for synthetic peptidebased EV71 vaccine [93].

Virus-like particle (VLP) would be another idea option for vaccine. A potent vaccine has been achieved by VLPs [94]. VLPs are empty particles that resembles the authentic virus in appearance, capsid structure and protein composition. Because of high density display of viral antigens/epitopes without viral nucleic acids, VLPs would elicit strong and long-lasting immune responses and mitigate the potential side effects. More

importantly, the immunized the mother mice with VLPs confer effective protection to newborn mice, the survival rate against the lethal viral challenge increase up to 89% [95].

Taken together, all of the above mentioned vaccines have remained in preclinical stage in animal models, except an inactivated one reported by Dong et al, which has been approved to enter the clinical trials at the end of 2010 in China. However, there are still great challenges in EV71 vaccine development. As indicated previously, one of the problems associated with the development of EV71 vaccine is the antigenic coverage. In serological neutralization assays, vaccines using one strain showed little protective effects for other strains with different genotypes. At present, there are three genotypes of EV71. Cross-protection to different genotypes of the EV71 vaccines derived from China is unclear, because the viruses isolated in this region were all within subgroup C4. Lack of appropriate animal models is another problem for testing the efficacy and immunogenicity of vaccines. Transgenic mice expressing the appropriate human receptor molecule(s) would be a possible approach for evaluating candidate vaccines. The recent identification of EV71 receptors paves a way for developing suitable animal models and probably accelerates the development of human vaccines. Moreover, further understanding of the molecular mechanisms underlying EV71 infection would also contribute to the development of effective EV71 vaccines [96,97].

#### 1.1.6.2 Antiviral drugs

Currently, no effective drug is in clinical use against EV71 infection. Nowadays, computer-assisted drug design has been widely used to screen candidate compounds against EV71. Pleconaril, a promising drug candidate for the treatment of human

enterovirus infection, is the result of the successful combination of X-ray crystallography and computer modeling [98,99]. Pleconaril can neutralize most of the enterovirus-induced cytopathic effects *in vitro* and *in vivo* assay, but it failed to show a protective activity against EV71 at concentration tested *in vitro* [100,101,102]. The limited activity of Pleconaril against EV71 was due to subtle differences in the sizes and shapes of the hydrophobic pockets among these viruses. By using Pleconaril as a template for computational drug design, a series of imidazolidinone derivatives (Pyridyl imidazolidinones) are screened out. They have showed potent activities against EV71 infection [103,104,105].

Interferons (IFNs), a series of structurally related glycoproteins, are notable for their most intrinsic ability to interfere with viral replication [106,107]. Previous studies showed that type I interferons represent an essential innate defense mechanism for controlling EV71 infection in mice [108]. To date, there are about twenty different human type I IFNs identified. Although they are highly homologous in the amino acid sequences and share the same receptors, the biologic effect of each IFN is apparently different [109]. Recently, Yi et al have tested activities of seventeen IFN subtypes on anti-EV71. Interestingly, conventional IFN- $\alpha$ 2a only showed relative weak antiviral activity. While compared with conventional IFN- $\alpha$ 2a, IFN- $\alpha$ 14 displayed higher anti-EV71 activity. The concentration required to inhibit the 50% CPE caused by EV71 were 188 U/ml which was 20 times less than that of IFN- $\alpha$ 2a [110]. The mechanism led to this difference was still unknown.

## 1.2 Type I interferon

Type I IFNs are multifunctional cytokines that play a key role in innate immune response to viral infection. In this chapter, the background information related the production and function of type I IFN are introduced.

#### 1.2.1 Types of interferons

Interferons are proteins made and released in response to the presence of pathogens such as viruses, bacteria, or parasites. IFN was firstly identified as a secreted substance that elicited antiviral activity against influenza infection [111], and interferons are named after their ability to "interfere" with viral replication within host cells. IFNs perform its antiviral function through several ways: i) they are quickly produced in response to viral challenge and function to suppress infection via the transcriptional and translational induction of a series of proteins that interfere with different stages in the replicative cycle of viruses; ii) they activate immune cells, such as natural killer cells and macrophages; iii) they increase recognition of infection by up-regulating antigen presentation to T lymphocytes; iv) they increase the ability of uninfected host cells to resist new infection by virus.

To date, approximate ten distinct IFNs have been identified in mammals and seven of these have been described in humans. Based on the cognate receptor for each of the IFN gene products, they are grouped into three classes: Type I IFN, Type II IFN, and Type III IFN. The Type I IFNs are comprised of different subtypes including: multiple IFN- $\alpha$  subtypes (13 in man), one to three IFN- $\beta$  (one in man) and other genes, such as IFN- $\epsilon$ , IFN- $\omega$ , IFN- $\delta$  and IFN- $\tau$  [112,113]. The IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  genes are produced directly in

response to viral infection, whereas IFN- $\varepsilon$ , IFN- $\omega$ , IFN- $\delta$  and IFN- $\tau$  play less welldefined roles. Thus, in most of times IFN-  $\alpha/\beta$  represents virally induced 'type I IFN', and type I IFN signaling is always referred to IFN-  $\alpha/\beta$  signaling pathway. The IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  can be produced by most cell types and bind as monomers to the interferon alpha receptor (IFNAR) complex which comprised two subunits of the type I IFN alpha receptor, IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 [114]. Different type I IFNs exhibits differential affinity for its receptor. To date, the recombinant IFN-alfacon-1 which was generated by comparing the most frequent occurring amino acid among endogenous type I IFNs presents the highest affinity for type I IFN receptors [115,116]. Type II IFN has a single member, named IFN- $\gamma$  which is functionally active as a dimer and binds with high affinity to its cognate receptor subunits, IFNGR1 and IFNGR2 [117,118]. Unlike type I IFNs, IFN- $\gamma$  is only secreted by mitogenically activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T helper1 (Th1) cells, dendritic cells (DC) and natural killer (NK) cells, rather than in direct response to viral infection [119]. Type III IFNs comprise 3 members, IFN $\lambda$ 1, IFN $\lambda$ 2 and IFN $\lambda$ 3, also referred to as interleukin-29 (IL-29), IL-28A, and IL-28B, respectively [120,121]. Type III IFNs are induced directly in response to viral infection and can bind with high affinity to the IFN lambda receptor subunits, IFNLR1 and IFNLR2 [122]. Type III IFNs can also produced in many cells but unlike IFN-  $\alpha/\beta$ , the type III IFN receptor only present in limited tissues. Recent studies indicate that type III IFNs use the similar pathway as type I IFNs to senses viral infection, and elicit an equivalent antiviral response [123]. However, the exact role of the type III IFNs remains unclear and their functions in antiviral infection have not been established yet.

23

#### 1.2.2 The production of type I interferon

The induction of type I IFN in response to viral infection is tightly regulated. Recent findings suggest that two phases are involved in this process: an early phase and a later, positive-feedback phase [124,125]. In the early phase, viral pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) like dsRNA which are generated during the viral infection can be firstly detected by different intracellular sensor (Figure 1.2.2). Most of cells including fibrolasts, conventional dendritic cells and hepatocytes sense viral dsRNA by using two intracellular RNA helicases, retinoic acid inducible gene-I (RIG-I) and melanoma differentiation associated protein-5 (MDA5). For plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs), Toll-like receptors (TLRs) are used to detect viral infection. After detected viral components, these receptors can transfer the signaling to following pathways and result in the activation of several transcription factor families. The activated transcription factors including interferon regulatory factor 3 (IRF3), NF-KB, and activator protein-1 (AP-1) can transfer into nuclear and bind to the positive regulatory elements within the IFN- $\beta$  promoter. As a result, the production of IFN- $\beta$  is activated in the first wave [126]. In the positive-feedback phase, the initially produced "first-wave" IFN- $\beta$  binds with the type I IFN receptor and activate IFN-  $\alpha/\beta$  signaling pathway. As a result, the expression of IRF7, the master regulator of IFN gene, is activated. IRF-7 is responsible for a positive feedback loop that is very efficient at inducing IFN- $\beta$  and most of the IFN- $\alpha$  gene [124,125,127,128]. In next sections, the different cell sensors of viral infection and related signaling pathway to induce type I IFN were introduced.



Figure 1.2.2 Overview of signaling pathways leading to IFN-β induction.

#### 1.2.2.1 Toll-like Receptors

Toll-like receptors are a class of pattern recognition receptor (PRR) that recognize PAMPs derived from not only viruses but also other microbes including bacteria, fungi, and protozoa [129]. Once these microbes have breached physical barriers such as the skin or intestinal tract mucosa, they are recognized by TLRs which activate cellular immune responses. To date, 10 Toll-like receptors in humans have been identified. TLRs are generally expressed on hematopoietic cells and their expression levels differ in varied cell types [130]. The cell locations of TLRs are either on the plasma membrane (TLR1, TLR2, TLR4-6, and TLR10) or on the ER and endosomal vesicles [131].

As a type I transmemebrane protein, each TLR composed of extracellular/luminaldomains containing leucine-rich repeats (LRRs) followed by one or two cysteine-rich regions which bind to specific PAMPs [131]. TLRs have short transmembrane domains connected to a cytoplasmic toll/interleukin I receptorhomology (TIR) domain, which serves as a scaffold for assembling signaling complexes and recruitment of downstream adaptor and signaling components in response to ligand recognition [132]. Each TLR acts alone or in combination with other TLRs to detect unique PAMPs. For instance, TLR1 forms heterodimer with TLR2 (TLR1/2) and recognizes triacyl lipopeptides [133]. Combining with TLR1 or TLR6, TLR2 recognizes a wide variety of PAMPs, including lipopeptides and lipoproteins of Gram-positive bacteria, peptidoglycan, mycoplasma lipopeptides and fungal zymosan [134]. TLR3 is the receptor for doublestranded RNA [135]. TLR4 was first identified to be involved in recognition lipopolysaccharide (LPS), an endotoxic component of Gram-negative bacteria [136,137]. TLR5 is activated in the presence of bacterial flagellin [138]. TLR7 and TLR8 recognize single-stranded RNA [139,140], which is produced during viral replication. TLR9 can be activated by unmethylated deoxycytidyl-phosphate-deoxyguanosine (CpG) motifs [141] existing in bacterial and viral genomes.

#### 1.2.2.2 TLR signaling pathway in virus infection

As mentioned above, TLR3, 7, 8, 9 are functioned in sensing viral infection, and these TLRs are responsible for recognizing viral double-strand (ds) RNA (TLR3), viral single-stranded (ss) RNA (TLR7,8) or double-stranded CpG-rich DNA (TLR9), respectively [142,143]. TLR3 is predominantly located in endosomes and phagosomes while on the cell surface in natural killer (NK) cells [130,144]. Upon activation, TLR3 signals through its adaptor molecule MyD88 which forms a complex with TRAF3 [145]. TRAF3 in turn activates kinases TBK1 and IKKi, triggering the subsequent phosphorylation of IRF3 which transcriptionally activates IFN-β gene expression [146]. TLR7, 8, 9 are highly expressed in human pDCs which are specialized IFN producers and represent a major source of IFN- $\alpha$  in humans [147]. TLR7, 8 and 9 also invoke the MyD88-dependent signaling pathway to induce type I IFN. Different from TLR3, IRF3 is not required for the signaling activation. TLR7, 8 and 9 can recruit MyD88, IRAK4, IRAK1 and TRAF6 to trigger the activation of downstream TAK1 which lead to the activation and subsequently nuclear translocation of NF-kb and AP-1. Moreover, IRF-7 is phosphorylated by IRAK-1 and transcriptionally activates multiple IFN- $\alpha$  genes [148,149]. pDCs differ from the other cell types in their capacity to constitutively express considerable amounts of IRF-7 which is essential in the positive feedback loop for high IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  production [127,150,151].

#### 1.2.2.3 RIG-1 like Receptors

Beside the TLRs, several cytosolic receptors have been identified as TLR-independent viral sensors that bind viral RNA and trigger the production of type I IFN. The RIG-1 was the first RNA sensor identified capable of detecting viral dsRNA [152]. RIG-1 contains a C-terminal helicase domain that interacts with viral RNA in an ATP-dependent manner, and two N-terminal caspase activation and recruitment domains (CARDs) which is essential for signaling downstream to activate NF-κB and IRF3. Recently, two other members of viral RNA sensors in the RLH family have been described: MDA5 and likely ortholog of mouse D111gp2 (Lgp2) [153,154].

RIG-1 and MDA5 are ubiquitously expressed in most types of cells. These two receptors have similar structures, e.g., they contain two CARD-like domains and a helicase domain. The RIG-1 and MDA5 seem to function in parallel and have a degree of virus specificity [154]. For instance, RIG-I detects VSV, influenza, Japanese encephalitis virus and Sendai virus [155], whereas MDA5 is shown to detect EMCV, Theiler's virus, Mengo virus and polyI:C [156]. In fact, dsRNA was only a partial requirement for RIG-1 signal transduction, and recent studies suggested that dsRNA with 5' triphosphate as well as ubiquitination (lysine 63-linked polyubiquitin chains) via the TRIM25 E3 ubiquitin ligase were required for RIG-1 detection [157,158,159]. Unlike RIG-I and MDA5, Lgp2 only processes the helicase domain and does not contain CARDs, which were known to be important for downstream signaling [153]. As a result, Lgp2 may function as a negative regulator of RIG-I and MDA5 [160].

#### 1.2.2.4 RIG-1/MDA5 Signaling

After binding with specific viral RNA, the CARD domains of RIG-I and MDA5 would have a conformational change that transfers the signal to downstream partners [152,161]. The downstream signaling pathway for RIG-I and MDA5 appears to be shared (Figure 1.2.3). RIG-I and MDA5 both bind to a downstream adaptor called IPS-1 for "interferon-β promoter stimulator 1" or MAVS for mitochondria-associated protein [162,163,164]. After binding, the C-terminal region of IPS-1 can further interact with FADD and RIP1 which are both involved in NF-kB signaling [162]. Also, IPS-1 can activate the essential transcription factor IRF3 via phosphorylation by TANK binding kinase 1 (TBK1) and the inducible IkB kinase (IKKi) which are both known [165,166]. IRF3 belongs to the IFN regulator factor (IRF) family and plays a central role in the activation of IFN- $\beta$  transcription. The phosphorylated IRF3 forms either homodimeric or heterodimeric complexes and translocates to the nucleus where it recruits the transcriptional coactivatiors p300 and cAMP response element binding (CREB) protein to target the promoters of type I IFNs and other cytokines, thereby activating transcription [167,168]. In addition, activated by dsRNA, the transcription factor NF-kB and AP-1 are recruited and translocate into nuclear to up-regulate type 1 IFN gene expression [169].

#### 1.2.2.5 Transcriptional activation of type I IFNs

As mentioned above, the transcription of the IFN- $\beta$  gene requires the recruitment of the transcriptional complex at the enhancer region upstream of the IFN- $\beta$  gene transcription start site. The enhancer region of the IFN- $\beta$  gene includes four positive regulatory domains (PRDs I, II, III and IV), In contrast, the promoter regions of IFN- $\alpha$  genes contain PRD I- and PRD III-like elements (PRD-LEs) [170]. Initially high mobility group (HMG)-1 binds to the IFN- $\beta$  promoter, and results in a conformational change in the promoter. Transcription factors including IRFs, NF- $\kappa$ B, and AP-1 can then bind their respective cis-acting sequences. NF- $\kappa$ B binds PRDII, IRFs recognize PRD-I and PRD-III, and the c-Jun heterodimer binds PRDIV. The binding of transcription factors then leads to assembly of the transcriptional initiation complex including general control of amino acid synthesis 5 (GCN5), CREB-binding protein and finally the RNA polymerase complex to the start site of transcription [171].

#### 1.2.3 Type I IFN signaling pathway

#### 1.2.3.1 Type I IFN receptors

All members of the type I family act on cells via the same cognate receptor that consists of two subunits: IFNAR1 and IFNAR2. IFNAR1 is unique in normal cells, whereas IFNAR2 has three isoforms which is generated from the same gene by alternative splicing and differential usage of exons and polyadenylation. These transcripts encode a long isoform IFNAR2c which consists of an extracellular domain, a transmembrane region and a cytoplasmic domain [172], a short isoform IFNAR2b which lacks a cytoplasmic domain [173] and a soluble IFNAR2a chain. Without cytoplasmic domain, the IFNAR2b cannot transfer the signal into the cell and then performs as a negative regulator. In contrast, soluble IFNAR2a is capable of acting as both activator and inhibitor of IFN signaling, yet more studies are required to elucidate its precise function [174].

Although all tissues and most cell lines express IFNAR1 and both soluble and transmembrane isoforms of IFNAR2, there is some differential expression of IFNAR1 and IFNAR2. Microarray analysis of IFNAR related expression suggests that the expression of IFNAR1 is more widespread and IFNAR2 is more restricted in specific tissues and cells. The binding of type I IFNs to these cognate receptors leads to activation of receptor-associated downstream signaling to protect the host against infection and mount-controlled immune responses. However, deregulated type I IFN associated signaling can lead to toxicity, autoimmunity and even death. Thus, several negative regulators including SOCS-1 (suppressor of cytokine signaling), SHP, and UBP43 are identified to suppress IFN signal via interacting with IFNARs. For example,

the SOCS-1 can bind with conserve region of IFNAR1 to inhibit the activation of downstream molecules. This region is also required for the recruitment of E3 ubiquitin ligases and then is important for ubiquitination and degradation of the receptor [175].

#### 1.2.3.2 JAK/STAT signaling

Binding with the corresponding receptor IFNAR1 and IFNAR2, the secreted IFNs leads to receptor aggregation and activation of receptor-associated kinases: JAKs. The JAK family is comprised of JAK1, 2, 3 and Tyk2 in which Tyk2 and JAK1 interacts with IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 respectively while JAK1 and JAK2 are involved in type II interferon signaling (Fig 1.2.3.2). The dimerization of IFNARs can trigger the crossphosphorylation of Tyk2 and JAK1 [176,177]. The activated Janus kinases (JAK), JAK1 and Tyk2 then phosphorylate tyrosine residues on STATs (signal transduction and activator of transcription) including STAT1 (STAT1 $\alpha$  and STAT1 $\beta$ ) and STAT2. These two STATs are phosphorylated and activated by interacting with each other via reciprocal Src-homology (SH2) domains [178,179,180]. Phosphorylated STAT1 and STAT2 form heterodimers and bind with IFN regulatory factor 9 to form the transcription factor ISGF3 (Interferon-stimulated gene factor 3) [181]. The ISGF3 complex translocates into the nucleus and binds a promoter region called ISRE (IFNstimulated response element) [182]. This interaction initiates activation of hundreds of ISGs (interferon-stimulated genes) that collectively alter the cellular or viral processes and modulate the immune response toward establishing an antiviral state [183,184]. Also, STAT signaling can sometimes be negatively regulated, and the SOCS proteins are well known inhibitors for JAK/STAT signaling. As mentioned above, the SOCS-1 can inhibit the signaling by binding with IFNAR. In addition, SOCS1 and SOCS3 containing SH2 domain which can bind phosphotyrosine residues within the activation loop of the JAK and/or nearby residues and thus inhibit signal transduction [185,186].



Figure 1.2.3.2 Signaling pathway activated by IFN-  $\alpha/\beta$ .

#### 1.2.4 Interferon induced antiviral proteins

Of the many genes that are up regulated by type I IFN, only a small number proteins that have antiviral activity. To date, three antiviral pathways have been firmly established which include the PKR (protein kinase R), the 2'-5' OAS (2'-5' oligoadenylate synthetases)/RNaseL system, and the Mx (Orthomyxovirus resistance) proteins.

#### 1.2.4.1 dsRNA-dependent protein kinase R

PKR is one of the well characterized ISG products which play an essential role in IFNinducible antiviral responses. PKR contains an N-terminal dsRNA binding domains and a C-terminal kinase domain that gives it pro-apoptotic function. PKR is synthesize in an inactive form and undergoes dimerization and subsequent activation in response to dsRNA, a common replication intermediate during viral infection [187]. This activated PKR acts on downstream effectors to modulate both translation and transcription. The best-characterized substrate for PKR is the  $\alpha$  subunit of the eukaryotic translational initiation factor 2 (eIF2 $\alpha$ ) which plays a critical role during the translation of cellular genes [188]. eIF2 comprise of three subunits:  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ . During the translation, eIF2 promotes the guanine trisphosphate (GTP)-dependent delivery of Met-transfer RNA (tRNA) to the 40S ribosome, and then eIF2 is dissociated from the initiation complex and back to its active form via hydrolyze GTP [189]. However, PKR elicits phosphorylation of eIF2 $\alpha$ , and prevents recycling of eIF2 $\alpha$ . As a result, the initiation of both viral and cellular protein synthesize is inhibited. Additionally, PKR can modulate the activity of STATs in response to dsRNA. Studies indicate PKR functions in the phosphorylation of serine residues in STAT1 as well as STAT3 and abrogation of this phosphorylation leads to disfunction of these STATs [190,191]. Moreover, PKR has also been reported to modulate the activity of NF-κB [192]. In summary, PKR has been involved in a number of antiviral mechanisms including induction of IFN response, cell apoptosis and cell-cycle arrest. Experiments in PKRdeficient mouse embryonic fibroblasts show that PKR is involved in protection against infection with several RNA viruses, including WNV, hepatitis D virus, HCV, Sindbis virus, HIV-1, encephalomyocarditis virus, and foot-and-mouth disease virus [193,194,195,196,197,198,199].

#### 1.2.4.2 2'-5' OAS and RNaseL

Like PKR, OAS is synthesized in an inactive form and in response to the cofactor dsRNA [200]. The OAS proteins are distinguished by their capacity to synthesize 2', 5'-linked phosphodiester bonds to polymerize ATP into oligomers of adenosine. 2'-5' oligonucleotides of adenylate specially activate latent form of RNase L which functions to cleave single-stranded RNA at the 3' side of the UpAp or UpUp regions [201]. In this way, OAS in combination with RNaseL leads to decay of viral RNA. Moreover, OAS protein also functions as PRRs for the detection of viral dsRNA in the cytoplasm [202]. Single RNA cleaved by RNaseL can generate short dsRNA which can be senesed by the other cytoplasmic PRRs, such as RIG-I and MDA5, resulting in the induction of type I IFN gene expression. Corresponding with this, the RNaseL-deficient cells show deficiency in the IFN- $\beta$  production because of the reduced signaling through these PRR [203].

To date, there are four OAS genes identified in humans, termed OAS1, OAS2 OAS3 and OASL (OAS-like). OAS1, OAS2 OAS3 have considerable homology to each other, and contain one, two and three conserved 'OAS' domain respectively. OASL is distinctive from the first three ones for its unique cellular location. Each of OAS protein has unique biological function and is differentially expressed and induced after activation. The antiviral function of OAS proteins has been demonstrated by using RNaseL-deficient mice [204]. The mice without RNaseL is more susceptible to RNA viruses from Reoviridae, Picornaviridae, Paramyxoviridae, Togaviridae, Flaviviridae, Retroviridae, and Orthomyxoviridae families [205].

#### 1.2.4.3 The Mx proteins

Mx proteins were another prominent antiviral protein induced by IFNs. It was observed that the sensitivity of many inbred mouse strains to orthomyxomavirus was solely due to mutations within the *Mx* locus on chromosome 16 in a mouse strain (A2G) [206]. To date, Mx proteins comprise MxA and MxB in humans and Mx1 and Mx2 in mice. The cellular localization of Mx proteins varies among the different isoforms and is also species-dependent. Since different viruses may replicate in varied cell compartments, the differential distribution of Mx proteins may allow each protein to target viruses in specific sites [207]. The two human Mx proteins are cytoplasmic, while only MxA has demonstrated antiviral activity which directly against both nuclear and cytoplasma viruses.

As a GTPase family member, the MX protein has a large N-terminal GTPase domain, a central interacting domain (CID), and a leucine zipper (LZ) motif [208]. It has been demonstrated that CID and LZ are responsible for recognizing viral nucleocapsid-like structures. Mx proteins are able to manage exocytic events and mediate vesicle trafficking to trap essential viral components, and result in inhibiting viral replication at

37

early time points [209]. Studies have shown that human MxA present antiviral activity for Coxsackie virus from the Picornaviridae family, HBV from the Hepadnaviridae family and all infectious genera of the Bunyaviridae family [210,211].

#### 1.2.4.4 ISG15, ISG54 and ISG56

In addition to PKR, OAS and Mx, other ISGs have been demonstrated to play important roles in the antiviral response. ISG15 is a 17 kDa protein which is one of the most prominent ISGs induced in response to viral infection or type I IFN treatment. ISG15 shares several common properties with other ubiquitin-like molecules, but its activity is tightly regulated by type I signaling pathway. Recent studies suggest ISG15 regulated ubiquitin-like protein response (ISGylation) functions in many aspects of immunity, including intracellular signal transduction as well as acquire immune functions [212]. Unlike ubiquitylation, ISGylation does not trigger protein degradation, but rather inhibit ubiqutin's activating effects. Many important factors in IFN signaling are targeted by ISG15, and these substrates include JAK1, STAT1, RIG-1, and several antiviral proteins MxA, PKR and RNaseL [213]. The consequences of ISG15 conjugation include stabilizing proteins against degradation. The direct evidence for the antiviral activity of ISG15 comes from studies of knockout mice. Mice ablated for Isg15 become more susceptibile to viruses including herpes simplex virus 1 (HSV-1), the influenza A and B viruese, and Sindbis virus (SV). Supporting this, ablation of the deISGylation enzyme, USP18, in mice increased the sensitivity to IFN treatment and the resistance to virus infection, notably VSV and ECMV [214,215]. ISG15 appears to upregulate the efficiency of the IFN response globally. The in-vitro studies show that macrophages from Ubp18 deficient mice show an increase in the strength and duration of the IFN-inducible transcription response and MEFs from these mice have prolonged IFN-signalling responses [216].

ISG54 and ISG56 are another two genes induced strongly but transiently in response to interferons, double-stranded RNA and a variety of viruses. These two proteins have similar function in binding to the translation initiation factor eIF3 and inhibiting translation. Human ISG56 interacts with the eIF3e subunit [217]and inhibits its ability to stabilize the eIF2–GTP–tRNAiMet complex [218]. On the other hand, the murine ISG56 bind to eIF3c and block the activity of eIF3. Thus, the formation of translational initiation complex, eIF2–GTP–tRNAiMet–mRNA–40S ribosomal subunit is inhibited [219].

#### 1.2.5 Type I IFN induced antiviral status

In addition to induce some ISGs which directly inhibit viral replication, IFNs also profoundly modulate cellular status and immunity to clear viral infection.

#### 1.2.5.1 IFN induced cell apoptosis and cell cycle arrest

The cell apoptosis induced by type I IFN is essential for hosts to remove infected cells and finally clear viral infection. As mentioned above, interferon stimulated genes like PKR and OAS affect apoptosis especially in circumstances where apoptosis depends on viral dsRNA. Besides these ISGs, studies indicate that procaspase genes are stimulated after IFN treatment. For instance, studies in cells of different lineages indicate that type 1 IFN activated STAT have a proapoptotic effect through transcription-dependent activation of caspases, Bcl-xL, and death receptors and ligands such as Fas and TRAIL [220,221]. Caspases-1 and caspase-11 activated by STAT1 further lead to the cleavage of the effector caspases-3 [222]. Moreover, activated STATs may also regulate apoptosis through non-transcriptional mechanism by interacting with p53 and TRADD or by inhibiting the anti-apoptotic protein NF-*k*B [223,224].

In addition to establishing an antiviral state by triggering cell apoptosis, IFNs also regulate genes relating to cell cycle. The best understood example is the G1/S CDK inhibitor p21 also known as pWAF, CIP. Upregulation of p21 or other CDK inhibitors by IFNs lead to cell growth arrest at the G1/S transition point [225]. The interferon-inducible p200 (IFI-200) family of proteins also function in regulate cell cycle progression. The p200 proteins have been implicated in modulate the activities of multiple transcriptional factors such as Rb, p53 and E2F which play essential roles in

40

cell cycle regulation and differentiation. For example, IFN induced p200 proteins are able to lead p53 activation and inhibit E2F-dependent gene expression of S-phasespecific genes. As a result, cells are arrested in G1 phases, and viral replication activities are also inhibited [226].

#### 1.2.5.2 Immunomodulation

It has been established that IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  is important in promoting both innate and adaptive immune response [227]. For instance, type I IFNs can promote the maturation of NK cells which are further activated by IFN stimulated perforin and granzymes [227]. Another obvious example is the upregulation of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) I and components of the antigen-presenting machinery [228]. Moreover, the maturation of dendritic cells can be promoted after type I IFN treatment [229]. These mechanisms help the presentation of antigens and trigger the transition from innate to adaptive immune response. IFNs can trigger the production of IL-15 which is important for survival of memory cytotoxic T cells and NK-cells [230]. IFNs also induce B cell maturation and function in immunoglobulin class switching. Finally, type I IFNs mediate the expressions of chemokines and chemokine receptors allowing differential trafficking of immune effectors to sites of inflammation [231].

41

# 1.3 Viral evasion of type I IFN response

Despite the powerful antiviral activity of type I IFN, most viruses are still able to evade the IFN response and multiply extensively to establish a solid infection. There are mainly three ways by which viruses circumvent the IFN response by (i) minimizing the production of IFN; (ii) disruption of IFN-inducible signaling; (iii) interrupt the action of IFN stimulated genes with antiviral activity. For different viruses, they may cope with the IFN system by using different strategies. Furthermore, in order to achieve high replication and persistent infection, most viruses often use combinations of these strategies.

#### 1.3.1 Viral inhibition of IFN production

Suppressing the cellular IFN production is essential for viral transmissions in different cells. Supposing that a virus blocks IFN signaling but fails to limit IFN production, the IFNs produced by infected cells can drove the neighbor cells into antiviral status. Consequently, this virus may not spread rapidly, and further replication may also be inhibited. To establish persistent infection, many viruses can interfere with the IFN production by mainly two ways: (i) Interfere with PRR activation; (ii) Inactivation of the IFN transcriptional factors.

#### 1.3.1.1 Interfere with PRR activation

PRRs like TLR3, RIG-1 and MDA-5 are often interfered by viruses to inhibit the type I IFN production. As mentioned above, the amount of IFN induced by a virus is firstly dependent upon the recognition of viral factors by PRR. Thus, virus can interfere with this step by concealing the viral factor from PRR detection or by blocking PRR activation.

Viral dsRNA is a representative viral factor, and recognition of dsRNA by PRR is a key in IFN induction. Thus, any exposure of viral RNA is critical. In this respect, the viral proteins associated with viral RNA can be considered as important IFN antagonists which concealing RNA from recognition by host cells. Additionally, it also 'hides' the dsRNA from the dsRNA dependent antiviral gene products like PKR, and OAS, as well as minimizes dsRNA induced apoptosis. For example, West Nile virus (WNV) can induce IRF-3 activation and trigger type I IFN response and ISGs expression, but these activities are delayed until late points in the viral replication cycle [232]. The delay of IFN response is not due to the expression of a IFN antagonist

which blocking IRF3 activity [233], instead it is likely that WNV shields viral components from PRR detection and delays host response until its replication cycle has been completed. Also, the similar situation is observed in influenza virus. The viral protein NS1 is a multifunctional protein which regulates the virus replication, enhances viral mRNAs translation and inhibit 3' end processing of celluar pre-mRNAs. Moreover, as an IFN antagonist, NS1 can bind with dsRNA to disrupt the processes of PRR signaling and inhibit IRF-3 and NF- $\kappa$ B activation [234]. Recombinant viruses with NS1 mutants (R38 and K41) defective in dsRNA binding lead to increased IFN production and attenuated pathogenicity in mice [235]. A special mechanism used by Bovine viral diarrhea virus (BVDV) and classical swine fever virus (CSFV) is binding extracelluar dsRNA to block the activation of TLR3. BVDV secretes a structure glycoprotein with dsRNA binding and RNase activities. Both properties of the protein have been found to be involved in IFN induction by extracelluar dsRNA [236].

Another strategy to interfere with PRR activation is direct targeting the function of the pattern receptors or their adaptors. For example, the V protein of paramyxovirus genus, Sendai virus, and Simian virus 5, can binds MDA-5 which is function as a sensor for recognition viral dsRNA. As a consequence, the RNA induced IFN production is minimized [237,238]. Virus like herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) has evolved a mechanism to block IFN production by interfering autophagy specifically. As mentioned before, TLR3/7/9 are expressed on endomsomes of plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) and the viral recognitions by these receptors are partially required the autophagy pathway which producing cytosolic replication intermediates of viruses [239]. Studies demonstrate that HSV-encoded neurovirulence protein ICP34.5 inhibits

autophagy pathway and interfering PRR activation through binding to the mammalian autophagy protein Beclin1 [240]. Viral proteins targeting the adaptors of recognition receptors are exemplified by positive RNA viruses. HCV NS3/4A protease is an essential viral protein required for processing of the immature viral polyprotein. In order to inhibit IFN induction, NS3/4A is able to cleave the TLR3/4 adapter TR1F and disrupt its association with TRAF3 and/or TBK1 [241]. Also, NS3/4A can cleave the RIG-I adaptor IPS-1 and precludes its mitochondrial localization by removing the transmembrane anchor from IPS-1. By targeting multiple TIR proteins including TR1F, Vaccinia virus (VACV) proteins A52 and A46 can block activity of TLR3 and TLR4 and inhibit the induction of IFN [242].

#### 1.3.1.2 Inactivation of the IFN transcriptional factors

The downstream signal cascades of PRRs including IRF kinases, IRFs themselves as well as NF- $\kappa$ B could also be the target of the virus. For example, IRF3 is the target of a variety of RNA and DNA viruses. The phosphoproteins (P) of Borna disease virus (BDV) and rabies virus (RABV) and the G1 protein of Hantavirus inhibit the activation of IRF3 and IRF7 by TBK1, as does the N1 protein of VACV. Rabies virus P protein interferes the phosphorylation of both IRF7 and IRF3, by TBK1 and by IKKi [243]. The IRF3 dimerization, nuclear import is depended on its phosphorylation status and as a result the IFN transcription activation by IRF3 is inhibited in the presence of P [244]. Moreover, the rabies virus P protein is also found active in inhibiting JAK/STAT signaling [245]. Besides interfering phosphorylation of IRF3, viral proteins can also target IRF3 by leading it into degradation. N protein of both Bovine viral diarrhea virus (BVDV) and classical swine fever virus (CSFV) blocks IFN induction by leading

proteasome-mediated degradation of IRF3, as does non-structural protein 1 of rotavirus which not only mediate IRF-3 but also IRF-5 and IRF-7 degradation [246,247,248]. In case of HSV, viral protein ICP0 can recruit activated IRF-3 and CBP/p300 and prevent them from interaction with host chromatin. This leads to the inactivation and accelerated degradation of IRF-3, resulting in reduced transcription of IFN- $\beta$ .

IRF7 is also a target of virus proteins. An example is provided by Epstein-Barr virus (EBV). BZLF-1, an EBV encoded protein, can inhibit IRF7 activity by physically binding with cytoplasmic and nuclear IRF7 [249]. Herpes viruses have acquired additional weapons to interfere with the functions of cellular IRFs. For Human herpes virus 8 (HHV-8), the causative agent of Kaposi sarcoma, developed multiple methods to inhibit IFN production. The immediate-early 1 protein of HHV-6 inhibits IFN production by interfering IRF-3 functions, and that of HHV-8 inhibits IFN production by targeting IRF-7 for degradation. Moreover, HHV-8 encodes several IRF orthologues, so-called vIRFs, which has homology to the IRF family of transcription factors. vIRFs can function as dominant negative mutants to block endogenous IRF function or mimic host IRFs functioning to interfere IFN gene expression. To data, three vIRFs (vIRF-1, vIRF-2, and vIRF-3/LANA2) of HHV-8 have been characterized. vIRF1 prevents the function of the enhanceosome via associating with CBP/p300 and IRF3 [[250]. The vIRF3 (LANA3), interacts with IRF7, and then suppress the expression of IFN-βand IFN stimulated genes [251].

NF- $\kappa$ B is another target for virus to countermeasure IFN production. As noted, NF- $\kappa$ B is required in the activation of the IFN- $\beta$  promoter. Thus, several viruses have developed mechanism to suppress NF-kB function directly. For example, African

à

swine fever virus encodes an I $\kappa$ B homology that inhibits the activity of NF- $\kappa$ B [252]. The core protein of HCV inhibits NF- $\kappa$ B signaling by targeting the IKK complex [253], and so does the human papillomavirus (HPV) type 16 E7 protein [254]. However, the activated NF- $\kappa$ B plays an important role in cell proliferation and apoptosis [255]. For this reason, any virus that manipulates NF- $\kappa$ B activity specifically may make itself susceptible to enhanced induction of apoptosis.

#### 1.3.2 Viral inhibition of IFN signaling

Suppressing IFN induction is important for virus transmission, and inhibition of IFN signaling is always required for virus to establish solid infection. There are several clear advantages for viruses to interfere IFN signaling. Firstly, type I, II and III IFNs share the signaling pathway (JAK/STATs) which induces cellular antiviral status. By inhibiting one cascade activity in IFN signaling pathway, the virus may suppress the production of antiviral ISGs and evade from the multiple IFNs stimulated antiviral effects. Secondly, type I IFN signaling activation is required for adaptive immune response including cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) effect and antibody production. Thus, viral inhibition of IFN signaling also delays or reduces the antiviral effects produced by adaptive immunity. Thirdly, the viral infected cells would be resistant to the IFNs produced from other cells or the IFNs treatment by blocking IFN signaling pathway. At last, IFN signaling activation is needed for 'second-wave' IFN induction. Thus, viral inhibition on IFN signaling not only blocks the production of antiviral proteins but also the expression of RIG-1, MDA5, IPS-1/MAVS, IRF-3 and IRF-7 which are responsible in a positive feedback loop of IFNs synthesis.

IFN signaling pathway included mainly six main components which are IFNAR1/R2, JAK1, Tyk2, STAT1, STAT2 and IRF9. Viral proteins are able to block all this cascade by down-regulating the protein levels or inhibiting their activities. Firstly, virus can block IFN signaling by neutralizing the secreted IFNs or the corresponding receptors. For example, IFN- $\alpha/\beta$ -binding proteins encoded by VACV and most other orthopoxviruses can directly interact with IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  and thus inhibit the interaction between IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  and receptors[256]. Some viruses like MYXV, ECTV, and CPXV

also encodes protein that target IFN-γ [257]. The virus that target IFN receptor is exemplified by HHV-8. The K3 and K5 proteins encoded by HHV-8 can reduce the IFNGR1 level by inducting protein degradation [258]. More recently, the viral infection induced unfolded protein response (UPR) is demonstrated to attenuate IFN response by phosphorylation-dependent degradation of IFNAR1. Upon viral infection, endoplasmic reticulum resident protein kinase named PKR-like ER kinase (PERK) is phosphorylated, and p-PERK can target IFNAR1 for ubiquitination and degradation [259].

The activities of the IFNAR-associated JAK kinases including JAK1 and Tyk2 are also interfered by several viruses. The NS5 protein encoded by Japanese encephalitis virus inhibits Tyk2 activation via activating protein tyrosine phosphatases [260]. The E6 protein of HPV18 directly interacts with TYK2 to impair its function while the Large T protein encoded by polyoma virus target another kinase JAK1 [261,262].

Comparing with JAK kinases, the downstream signaling cascades STATS are more common target for viruses. Viruses evolved multiple mechanisms to interfere the function of STATs in IFN signal pathway which is exemplified by paramyxoviruses. Most family members of paramyxoviruses inhibit STAT function via V and P proteins. The V protein of Rubulavirus genus blocks IFN signaling by targeting STATs for proteasomal degradation. For examples, Parainfluenza virus 5 and Parainfluenza virus type 2 target STAT1 and STAT2 respectively, while Mumps virus targets both STAT1 and STAT3 [263,264]. In contrast, the V proteins from other paramyxovirus genus including Nipah and Hendra viruses interfere with the function of STATs by sequester STAT1 and STAT2 in high molecular mass complexes [265]. Also, the P protein of Rabies virus (RABV) sequesters STATs by forming an inactive complex. Unlike the V proteins of Paramyxoviruses, the RABV P protein only interacts with the STATs after tyrosine phosphorylation rather than inactive ones [266]. For the Sendai virus, P/V genes encoded another set of proteins named the C proteins which also block IFN signalling by sequestering STATs, increasing their turnover and altering the pattern of STAT1 phosphorylation [265]. Other positive RNA viruses or DNA viruses can also target STATs for interfering IFN response. The core protein of HCV is reported to interact with STAT1 to inhibit its phosphorylation and interaction with STAT2 [267]. The ORF6 proteins of SARS coronavirus inhibit STAT1 nuclear translocation but not affect the STAT phosphorylation [268]. The adenovirus E1A proteins can bind not only STAT1 but also IRF9 to interfere the formation of ISGF3 complex [269].

Additionally, virus can suppress IFN signaling by regulate members of the SOCS family. SOCSs proteins are potent inhibitors of JAK/STAT signaling. SOCS1 has been characterized to block IFN signaling by directly interacting with JAK1, whereas SOCS3 and CIS directly bind with the phosphorylated receptor to prevent the recruitment and phosphorylation of STATs [270]. Many viruses, like respiratory syncytial virus, HCV, HPV evolve to inhibit STATs activation by modulate SOCS1 or SOCS3 expression [270].

#### 1.3.3 Antagonists encoded by members of picornavirus family

Picornavirus family contains varied members which develop different strategies to antagonize type I IFN response. Studies on these viruses are mainly focus on their ability to inhibit IFN induction. Both MDA5 and RIG-1 are reported as sensors in picornavirus infection. Different picornaviruses like poliovirus, rhinoviruses, echovirus, and encephalomyocarditis virus can suppresses production of IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  by interfering with MDA-5 and RIG-1 [271,272,273]. For instance, rhinovirus type 1a and encephalomyocarditis virus target MDA-5 to degradation in a proteasome- and caspase-dependent manner and the degradation correlates with the cleavage of poly ADP-ribose polymerase (PARP), which is the hallmark of apoptosis. Studies on the poliovirus demonstrated the virus can reduce the IFN- $\beta$  secretion by repressing cellular secretary pathway [274]. Additionaly, viral proteinase 2A of poliovirus is essential for viral replication in type I interferon treated cells [275]. This suggests that 2A protein of poliovirus may play an inhibitory role in downstream interferon signaling or in the antiviral activities of ISGs. The leader proteinase of foot and mouth disease virus can inhibit type I IFN production by cleaving p65-RelA [276,277]. Also, the 3Cpro of hepatitis A virus inhibit type I IFN production by cleaving mitochondrial antiviral signaling proteins [278].

In the case of EV71, a more recent study on  $3C^{pro}$  demonstrated this viral protease was associated with RIG-I. This association would disrupt the recruitment of an adaptor IPS-1 by RIG-I and result in repression of IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  [279]. To our knowledge, whether and how EV71 antagonist downstream type I IFN signaling pathway is still elusive. The study on murine infection model indicated that administration of type I IFN before viral infection protected mice from EV71 challenge while little protective effect was achieved when administration of IFN post viral infection [108]. Recent work in our lab also demonstrated that the conventional IFN can control EV71 infection and replication only in high does concentration [110]. These observations suggested that the EV71 as many other virus may develop the mechanism to circumvent the IFN response.

### 1.3.4 Thesis hypothesis and objective

Hypothesis: it is predicted that EV71 has developed mechanism to antagonize type I IFN response. In addition, viral protein encoded by EV71 may play an essential role in this process.

#### Objectives:

I. To accurately describe the viral kinetics of EV71 in human RD cells

II. To investigate the effects of EV71 infection on different aspects of type I IFN signaling and explore the potential mechanism used by EV71 to antagonize IFN response.

# **Chapter 2 Materials and Methods**
### 2.1 Cells and Virus propagation

RD (rhabdomyosarcoma), 293T and HeLa cells (ATCC, Manassas, VA) were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% (vol/vol) fetal bovine serum (FBS), 100 U/ml penicillin and 100µg/ml streptomycin. EV71 stain SHZH98 (GenBank accession number AF302996.1) was obtained from Shenzhen Center for Disease Control and Prevention, Shenzhen, China. To prepare virus stocks, viruses were propagated on a 90% confluent monolayer cells in DMEM with 2% FBS. When >50% of the cells have detached from the plate, viral stock was prepared by lysis cells with three consecutive freeze-thaw cycles. After the third cycle, briefly centrifuge to pellet debris and store at -80°C. The viral titers were measured by the endpoint dilution assays and expressed as plaque-forming unit (PFU) per milliliter according to the Spearman-Karber method.

# 2.2 Viral infection and cytopathic effects assay

One day after plated, the cultured cells were infected with nil or EV71 at different MOI (multiplicity of infection) as indicated. Briefly, plated cells were washed twice with PBS and infected with EV71. Time was set as zero after adsorption for 1 hour. The inocula were removed and cells were washed twice with PBS to remove unattached virus before adding culture medium to each well. The cells were cultured at 37°C in 5% CO2. The cell morphology was monitored and recorded by using a phase-contrast microscope associated with a CCD camera and computer at different time points. The infected cells and culture supernatants were harvested for isolating RNA and proteins.

### 2.3 MTT assay

MTT (3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide) assays were performed to determine the cell viability upon EV71 infection. Briefly, RD cells were set in 96-well plates at  $1 \times 10^4$  cells per well 24 hours before infected with EV71 at MOI 1 or MOI 10. The medium was then replaced with 0.5 mg/ml MTT medium at different time points and incubated for another 4 hours. The MTT solution was removed from the wells and the formazan crystals were dissolved in DMSO. The absorbances of the formazan products were measured at 550 nm with the reference wavelength at 690 nm.

## 2.4 Plasmids

All EV71 protein-encoding plasmids were generated in the *pcDNA4/HisMax B* (Invitrogen, USA) background. Primer sequences used for the generation of these constructs are listed in table 2.4. Each cDNA fragment was directionally cloned into the *Not1* and *Xbar1* sites of the plasmid. Human *IFNAR1* (Accession NM\_000629.2) was amplified by RT-PCR from RNA isolated from 293T cells, and IFNAR1 expression plasmid was constructed by inserting the cDNA of *IFNAR1* into *pcDNA4/HisMax B* vector. Mutation of Cys<sup>110</sup> 2A<sup>pro</sup> to Ala<sup>110</sup> of EV71 and Ser<sup>535</sup> to Ala<sup>535</sup> of IFNAR1 was carried out by site-directed mutagenesis with one step muatagenesis kit (GeneTailor Site-Directed Mutagenesis System, Invitrogen, USA). To express 2A and mutant 2A in *E. coli*, 2A and 2A mutant fragments were amplified and cloned into *PET-28a* (Novagen, USA) vector by using primer PET-2AF/R which contai**f**ing *EcoR1* and *Xho1* recognition sites respectively.

Gene	Sequences of primers		
2A	F	5'- GG <u>GCGGCCGC</u> ATGGGGAAATTTGGGCAACAG -3'	
	R	5'- GC <u>TCTAGA</u> CTGCTCCATAGCTTCTTC -3'	
2В	F	5'- GG <u>GCGGCCGC</u> ATGGGCGTGTCCGATTACATC-3'	
	R	5'- GC <u>TCTAGA</u> TTGCTTATGAGCGATGGGGATCC -3'	
2C	F	5'- GG <u>GCGGCCGC</u> ATGAGCGATTCCTGGCTAAAGAAG -3'	
	R	5'- GCTCTAGATTGGAATAGAGCCTCGATTGTGTTG -3'	
ЗА	F	5'- GG <u>GCGGCCGC</u> ATGGGCCCACCCAAGTTCA -3'	
	R	5'- GC <u>TCTAGA</u> TTGAAACCCGGCAAAGAGC -3'	
ЗВ	F	5'- GG <u>GCGGCCGC</u> ATGGGTGCGTATTCTGGTGCT-3'	
	R	5'- GCT <u>CTAGA</u> TTGCACTGTGGCTGTGC -3'	
3C	F	5'- GG <u>GCGGCCGC</u> ATGGGGTCCGACCTTGATTTTGCT -3'	
	R	5'- GCTCTAGATTGCCTACTAGCAAAGTAACTCC -3'	
3D	F	5'- GG <u>GCGGCCGC</u> ATGGGAGAGATCCAGTGGGT -3'	
	R	5'- GCTCTAGAAAATAACTCGAGCCAATTGCGTC -3'	
VP1	F	5'- GG <u>GCGGCCGC</u> ATGGGAGATAGGGTGGCAGAT -3'	
	R	5'- GC <u>TCTAGA</u> GAGAGTGGTGATCGCTG -3'	
VP2	F	5'- GG <u>GCGGCCGC</u> ATGTCCCCATCCGCTGAG -3'	
	R	5'- GC <u>TCTAGA</u> CTGGGTAACTGCTTGCCTAAG -3'	
Vp3	F	5'-GG <u>GCGGCCGC</u> ATGGGTTTTCCCACTGAATTG-3'	
	R	5'- GC <u>TCTAGA</u> CTGGATGGTGCCCGTCT -3'	
VP4	F	5'- GG <u>GCGGCCGC</u> ATGGGTTCACAGGTGTCCA -3'	

	R	5'- GC <u>TCTAGA</u> CTTCAGTGGCGCTGCCATTT -3'
IFNAR1	F	5'- CG <u>GGATCC</u> AATGATGGTCGTCCTCCTGG -3'
	R	5'- TGC <u>TCTAGA</u> TCATACAAAGTCCTGCTGTAGTTC -3'
2A (for PET vector)	F	5'- CC <u>GAATTC</u> ATGGGGAAATTTGGGCAACAG -3'
	R	5'- GCA <u>CTCGAG</u> CTGCTCCATAGCTTCTTC -3'
2A mu331	F	5'-TCACTCAGAACCTGGTGATGCCGGCGGTATCC -3'
	R	5'- ATCACCAGGTTCTGAGTGACCTTGTGCGAG -3'
IFNRmu535	F	5'- GTTCCCAAACTAGCCAAGATGCCGGAAATTATTC -3'
	R	5'- ATCTTGGCTAGTTTGGGAACTGTATTTTTATG -3'

**Table 2.4 Primers used for cloning.** The recognition sites for related restriction enzymes are underlined, and mutant site sequences in 2A were bolded. F, forward; R, reverse.

# 2.5 Transfection and cell treatment

HEK293 or HeLa cells were plated in 12-well clusters at 1 x  $10^5$  cells per well and allowed to adhere for 1 day prior to transfection. The next day, transfections were performed with Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen, USA) according to the manufacture's recommendations. For interferon stimulation, IFN- $\alpha$ 2b (PBL, USA) was added at indicated concentration at 24h after transfection and cells were harvested at indicated time after stimulation. Proteins and RNA were extracted and applied for Western Blot and Quantitative reverse transcription-PCR analysis.

## 2.6 RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis

Celluar RNA was extracted by using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen, USA). Briefly, about 2  $\times 10^5$  cells (for 12 well-plate assay) were homogenized in 0.5mL Trizol. Completely lysis was performed by incubated cells at room temperature for 2-3 mins, and then 0.1mL chloroform was added followed by vigorously shaken for 15 sec. Next, mixture was centrifuged at 12,000g for 15min at 4°C, and the colorless upper aqueous phase (about 0.2mL) was transferred to the new centrifuge tube, precipitated by adding 0.2mL isopropyl alcohol. The RNA precipitate was achieved by centrifuging at 12,000g for 10min at 4°C and washing twice with 75% ethanol. Finally, purified RNA was dissolved with RNA-free water. The quality and quantity of total RNA were deterimined by measuring the absorbance at 260/280nm by NanoDrop ND-1000 (NanoDrop Technology, Wilmington, DE, USA). 1 µg of isolated RNA was reverse-transcribed into cDNA with random primer by using Reverse Transcription System (Promega, USA).

For intracellular viral RNA quantification, the total cellular RNA was isolated from EV71 infected cells. For quantification of the extracellular virions, the virions were first isolated from the culture media of infected cells. The media were harvested and briefly centrifuged to remove cell debris. Viral core particles were then precipitated with 10% polyethylene glycol 8000 containing 0.5M NaCl at 4°C overnight. After centrifugation for 30 min at 16,000 g, viral particles were pelleted and treated with 100  $\mu$ g/ml of RNaseA (Sigma, USA). To isolate the intracellular virions, EV71 infected cells were lysed with lysis buffer (1% Triton 100 and 1 x Roche protease inhibitor cocktail in PBS). Then the cell lysates were used to isolated viral particles as described above. The intracellular viral RNA and RNA of extracellular virions as well as intracellular virions was isolated as described above and used for one-step real-time quantitative PCR. To set up the standard curve of infectious viruses, the viral titers were first determined by CPE assay. Then the viral RNA was extracted from those infectious EV71 viruses. RNA was diluted at tenfold serial and used to reflect the calculated PFU from 10 to  $1 \times 10^7$  live virions.

## 2.7 Protein expression and purification

The expressing plasmids (pET-28a 2A-his/ pET-28a m2A-his) were constructed and 2A<sup>pro</sup>/ m2A<sup>pro</sup> were expressed as fusion products in *E. coli* strain BL21 (DE3). Cells were grown in LB media until the optical density reached 0.6, and then IPTG was added to final concentration of 0.5 mM. Cells were grown at 30°C for an additional 4 hours before harvested by centrifugation, and then resuspended in buffer A (50 mM Tris–HCl, pH 8.0, 100 mM NaCl, 0.5 mM EDTA, 20% glycerol, 1 mM DTT ). Cells were lysized by sonication Bacterial cell lysates were centrifuged for 30 min at 10,000g and proteins

were precipitated from the soluble fraction. The pellets which contained the majority of 2A-his were solubilized with 8M urea in buffer A, and then purified under denaturing condition by nitriloacetic acid-nickel chromatography. These proteins were renatured for 2 days with gradual dilution of 6, 4, 2 and 0 M urea containing buffer A. The 2A<sup>pro</sup> and m2A<sup>pro</sup> protein concentration were measured using the method of Bradford (Bio-Rad, USA).

# 2.8 Direct cleavage assays of 2A<sup>pro</sup>

293T cells were transfected with IFNAR1 expression plasmid, and cell lysis was collected at 24 hours after transfection. To test the protease activity of 2A<sup>pro</sup> on IFNAR1 in vitro, 30µg cell lysis was incubated with 500ng purified 2A<sup>pro</sup> and m2A<sup>pro</sup> respectively. Reaction buffer contained 100mM NaCl, 1mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.4mM 2-mercaptoethanol, and 5% glycerol. After 4 hours incubation at 37°C, protein samples were boiled for further Western blotting analysis.

# 2.9 Real-Time Quantitative PCR

The RNA viral loads were quantified by using one-step quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) with QuantiTect SYBR Green RT-PCR Kit (Qiagen) and specific forward EV71-VP1F and reverse EV71-VP1R primers targeting a conserved region of the VP1 gene [110]. PCR assay was carried out in 20  $\mu$ l volume consisting of 10  $\mu$ l of 2 × Quantitect SYBR green RT-PCR Master Mix, containing HotstarTaq DNA polymerase, 1  $\mu$ l of 10  $\mu$ M of each oligonucleotide primer, 0.2  $\mu$ l of 100 × QuantiTect RT Mix (containing Omniscript and Sensiscript reverse transcriptases) and 2  $\mu$ l of RNA extracted from samples or from ten-folds serial diluted virus RNA standard (from 10<sup>7</sup> to

10 copies). The target fragment amplification was carried out as follows: reverse transcription at 50 °C for 30 min; initial activation of HotStar Taq DNA Polymerase at 95 °C for 15 min; 45 cycles in four steps: 94 °C for 10 s, 56 °C for 30 s, 72 °C for 30 s. At the end of amplification cycles, melting temperature analysis was carried out by a slow increase in temperature (0.1 °C /s) up to 95 °C.

To quantify transcription level of other target genes, the indicated cDNA was used and qRT-PCR was carried out with Power SYBR Green Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, USA). The PCR reaction was set up under the following thermal cycling conditions: 95°C, 10 min; 45 cycles of 95°C, 15 s and 60°C, 1 min. Fluorescence signals were collected by the machine during the extension phase of each PCR cycle. The CT value was normalized to that of GAPDH. Primers used in qRT-PCR were listed in table 2.9. All samples were run in triplicate and the experiment was repeated three times. The relative mRNA level of each target gene was expressed as a fold change to corresponding controls (set as 1).

Gene	Genbank Accession No.	Sequences of primers
VP1	AAG23181	F 5'-GCAGCCCAAAAGAACTTCAC-3'
		R 5'-ATTTCAGCAGCTTGGAGTGC-3'
IFN-β	NM_002176	F 5'-GACCAACAAGTGTCTCCTCCAAA-3'
		R 5'-GAACTGCTGCAGCTGCTTAATC-3'
ISG15	NM_005101	F 5'-ATGGGCTGGGACCTGACG-3'
		R 5'-GCCAATCTTCTGGGTGATCTG-3'
ISG56	NM_001548	F 5'- TCCCCTAAGGCAGGCTGTC-3'
		R 5'-GACATGTTGGCTAGAGCTTCTTC-3'
MXA	NM_002462	F 5'-GCTTGCTTTCACAGATGTTTCG-3'
		R 5'-AAGGGATGTGGCTGGAGATG-3'
OAS1	NM_016816	F 5'-TCCACCTGCTTCACAGAACTACA-3'
		R 5'-TGGGCTGTGTTGAAATGTGTTT-3'
GAPDH	NM_002046	F 5'-GATTCCACCCATGGCAAATTCCA-3'
		R 5'-TGGTGATGGGATTTCCATTGATGA-3'

Table 2.9 Primers for Quantitative Real-time PCR Analysis.

## 2.10 Western Blotting analysis

Total cellular protein extracts were prepared using RIPA buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1% Triton X-100, 0.1% SDS, 1 x Roche protease inhibitor cocktail) with occasional vortexing. Lysates were then collected by centrifugation at 14,000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C and protein concentrations were determined by the Bradford method (Bio-Rad, USA). The same amount of total protein for each sample was loaded and separated by 8% to 12% SDS-PAGE and transferred onto polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes (Amersham Biosciences). Membranes were blocked by 5% skim milk in TBST (20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 0.1% Tween 20) followed by an incubation with specific antibodies. The unphosphorylated forms of STAT1 and STAT2 were detected using anti-STAT1 and anti-STAT2 (sc-346 and sc-476, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, USA). Antibodies (9171 and 4441, Cell Signaling Technology, USA) were used to detect phosphorylated forms of STAT1 and STAT2. The phosphorylated forms of Jak1 and Tyk2 were detected by using anti- Phospho-Jak1 and anti- Phospho-Tyk2 (3331 and 9321, Cell Signaling Technology, USA). The IFNAR1 and ubiquitin were detected with anti-IFNAR1 (sc-7391, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) and anti-ubiquitin (P4D1, Cell Signaling Technology, USA) antibodies respectively. Target proteins were finally visualized with corresponding secondary antibodies (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, USA) in a chemiluminescence detection system (Amersham Biosciences, USA). Each immunoblot was done at least thrice to confirm the results. The signal intensity of the relative band was quantified by using Quantity One software (BioRad, USA).

### 2.11 Immunoprecipitation

Cells were lysed in a buffer containing 20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM EGTA, 0.5% NP-40, 1 mM NaF, 1 mM sodium orthovandate and a protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche, Mannheim, Germany). For immunoprecipitation of IFNAR1, Dynabeads Protein G (Invitrogen, USA) was first incubated with IFNAR1 antibody (sc-7391, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, USA) according the manufacture's recommendations. 500  $\mu$ g of total protein in 500  $\mu$ L lysis buffer was incubated with the dynabeads which has bounded with primary antibody overnight at 4°C. After washing, the beads were boiled in Laemmli buffer and proteins were applied for Western Blot analysis.

### 2.12 Immunofluorescence

Inactivated virions were done by UV irradiation for 10 min with a 350-nm wavelength source at a distance of 10 cm. The irradiation can break viral DNA, and therefore inhibit the expression of viral genes. Cells cultured in 24-well plates were infected with EV71 at MOI of 10 or UV-inactivated virus. The mock-infected cells were set as control. 9h p.i., cells were fixed with cold methanol at -10°C for 5 min. After three washes with PBS, cells were blocked with 10% FBS in PBS for 40min. Samples were next incubated with anti-IFN- $\alpha/\beta R\alpha$  (sc-7391, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, USA) and anti-VP1 (PAB7631-D01P, Abnova, USA) for 1 h. Fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-conjugated goat anti-mouse immunoglobulin G (IgG; Invitrogen, USA) and rhodamine-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG (Invitrogen, USA) at a dilution of 1:200 was used to visualize

IFNAR1 and VP1 proteins. The slides were with a Nikon fluorescence microscope and photographed with a CCD camera.

# 2.13 Statistical Analysis

Results are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). All statistical analyses were carried out with SPSS 14.0 software (SPSS Inc.). Two-tailed Student's t test was applied for two-group comparison. A *p* value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

# **Chapter 3 Results**

This chapter was divided into two parts. In the first part, viral kinetics of EV71 in RD cells was characterized; and in the second part, mechanism of EV71 to antagonize type I IFN response to escape the antiviral effects of the host was delinated.

# 3.1 Viral Kinetics

It was known that viral kinetics provided basic information for the study of viral pathogenesis. Thus, the EV71 kinetics was firstly investigated. RD cells were infected with EV71 at MOI 1 and MOI 10, and then the cell growth, viral protein expression,  $\sqrt[n]{2}$  viral replication, package and secretion were measured at different times post infection.

### 3.1.1 Cytopathic effects and the kinetic of cell viability

The morphological changes were shown as early as 6 hours post infection (p.i.) when RD cells were infected with EV71 at either MOI 1 or MOI 10 (Figure 3.1.1A, panel f and j). Initially, the cells rounded up and became more refractile. As the culture progressed, some infected cells detached from the culture plate and floated into the medium (Figure 3.1.1A, panel g, h, k and l). Compared with the cells infected at MOI 1, more cells were unhealthy at 6 hours p.i. when infected at MOI 10 (Figure 3.1.1A, panel j vs f). Later on, the cells infected with EV71 both at MOI 1 and MOI 10 underwent significant cell death and detached from the surface of culture dishes (Figure 1A, panels g and k). At 24 hours p.i, most of cells were detached from the surface of the plate in both of these two different infected groups (Figure 3.1.1A, panels h and l). The MTT assay showed that the viability of the cells infected with EV71 at MOI 1 did not significantly decrease at 12 hours p.i. while slightly reduced for the cells were infected at MOI 10 (Figure 3.1.1B). At 18 and 24 hours p.i., the viability of the cells infected with EV71 either at MOI 1 or MOI 10 significantly decreased.



Figure 3.1.1 Cytopathic effects and kinetics of cell viability upon EV71 infection. RD cells were infected with EV71 at MOI 1 or MOI 10. A. The cytopathic effects were shown by cell morphological changes (original magnification, ×100); B. Cell viability was measured by MTT assays at different time points after EV71 infection. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD) of three independent experiments, each done in triplicate. \*, p < 0.05.

# 3.1.2 The kinetics of viral replication

To examine the kinetics of viral replication, the levels of intracellular viral RNA were measured by quantitative RT-PCR at each time point. As shown in figure 3.1.2, the intracellular viral RNA began to increase at as early as 3 hours p.i. and the exponential phase was from 3 to 6 hours p.i in both infected groups. In the case of infection at MOI 1, the intracellular viral RNA continually increased from 6 to 12 hours p.i., and then gradually decreased until 24 hours p.i.. In case of MOI 10, the intracellular viral RNA reached a peak between 6 and 9 hours p.i., and then began to decrease.



Figure 3.1.2 The kinetics of EV71 Replication. RD cells were infected with EV71 virus at MOI=1 or MOI=10. At the indicated time points, the levels of total intracelluar viral RNA were measured by qRT- PCR. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD of three independent experiments; each was done in triplicate.

ų

# 3.1.3 The kinetics of viral protein synthesis

The intracellular viral protein VP1 could not be detected until 6 hours p.i. in the cells infected at either MOI 1 or MOI 10 (Figure 3.1.3). The VP1 protein level reached the peak at 9 hours p.i. in the cells infected with EV71 at both MOI 1 and MOI 10. Obviously, the VP1 levels were much higher in the cells infected at MOI 10 than that of MOI 1. In the case of infection at MOI 1, the VP1 level was maintained until 12 hours p.i.; whereas the VP1 protein level fast decreased after 9 hours p.i. when the cells were infected with EV71 at MOI 10.



**Figure 3.1.3 The kinetics of virus VP1 protein synthesis.** RD cells were infected with EV71 virus at MOI=1 (A) and MOI=10 (B). The intracellular viral protein VP1 was measured by Western blotting. The relative VP1 levels (the density of VP1/GAPDH) were calculated and shown as solid bars.

# 3.1.4 The kinetics of viral package

To determine the kinetics of virus package, the intracellular EV71 virions were quantified at different time points post infection. At 3 hours p.i, the intracellular virions obviously decreased. Thereafter, the intracellular virions began to increase and enter into the exponential phase until 12 hours p.i. when the amount of intracellular virions reached to the peak. The viral package kinetics was comparable for both MOI 1 and MOI 10 infected groups (Figure 3.1.4). The total amounts of intracellular virions were then decreased from 12 to 24 hours p.i.



Figure 3.1.4 The kinetics of EV71 virus package. RD cells were infected with EV71 virus at MOI=1 or MOI=10. The intracellular virus particles were isolated to measure the virion RNA by qRT-PCR. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD of three independent experiments; each was done in triplicate.

# 3.1.5 The kinetics of viral secretion

To determine the kinetics of virus secretion, the extracellular EV71 virions were quantitated. The EV71 virions began to be released from the cells infected either at MOI 1 or MOI 10 three hours p.i. (Figure 3.1.5). The amounts of extracellular EV71 virions in the cultures of the two groups were constitutively increased. From 3 to 6 hours p.i., the virions were slowly secreted into the culture media, and the virus secretion entered into the exponential phase from 6 to 12 hours p.i.. After 12 hours p.i., the increasing rate declined and the total amount of extracellular virions reached maximal at 24 hours p.i.. For cells infected at MOI 1 or MOI 10, the virions in the culture media were almost the same at 24 hours p.i..

)



Figure 3.1.5 The kinetics of EV71 virus secretion. RD cells were infected with EV71 virus at MOI=1 or MOI=10. Extracellular EV71 virions in the culture media were measured by qRT-PCR at different time points post infection. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD of three independent experiments; each was done in triplicate.

# 3.2 EV71 antagonize type I IFN response

# 3.2.1 EV71 infection activated Type I IFN production but inhibited ISGs activation

Most types of cells can sense the viral infection and activated IFN-B production at the first of time. Through IFN signaling pathway, the secreted IFN- $\beta$  next stimulate mounts of ISGs which play detrimental roles in anti viral infection. Therefore, the levels of IFNβ and related ISGs are regarded as hallmarks in these two steps. To determine effect of EV 71 infection on type I IFN response, the mRNA level of IFN-β and a subset of ISGs were investigated at different time points post virus infection. The human rhabdomyosarcoma (RD) cells were infected with EV71 (MOI1 or MOI10) or mock treated as described in Materials and Methods. Cellular RNA was isolated at 3, 6, 9, 12, 24 hours post infection and mRNAs encoding IFN-β, ISG15, ISG56, MXA and OAS1 were quantified by quantitative RT-PCR. When infected with EV71 at MOI of 10, little cells could be collected at 24h p.i. because of the CPE. To our surprise, IFN-B level was highly increased following the infection (Fig 3.2.1 A, B). The induction of IFN- $\beta$  was activated at 6h p.i., and the mRNA level of IFN- $\beta$  is higher in cells infected at relatively higher MOI. For cells infected at MOI of 1, mRNA level of IFN- $\beta$  was continuously increased following virus infection and reach 25 folds higher than in mock infected cells at 24h p.i. For cells infected at MOI 10, the induction of IFN-B was faster, and mRNA level of IFN- $\beta$  led to peak at 9 p.i. These results demonstrated that the transcription of IFN- $\beta$  was actually activated in the process of EV71 replication.

In contrast to the activation of IFN- $\beta$ , the mRNA levels of a group of ISGs were unchanged and even little decreased following the EV71 infection as compared with mock infected cells (Fig. 3.2.1 C, D). These data suggested that host cells sensed the EV71 infection and activated IFN- $\beta$  production. However, the IFN- $\beta$  stimulated by EV71 infection did not take effects as the downstram ISGs, which function as antiviral effectors, were inhibited by the EV71.

å



Figure 3.2.1 EV71 infection activated Type I IFN production but inhibited ISGs activation. RD cells were mock-infected or infected with EV71 at MOI 1 (A, C) or MOI 10 (B, D). Cells were collected at 0, 3, 6, 9, 12, 24 h after infection. The expression of IFN- $\beta$  (A, B) and ISGs (C, D) were measured by quantitative RT-PCR. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD of three independent experiments; each was done in triplicate.

### 3.2.2 EV71 antagonized the antiviral effect of IFN-a treatment

Promoted by previous results, I further tested the ability of EV71 to subvert exogenous IFN- $\alpha$  mediated antiviral effect. RD cells were infected with EV71 at MOI of 1, and IFN- $\alpha$  treatment (1000U/ml) was performed at 6h before or post viral infection. Mock treated cells were set as a control. 24h after infection, cells were collected and RNA levels of EV71 were determined by quantitative RT-PCR. As shown in figure3.2.2A, the treatment of IFN- $\alpha$  before viral infection effectively reduced RNA viral loads in infected cells. In IFN treated cells, the EV71 RNA levels were 30% of virus control group. In contrast to preinfection treatment, no significant protection was observed when IFN was added after EV71 infection.

To further confirm the inhibition role of EV71 on the antiviral effect of exogenous IFN- $\alpha$  treatment, the mRNA levels of IFN induced antiviral effectors were measured in infected cells. RD cells were either mock or EV71 infected at MOI of 10. At 9h p.i., cells were stimulated with IFN- $\alpha$ 2b (100U/ml) for another 1 hour. After treatment, the quantitative RT-PCR was applied to detect relative mRNA level of ISGs. As shown in figure3.2.2B, the IFN stimulation induced robust expression of all checked ISGs in mock infected cells as expected while not in EV71 infected cells. Comparing to mock infected cells, ISGs activation in EV71 infected cells was dramatically suppressed after IFN- $\alpha$  treatment.

Taken together, these results revealed that EV71 developed a defense mechanism to eliminate the innate interferon immune response against viral infection and benefit its survival and replication.





A



Figure 3.2.2 EV71 antagonized the antiviral effect of IFN- $\alpha$  treatment. (A) RD cells were infected with EV71 at MOI of 1, and IFN- $\alpha$  treatment (1000U/ml) was performed at 6 h before or post viral infection. Mock treated cells were set as a control. Cellular

82

viral loads were quantified at 24h p.i. (B) RD cells were infected with EV71 at MOI 10. Nine hours after infection, cell were stimulated with IFN- $\alpha$ 2b (100 U/mL) for another 2 hours. Celluar RNA was extracted and expression levels of relative ISGs were measured by real-time PCR. The expression level of each gene was calculated relative to GAPDH gene expression and normalized to mock treated cells. Data are shown as mean ± SD of three independent experiments; each was done in triplicate.

## 3.2,3 Phosphorylation of STAT1 and STAT2 was inhibited by EV71

E)

Antagonizing IFN signaling is a possible mechanism to explain the observed defect in ISG activation above. The STATs proteins (STAT1 and STAT2) play a pivotal role in type I IFN signal transduction pathway and thus lots of viruses evolve to inhibit type I IFN signaling by interfering with proteins levels or the activities of the STATs [264,280,281,282]. Therefore, the statuses of STATs in EV71 infected cells were next analyzed by examining the expression level and phosphorylation patterns of STATs. RD or HeLa cells were either mock or EV71 infected at indicated ratio (MOI 1 or 10). At 9h p.i., cells were subsequently stimulated with IFN-a2b at 100 U/mL for another 30mins. The levels of total STATs and phosphorylated STATs were assessed in Western blots by using specific antibodies respectively. As indicated in figure 3.2.3A, the total proteins levels of STAT1 and STAT2 were not significantly altered by EV71 infection in RD cells. However, IFN-a2b treatment induced a rapid and easily discernable STAT1 and STAT2 phosphorylation in mock infected cells. In contrast, there was a notable reduction in IFN-inducible STATs phosphorylation in EV71 infected cells and the suppressive effect was much more significant when cells were infected at higher MOI (Fig 3.2.3A). The similar results were also obtained in HeLa cells (Fig 3.2.3B).







Figure 3.2.3 EV 71 infection inhibited IFN induced STAT phosphorylation. RD cells (A) or HeLa cells (B) were infected with EV71 at MOI 1 or MOI 10 for 9 h and cells were left untreated (-) or treated (+) with IFN- $\alpha$ 2b (100 U/mL) for another 30 mins. Western blots was performed by detecting STAT1, STAT2, phosphorylated STAT1, phosphorylated STAT2 and viral structure protein VP1 with relative antibody. GAPDH was also detected as loading controls. Relative level of phosphorylated STAT1 and STAT2 after IFN treatment in virus infected cells was present as a comparison with the

signal intensity in mock-infected control. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD of three independent experiments; each was done in triplicate.

# 3.2.4 EV71 Blocked IFN-mediated Jak/STAT signaling by reducing IFNAR1 protein level

Given the effects of EV71 on inhibition of the IFN-induced phosphorylation of STATs, we next examined the influence of viral infection on upstream molecules involved in IFN signaling. The phosphorylation of the tyrosine kinase JAK1 and Tyk2 is regarded as the first step in activation of the IFN signal transduction. To reveal the effect of EV71 infection on the activation of JAK1 and Tyk2, RD cells were infected with EV71 at MOI of 10. 9 hours post infection, cells were treated with IFN- $\alpha$ 2b (100U/mL) for 10min and the phosphorylation of JAK1 and Tyk2 was analyzed by using specific antibodies. As shown in figure 3.2.4 A, both kinases were phosphorylated in control cells treated with IFN- $\alpha$  while only background levels of phosphorylation kinases were detected in the infected cells.

Because the phosphorylation of JAK1 and Tyk2 is the first event in the IFN-signaling cascade, the above results suggested that the EV71 may play an inhibition role on the IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  receptor. To prove this hypothesis, we examined the protein levels of interferon- $\alpha$  receptor I (IFNAR1) with mock or EV71 infection at MOI of 10. Then the RD cells were treated with IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  for another 30minutes at different time points. The total cells were collected to determine the phosphorylated STAT1 and expression level of IFNAR1 by Western Blotting. As shown in figure 3.2.4B, the inhibition of IFNAR1 started at 6h p.i. when the viral protein like VP1 was expressed at a relative high level. More significant reduction of IFNAR1 was observed at 9h p.i.. Compared with the mock infected cells, the p-STAT1 level in EV71 infected cells was also significantly reduced at this time point, which was consistent with the inhibition of ISGs activation (Fig 3.2.1).

It seemed that the reduction of IFNAR1 occurred at 6h p.i. while the level of the phosphorylated STAT1 began to decline thereafter accompanying with large accumulation of intracellular viral proteins. These results suggested that viral protein(s) accumulated during viral reproduction may play an essential role in repressing IFNAR1 level.



Figure 3.2.4 EV71 inhibited type I IFN-mediated Jak/STAT signaling by reducing IFNAR1 protein level. (A) RD cells were infected with EV71 at MOI of 10 for 9h and cells were left untreated (-) or treated (+) with IFN- $\alpha$ 2b for another 10minutes. phosphorylated Jak1 (p-Jak1), phosphorylated Tyk2 (p-Tyk2) and VP1 was detected with specific antibodies. GAPDH was also detected as loading controls. (B) RD cells
were mock-infected or infected with EV71 at MOI 10. Cells were treated with IFN- $\alpha$ 2b for another 30 minutes at 0, 3, 6, 9 h after infection. The mock infected cells without IFN treatment was set as a negative control. The expression of IFNAR1, STAT1, VP1, and p-STAT1 were measured with related antibodies.

### 3.2.5 EV71 promote internalization of IFNAR1

The downregulation of IFNAR1 could occur through different mechanisms including a decrease in protein synthesis and/or increase in protein degradation. The protein synthesis can be regulated at transcriptional or translational level. To investigate whether the transcription of IFNAR1 is affected by EV71, the mRNA level of IFNAR1 expression was analyzed at each time point post EV71 infection. The results showed that no alteration on the mRNA level of IFNAR1 was observed during the whole process of EV71 infection (Fig 3.2.5A), suggesting that the reduction of IFNAR1 should occur at post-transcriptional level. One possibility is that EV71 may reduce IFNAR1 level by suppressing the translation of this receptor. Previous studies have shown that EV71 infection led to the cleavage of elF4G and then repressed the general mRNA translation. In this study, the EV71 infection only specifically reduced IFNAR1 level while other host proteins such as STATs and GAPDH kept unchanged (Fig 3.2.3). This suggested that the suppression of general translation may not be the major cause. Another possibility for the decreased IFNAR1 level may be caused by EV71-induced degradation. To investigate role of EV71 infection on IFNAR1 degradation, we used a standard approach to block protein synthesis by treating cells with cycloheximide (CHX). Obviously, the EV71 infection markedly accelerated the rate of degradation of exogenously expressed IFNAR1 (Fig 3.2.5B). To further prove our findings, we checked the ubiquitination status of IFNAR1. After co-immunoprecipitation, and blotted with an ubiquitin specific antibody, we observed that IFNAR1 was significantly ubiquitinated in EV71 infected cells when compared with the mock infected cells (Fig. 3.2.5C).

As a transmembrane protein, IFNAR1 is firstly internalized and then degraded via the lysosomal pathway [175,283]. To uncover the potential mechanism used by EV71 to regulate IFNAR1 degradation, the subcellular distribution of the endogenous IFNAR1 protein was investigated by immunofluorescence assay. RD cells were infected with UV-inactivated virus or EV71 at MOI of 10. 9h p.i., cells were fixed and processed for immunofluorescence assays. The mock infected cells were set as control. As shown in Figure 3.2.5D, the internalization of IFNAR1 was observed in almost all the VP1 positive cells. In contrast, the internalization were not observed in control cells and cells infected with inactivated virus. These results suggested that EV71 infection could promote the internalization and degradation of IFNAR1 and the newly expressed viral protein(s) was required in this process.





в







GAPDH. (C) Cell lysis from RD cells with or without EV71 infection were applied for co-immunoprecipitation assays. IFNAR1 was immunoprecipitated and blotted with the ubiquitin or IFNAR1 specific antibody. (D) RD cells infected with EV71 (MOI 10) or UV-inactivated virus were fixed and processed for immunofluorescence at 9h p.i.. The mock infected cells were set as control. The cells were fixed and incubated with VP1, IFNAR1 antibodies and then with rhodamine-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG and FITCconjugated goat anti-mouse IgG. The VP1 and IFNAR1 proteins were shown in Red and Green, respectively. The white arrows indicate the internalized IFNAR1 in EV71 infected cells.

### 3.2.6 Identification 2A as an antagonist of IFN signaling

In previous sections, it was demonstrated that EV71 infection inhibited IFN-induced STAT1 and STAT2 phosphorylation and then repressed the activation of ISGs (Figure 3.2.1 & 3.2.3). Studies from other viruses suggested viral protein especially nonstructure protein may plays roles in this process (see chapter 1.3.2). To explore which viral protein is able to function as an antagonist to IFN signal pathway, plasmids for expressing 11 structural and nonstructural EV71 viral proteins were, constructed. HEK 293 cells were transiently transfected with plasmids expressing each viral protein or control vector. 24 hours after transfection, cells were stimulated with IFN- $\alpha$ 2b (100U/rnl) for another 2 hours. mRNA of MxA was selected as an indicator and quantified by gRT-PCR. The cells transfected with null vector were set as control. As shown in figure 3.2.6, IFN treatment promoted the transcription of MxA genes in control cells, and expression of 2B, 2C, 3A, 3B, 3C, 3D, VP1, VP2, VP3 and VP4 have no or little effect on inhibiting IFN-induced MXA transcription. While in 2Apro expressing cells, the IFNinduced activation of MxA was significantly inhibited. These results suggested that the 2A<sup>pro</sup> of EV71 may function as an antagonist of IFN signaling to suppress ISGs activation.

97



Figure 3.2.6 Inhibition of IFN-induced MxA activation by EV71 proteins. 293T cells were transfected with plasmids expressing individual EV71 proteins, and the null vector was used as control. At 24 h after transfection, cells were stimulated with IFN- $\alpha$ 2b (100 U/mL) for another 2 hours. Then RNA was extracted and mRNA of MXA was quantified by real-time PCR. The expression level of MXA gene was calculated relative to GAPDH gene expression and normalized to control. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD of three independent experiments; each was done in triplicate.

# 3.2.7 2A Blocks Type I IFN-mediated phosphorylation of STAT proteins and Janus kinases by reducing IFNAR1

To assess the inhibitory role of the  $2A^{pro}$  in IFNAR1, 293T cells were transfected with an empty vector or  $2A^{pro}$  expressing plasmid, and treated with IFN- $\alpha$ 2b (100U/mL) 24h after transfection. The IFNAR1 level and phosphorylation status of STATs were analyzed 30 minutes after IFN stimulation. As described in others studies, the expression of viral  $2A^{pro}$  was hard to be directly detected due to its inhibition on its own translation [76,284], while the cleavage of eIF4G represented the functional  $2A^{pro}$  was expressed in transfected cells (Fig 3.2.7A). Obviously,  $2A^{pro}$  significantly decreased IFNAR1 level in 293T cells (Fig 3.2.7A). Repeated experiments showed that the endogenous IFNAR1 was reduced by  $2A^{pro}$  by more than 90% percent after image quantification in both cases with or without IFN treatment. Consistent with the observations in EV71 infected cells (Figure3 & Figure4),  $2A^{pro}$  also potently inhibited IFN-induced Janus kinases and STATs phosphorylation without notable change the total protein amount of STAT1 or STAT2 proteins (Fig 3.2.7A).

It has been shown that the phosphorylation of Ser535 residue is important for ubiquitination and degradation of IFNAR1, and mutation of Ser535 rendered IFNAR1<sup>S535A</sup> resistant to down-regulation in response to ubiquitination [285]. To assess the effect of 2A<sup>pro</sup> on IFNAR1 degradation, 2A<sup>pro</sup> and a His-tagged IFNAR1 or IFNAR1<sup>S535A</sup> were forced to co-express in 293T cells. As shown in Figure 3.2.7B, the wild type IFNAR1 was significantly reduced more than 90% but the mutated IFNAR1<sup>S535A</sup> was only reduced about less than 50%. These results suggested that 2A<sup>pro</sup> promotes IFNAR1 degradation and the process is phosphorylation dependent.



Figure 3.2.7  $2A^{pro}$  inhibited Jak/STAT signaling by promoting IFNAR1 degradation. (A) HEK 293T cells were transfected with  $2A^{pro}$  expressing plasmid or null vector. 24 h after transfection, cells were treated with or without IFN- $\alpha$ 2b. Western blots were performed by detecting IFNAR1, p-JAK1, p-Tyk2, STAT1, STAT2, p-STAT1, p-STAT2 and eIF4G with related antibodies. The arrow indicated the cleaved eIF4G in 293T cells. GAPDH was detected as loading controls. (B) The His-tagged IFNAR1 and IFNAR1<sup>S535A</sup> expression plasmids were transfected into HEK293T cells for 12 hours and followed by transfecting with  $2A^{pro}$  expression plasmid or null vector control. IFNAR1 and IFNAR1<sup>S535A</sup> protein levels were analyzed at 36 h after tranfection. GAPDH was detected as loading controls.

# 3.2.8 Inhibition of IFN signaling is depend on the protease activity of 2A<sup>pro</sup>

EV71 2A<sup>pro</sup> is known as a viral protease. It catalyzes an essential cleavage in the polyprotein in virus replication (see chapter 1.1.3). On the other hand, 2A<sup>pro</sup> also cleaves several host cellular proteins to facilitate viral replication, leading to viral pathogenesis [286,287,288]. It has been demonstrated that the Cys in amino acid 110 of 2A<sup>pro</sup> is essential for its protease activity [289,290]. To test whether the inhibition effect of 2A<sup>pro</sup> on IFN was depend on its protease activity, the plasmid expressing 2A protease with mutation in amino acid 110 from Cys to Ala was constructed. Thereafter, the plasmids expressing 2A<sup>pro</sup> and mutant 2A<sup>pro</sup> (2A<sup>C110A</sup>) were transfected into 293T cells, and cells tranfected with null plasmid were set as control. As shown in figure 3.2.8, the mutation on 110Cys abrogated the protease activity of 2A<sup>pro</sup>, and eIF4G was not cleaved in cells expressing mutated 2A<sup>pro</sup>. After IFN-α2b stimulation, cells expressing wild type 2A<sup>pro</sup> significantly suppressed IFN-induced STATS phosphorylation while the mutant 2A<sup>pro</sup> did not exhibit any inhibition activity on type I IFN signaling. No differences on IFN- $\alpha$ induced phosphrylation of STATs between cells expressing mutant 2A<sup>pro</sup> and control vector was observed. Therefore, it was concluded that the protease activity of 2A<sup>pro</sup> is essential for inhibiting type I IFN signaling.



Figure 3.2.8 Protease activity is required for 2A inhibiting IFN signaling. 293T cells were transfected with 2A or mutant 2A ( $2A^{C110A}$ ) expression plasmids or null vector as the control. 24 h after transfection, cells were treated without or with IFN- $\alpha$ 2b (100 U/mL) for 30 mins. Western blots was performed by detecting IFNAR1, STAT1, STAT2, phosphorylated STAT1, phosphorylated STAT2 and eIF4G with related antibody. The arrow indicated the cleaved eIF4G. GAPDH was detected as loading controls.

# 3.2.9 2A<sup>pro</sup> can not directly cleave IFNAR

2A<sup>pro</sup> and mutant 2A<sup>pro</sup> were successfully expressed in *E-coli* system (Fig 3.2.9A) and further renatured. 293T cells transfected with IFNAR1 expression plasmid were collected at 24hours after transfection, and cell lysis was incubated with purified 2A<sup>pro</sup> and m2A<sup>pro</sup> for 4 hours as described in materials and methods. The protein level of IFNAR1 and cleavage of eIF4G were analyzed by Western blotting. As expected, the cleavage of eIF4G was observed in cell lysis incubated with 2A<sup>pro</sup> but not m2A<sup>pro</sup> (Fig 3.2.9B). However, IFNAR1 protein level was not changed between cell lysis incubated with 2A<sup>pro</sup>.





**Figure 3.2.9 2A<sup>pro</sup> can not directly cleave IFNAR.** (A) 12% SDS-PAGE gels stained with Coomassie brilliant blue showed the expression of 2A<sup>pro</sup> in BL21 bacteria. *E.coli* strain BL21 transformed with 2A and m2A expression plasmid were collected before and after IPTG incubation. Target proteins were detected with anti-his antibody as arrow

indicated. M, Marker. (B) 293T cells transfected with IFNAR1 expression plasmid for 24 hours were lysed and incubated with the purified 2A and mutant 2A protein as indicated in chapter 2.8. Proteins were collected before and after incubation, and western blotting was applied to analyzed IFNAR1 and eIF4G. The cleavage of eIF4G was indicated with the arrow.

# **Chapter 4 Discussion**

.

### 4.1 EV71 viral kinetics in RD cells

Viral kinetics is an important parameter for demonstrating viral activities in the host cells and provides basic information to understand the viral-host interactions and pathogenesis. Kinetics of some picornaviruses such as Swine Vesicular Disease Virus and Foot-and-Mouth Disease Virus have been described in several studies [49,50]. However, little information could be obtained on EV71. Some studies provided brief descriptions on EV71 RNA replication and growth kinetics of EV71infected cells while the infection ratios used in these studies were too low (MOI < 0.01) to guarantee the synchronicity of infection [291,292]. In this situation, some cells were undergoing cell death whereas others were to be infected by new EV71 viruses secreted from the first round infected cells. Therefore, the viral life cycle could not be accurately examined. In addition, except RNA synthesis, no information was provided about viral protein expression, virus package and secretion. In this thesis, the detailed viral kinetics of EV71 in human RD cells was comprehensively described. As RD cells infected by EV71 would develop cellular pathogenesis (CPE), these cells have been extensively used to investigate the viral activities of EV71 and host responses to EV71 infection [293,294,295,296]. To obtain a synchronized infection, RD cells were pulse infected at high MOIs (MOI 1 and 10) to ensure that the majority of the cells were primarily infected in our study. Following the infection, the unattached viruses were removed by washing the cells twice with PBS. This would minimize the interference of noninfectious virions. In this thesis, the kinetics of viral replication, gene expression, package and secretion as well as the effects of viral activities on host cells were carefully examined at different time points.

The intracellular virions of EV71 obviously decreased over 90% at 3 hours p.i. (Fig 3.1.4) while the total intracellular RNA copies almost kept at the same levels (Fig 3.1.2). This result suggested the virions immediately uncoated after entry and virus replication was inactive within the first three hours upon infection. During this phase, the viral RNA could be translated to generate viral proteins essential for viral replication. From 3 to 6 hours p.i., the virus underwent fast replication and the total intracellular viral RNA was accumulated rapidly (Fig 3.1.2). Similar results were also reported in other poliovirus infection [297]. The total intracellular viral RNA increased by over 64 folds within the period. In the meantime, the viral gene expression also initiated along with viral replication, as viral VP1 proteins could be clearly detected in the host cells at 6 hours (Fig 3.1.3). The viral package also started (Fig 3.1.4) but very few virions were secreted (Fig 3.1.5). At 6 hours p.i., about 1% (MOI 1) to 3% (MOI 10) of viral RNA was packaged into virions (Fig 3.1.2 and 3.1.4). Although the virus was rapidly replicating, the host cells were generally healthy in this period. From 6 to 9 hours p.i., some cells became unhealthy (Fig 3.1.1), the viral replication entered static stage as the total intracellular viral RNA only increased about 2 folds either in MOI 1 or MOI 10 group. In the case of MOI 1, the total intracellular viral RNA increased another 2 folds from 9 to12 hours p.i. while began to decrease 9 hours p.i. in the cells infected at MOI 10. This suggested that viral RNA in cells infected with higher MOI reached the maximal levels earlier. The viral gene expression and package also actively processed in this period. The viral protein VP1 levels reached the peak at 9 hours p.i. and fast decreased at 12 hours p.i. in MOI 10 group. In the case of MOI 1, the VP1 levels also reached maximal at 9 hours p.i. and maintained the same levels at 12 hours post infection. Accomplished with viral protein synthesis, the intracellular virions also rapidly increased over 16 folds

(MOI 10) or 64 folds (MOI 1). For both cases, the intracellular virions went up to a peak and about 30% of viral RNA was packaged into the virions at 12 hours p.i. (Figure 3.1.4 vs Figure 3.1.2). In the case of MOI 1, the extracellularly accumulated virions increased 8 and 64 folds from 6 to 9, and 9 to 12 hours, respectively; while the extracellularly accumulated virions increased 30 and 5 folds in the same periods in MOI 10 group. From 12 to 24 hours p.i., as more and more infected cells continuously became unhealthy and died, the intracellular viral RNA levels obviously decreased and the viral replication became less active. These findings suggested that the cells may no longer sustain further viral replication and died [73,77,80]. This was further supported by the data of intracellular and extracellular virion levels. The intracellular virions still kept high levels at 16 hours post infection although more and more virions were continuously secreted into the culture media. Since then, the ratio of packaged viral RNA to total viral RNA constantly kept about 50% in both MOI 1 and MOI 10 cases.

In summary, the viral kinetics model of EV71 in human RD cells was established. Upon infection, the virus uncoated within the first three hours and started to synthesize the essential viral proteins for replication. From 3 to 6 hours p.i., the virus rapidly replicated its genome RNA and initiate viral package. The fast viral package displayed from 3 to 12 hours p.i. and virion secretion constantly performed since 6 hours p.i. until the death of host cells. The host cells started to become unhealthy as early as 6 hours p.i. but still supported viral replication, package and secretion until death.

109

## 4.2 EV71 antagonizes type I IFN response

The type I IFN response functions as the first line defense against viral infection. By activating varies ISGs, type I IFNs generate an intracellular environment that restricts viral replication and promoting the presentation of viral antigens to the adaptive immune response [298,299,300]. Moreover, through type I IFN signaling pathway, IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  quickly launches signaling cascade and amplify the production of type I IFN. Although type I IFN response is exceedingly potent and rapid, most if not all viruses have evolved mechanisms to evade from the surveillance by either interfering the synthesis of IFNs or circumventing downstream antiviral signaling pathway.

As many other picornaviridae virus, dsRNA is produced during infectious cycle of EV71 and would be sensed by PRR to activate IFN- $\beta$  production [155,156]. Previous studies on other picornaviruses mainly explored viral strategies on inhibiting type I IFN induction. These studies showed that different picornaviruses like poliovirus, rhinoviruses, echovirus, and encephalomyocarditis virus could suppresses the production of IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  by interfering with MDA-5 and RIG-I [271,272,273]. The poliovirus was also demonstrated to reduce the IFN- $\beta$  secretion by repressing cellular secretory pathway [274]; The leader proteinase of foot and mouth disease virus inhibits type I IFN production by cleaving p65-ReIA [276,277]; while the 3C<sup>pro</sup> of hepatitis A virus inhibit type I IFN production by cleaving mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein (MAVS) [278]. EV 71 has also evolved to target the type I IFN induction. The more recent studies reveal that 3C protease of EV71 associates with RIG-I via the caspase recruitment domain. This interaction precludes the recruitment of the adaptor IPS-1 and subsequent nuclear translocation of IRF3. As a result, the IFN- $\beta$  transcription is inhibited during viral infection [279].

Herein a novel mechanism by which the EV71 alters type I IFN response was identified. EV71 inhibited type I IFN-induced ISGs activation by interfering IFN signal transduction. In EV71 infected cells, the IFN- $\beta$  transcription activation was not totally inhibited and the mRNA level of IFN- $\beta$  was increased about 25 folds at 24h following EV71 infection at MOI of 1 (Fig 3.2.1A&B). On the other side, the activation of ISGs which is the downstream of type I IFN signaling was not observed during the infection (Fig 3.2.1A&B). The effect of EV71 on repressing IFN-induced ISGs activation was further confirmed on RD cells treated with exogenous IFN- $\alpha$ 2b. It is well demonstrated that phosphorylation of STAT1 and STAT2 is critical for type I IFN induced antiviral responses, and cells null mutations in these two transcriptional proteins are unresponsive to IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  and are highly susceptible to virus infection [301]. For this reason, the effect of EV71 infection on protein levels and phosporylated statuses of STATs were further investigated. The IFN inducible STATs phosphorylation was greatly inhibited in cells infected with EV71 at 9h p.i., menwhile, the cellular viral loads reached to the peak (Fig 3.1.2 and Fig 3.2.3). This suggested that EV71 was able to abolish type I IFN signaling at early stage of infection and facilitate its replication and survival. These results partially explain why the viral load of EV71 can reach at high level soon after viral infection in murine model or culture cells [108,302].

Most of viruses circumvent the IFN response by specific viral protein: human cytomegalovirus (CMV) inhibits IFN-dependent STAT signaling by IE1-72KD viral protein [303]; influenza virus inhibit the JAK/STAT signaling by the non-structural

protein 1(NS1) though up-regulation of SOCS1 and SOCS3 [304]; HCV core protein not only suppresses STAT1 gene expression but also interacts with STAT1protein to interfere its normal function [267]. To further explore the mechanisms used by EV71 to countermeasure type I IFN signaling, 11 viral proteins of EV71were tested. 2A protease of EV71 was identified as an antagonist to type I IFN. Coincidence with the results observed in virus infected cells, expression EV71 2A<sup>pro</sup> alone in mammalian cells inhibited IFN-a induced STAT1 and STAT2 phosphorylation while had no obvious effect on total protein level of STATs. The upstream effectors of STAT proteins were next evaluated under 2A<sup>pro</sup> expression. Similarly, IFN induced phosphorylation of Jak1 and Tyk2 was also inhibited by 2A<sup>pro</sup>. Finally, the protein level of IFNAR1, the first component in type I IFN signaling pathway was checked. The results showed that EV71 2A<sup>pro</sup> was able to selectively inhibit IFNAR1 protein level (Fig 3.2.7). IFNAR1 protein level was reduced in EV71 infected RD cells at 7 hours post infection, and IFN induced STAT1 phosphorylation was also repressed at following time points (Fig 3.2.8). These results inferred that the 2A<sup>pro</sup>-dependent reduction in IFNAR1 likely results in a decrease in IFN-inducible STATs phosphorylation and ISGs activation.

Previous studies have well demonstrated the substantial roles of IFNAR1 in protecting cells from viral infections. Mice with null mutations in IFNAR1 have indicated that IFNAR1 is essential for responses to IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  and is required for survival against most viral infections, myelopoiesis, as well as B and T cell mediated immune responses [305,306]. Other studies with cardiac fibroblasts and myocytes showed that the cardiac fibroblasts with higher basal levels of IFNAR1 and Jak-STAT components have correlated a stronger IFN response compared with the myocytes [307]. The clinical

investigations on HCV patients also showed that the expression of IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 genes in the liver is a useful index for predicting the long-term efficacy of interferon therapy in patients with chronic genotype 2a or 2b HCV infection [308]. Polymorphisms in promoters and genes encoding type I IFN receptors have been closely linked with susceptibility to a number of diseases including cerebral malaria [309], multiple sclerosis [310], trypanosomaiasis [311], HIV [312], and hepatitis B and C virus [313,314]. Viewed altogether, the reduction effect of EV71 2A<sup>pro</sup> on IFNAR1 protein level is an effective mechanism to render target cells less sensitive to IFN.

During EV71 life cycle, 2A<sup>pro</sup> accompany with 3C<sup>pro</sup> function as cysteine protease which make different cleavage in the viral polyprotein [315]. There is always a question why the virus has evolved two cysteine proteinases with similar catalytic mechanisms but different specificity. The most possible explanation is that the viruses could benefit from the presence of the additional proteinase. Previous studies shown 2A<sup>pro</sup> is a multifunctional protein which is essential for viral replication. 2A<sup>pro</sup> can cleave a variety of host proteins, including the translation proteins eIF4GI [286], eIF4GII [287], and poly (A)-binding protein [288], thereby enhance the viral protein expression which managed by its own IRES and cause the cap-dependented cellular translation shut-off. In addition, 2A<sup>pro</sup> of poliovirus is reported to be involved in the process of viral RNA replication as well as in the viral RNA stability [316]. This study revealed that 2A functioned as an antagonist of type I IFNs by downregulation of IFNAR1. The *in vitro* experiments indicated that the reduction of IFNAR1 was not due to direct cleavage by 2A<sup>pro</sup> (Fig 3.2.9). Currently, it was still unclear the exact mechanism used by 2A<sup>pro</sup> to repress IFNAR1 level. However, it was noted that 2A inhibited protein but not mRNA level of

IFNAR1, and the inhibition was dependent on its protease activity since the single C110A substitution in the catalytic site significantly impaired its activity (Fig 3.2.8). These results also well explain the recent observation on poliovirus and enterovirus 70 that 2A<sup>pro</sup> is essential for viral replication in type I interferon treated cells [275].

In conclusion, this study revealed a new mechanism to antagonize host type I IFN response by EV71 and provided an explanation for the previously observed resistance of this virus to IFN treatment in murine model and cultured cells [108]. 2A protease of EV71 was identified to counteract the type I IFN response by reducing IFNAR1 level. 2A<sup>pro</sup> may represent a viral tool to antagnoize JAK/STAT signal transduction pathways in other enteroviruses and rhinoviruses. Moreover, this work may pave a way for new antiviral intervention strategies that target viral 2A<sup>pro</sup> and/or cellular IFN signaling pathways.

and the second second second

### 4.3 Future studies and perspective:

In this study, EV71 was demonstrated to inhibit type I IFN signaling by reducing IFNAR1 level. Viral protease 2A may play an essential role in this process. However, the detailed mechanism of EV71 or 2A<sup>pro</sup> on degradation of IFNAR1 is still elusive will be clarified in future studies.

Ubiquitination of plasma membrane receptors lead to internalization of these proteins and then the degradation via the lysosomal pathway [175,285,317]. This mechanism plays a pivotal role in down-regulation of the Type I IFN receptor and then the IFN signaling [318]. In this study, the EV71 infection was observed to promote IFNAR1 ubigitination, internalization and degradation which result in the reduction of IFNAR1 level and inhibition of IFN signaling (Fig 3.2.5). Further studies will dedicate to the detailed mechanism used by EV71 to affect IFNAR1 stability. More recently, the hypothetical model for regulation of IFNAR1 degradation was proposed and mainly three ways were involved in the regulation process [319]. The first is the ligandinducible pathway in which the activated Janus kinase Tyk2 promotes the binding of PDK2 to IFNAR1 and therefore leads to the phosophorylation and degerdation of IFNAR1 (Fig 4.3). Host cells use this way to limits the extent of IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  signaling when expose to these cytokines [318]. The second is UPR pathway which functions through PERK-dependent phosphorylation of IFNAR1. The PERK leads to the activation of p38 kinase which phosphorylated IFNAR1 at Ser532 by activating an unkown kinase. The phosophorylation at Ser532 priming phosphorylation of IFNAR1 at Ser535 by CK1a kinase and finally accerelate the IFNAR1 degradation. Viruses like VSV and HCV can regulate levels of IFNAR1 and evade from Type I IFN surveillance via this way [259].

The third way is the PRR (pathogen recognition receptors) pathway which also induces priming phosphorylation and degradation of IFNAR1 by activating p38 kinase. This pathway, which can be activated during HSV infection, negatively affects IFNAR1 stability and signaling [319]. As indicated by our data, the ligand-dependent pathway would be excluded since the Tyk2 activation (phosphorylation of Tyk2) was not detected during EV71 infection. Also, PRR pathway may be not the main reason although IFN- $\beta$  transcription was activated in EV71 infection. The UV-inactivated virus which also contains viral RNA was not able to promote the internalization of IFNAR1 and inhibit IFN signaling (Fig 3.2.5D). Moreover, the downregulation of IFNAR1 was occurred at the later but not the early phase of EV71 infection which suggested viral protein expression may be required (Fig 3.2.4B).

As discussed above, it is plausible that EV71 promote IFNAR1 degradation via PERK pathway or the other way which is unkown yet. To dissect the potential mechanism, following experiments will be performed in future studies. In order to find out whether EV71-induced IFNAR1 degradation is depend on PERK or not, PERK will be knocked down by specific siRNA in EV71 infected cells and level of IFNAR1 will be analyzed when compared with control cells infected EV71 while treated with siRNA control. EV71 would use a unindenfied mechanism to downregulate IFNAR1 level if PERK pathway is excluded. As shown in figure 4.2, the activation of p38 plays a pivotal role in ligand-independent downregulation of IFNAR1. To define the role of p38 kinase in EV71-induced IFNAR1 degradation, the p38 kinase inhibitor (SB203580) will be used in the next experiment. If the p38 is required, EV71 may activate p38 through the third way rather than PERK and PRR pathway and promote phosphorylation as well as

116

degradation of IFNAR1. If the p38 is not required, EV71 may target the IFNAR1 via a new pathway which is not denpend on p38 activation.

Because 2A protease of EV71 antagnizes IFN signaling through the similar way as whole virus infection (Fig 3.2.7), this provide us another approach to clarify the mechanism of IFNAR1 degradation in EV71 infected cells. Previous experiments find that single amino acid mutation on 2A protease can abrogate the inhibition role of 2A on IFNAR1 (Fig 3.2.8) and 2A protease is not able to cleave IFNAR1 directly. In the future study, it will be clarified that whether the mutant 2A can compete with wild type 2A and inhibit its activity on downregulate IFNAR1 level. If the answer is yes, this suggests 2A may target an unknown protein and cleavage of this protein can nextly result in the reduction of IFNAR1. Mutant 2A protein which competes with wildtype 2A to bind with this target protein can inhibit the 2A effect on IFNAR1. Assays like pull-down and yeast two-hybrid have been frequently used for discovering and analyzing protein-protein interactions. In future studies, these assays would be useful to find out the 2A interacted protein and clarify the potential mechanism of EV71 reducing IFNAR1 level.



Figure 4.2 Hypothetical model for regulation of IFNAR1 degradation.

# References

1. Manki A, Oda M, Seino Y (1997) Neurologic diseases of enterovirus infections: polioviruses, coxsackieviruses, echoviruses, and enteroviruses type 68-72. Nippon Rinsho 55: 849-854.

2. Fowlkes AL, Honarmand S, Glaser C, Yagi S, Schnurr D, et al. (2008) Enterovirusassociated encephalitis in the California encephalitis project, 1998-2005. J Infect Dis 198: 1685-1691.

3. Hamaguchi T, Fujisawa H, Sakai K, Okino S, Kurosaki N, et al. (2008) Acute encephalitis caused by intrafamilial transmission of enterovirus 71 in adult. Emerg Infect Dis 14: 828-830.

4. Ishimaru Y, Nakano S, Yamaoka K, Takami S (1980) Outbreaks of hand, foot, and mouth disease by enterovirus 71. High incidence of complication disorders of central nervous system. Arch Dis Child 55: 583-588.

5. McMinn PC (2002) An overview of the evolution of enterovirus 71 and its clinical and public health significance. FEMS Microbiol Rev 26: 91-107.

6. AbuBakar S, Chee HY, Al-Kobaisi MF, Xiaoshan J, Chua KB, et al. (1999) Identification of enterovirus 71 isolates from an outbreak of hand, foot and mouth disease (HFMD) with fatal cases of encephalomyelitis in Malaysia. Virus Res 61: 1-9. 7. Lum LC, Wong KT, Lam SK, Chua KB, Goh AY, et al. (1998) Fatal enterovirus 71 encephalomyelitis. J Pediatr 133: 795-798.

8. Schmidt NJ, Lennette EH, Ho HH (1974) An apparently new enterovirus isolated from patients with disease of the central nervous system. J Infect Dis 129: 304-309.

9. Melnick JL (1984) Enterovirus type 71 infections: a varied clinical pattern sometimes mimicking paralytic poliomyelitis. Rev Infect Dis 6 Suppl 2: S387-390.

10. Kennett ML, Birch CJ, Lewis FA, Yung AP, Locarnini SA, et al. (1974) **Enterovirus type 71 infection in Melbourne**. Bull World Health Organ 51: 609-615.

11. Chumakov M, Voroshilova M, Shindarov L, Lavrova I, Gracheva L, et al. (1979) Enterovirus 71 isolated from cases of epidemic poliomyelitis-like disease in Bulgaria. Arch Virol 60: 329-340.

12. Nagy G, Takatsy S, Kukan E, Mihaly I, Domok I (1982) Virological diagnosis of enterovirus type 71 infections: experiences gained during an epidemic of acute CNS diseases in Hungary in 1978. Arch Virol 71: 217-227.

13. Melnick JL, Schmidt NJ, Mirkovic RR, Chumakov MP, Lavrova IK, et al. (1980) Identification of Bulgarian strain 258 of enterovirus 71. Intervirology 12: 297-302.

14. Hagiwara A, Tagaya I, Yoneyama T (1978) Epidemic of hand, foot and mouth disease associated with enterovirus 71 infection. Intervirology 9: 60-63.

15. Tagaya I, Tachibana K (1975) Epidemic of hand, foot and mouth disease in Japan, 1972-1973: difference in epidemiologic and virologic features from the previous one. Jpn J Med Sci Biol 28: 231-234.

16. Samuda GM, Chang WK, Yeung CY, Tang PS (1987) Monoplegia caused by Enterovirus 71: an outbreak in Hong Kong. Pediatr Infect Dis J 6: 206-208.

17. Gilbert GL, Dickson KE, Waters MJ, Kennett ML, Land SA, et al. (1988) Outbreak of enterovirus 71 infection in Victoria, Australia, with a high incidence of neurologic involvement. Pediatr Infect Dis J 7: 484-488.

18. Ho M, Chen ER, Hsu KH, Twu SJ, Chen KT, et al. (1999) An epidemic of enterovirus 71 infection in Taiwan. Taiwan Enterovirus Epidemic Working Group. N Engl J Med 341: 929-935.

19. Liu CC, Tseng HW, Wang SM, Wang JR, Su IJ (2000) An outbreak of enterovirus 71 infection in Taiwan, 1998: epidemiologic and clinical manifestations. J Clin Virol 17: 23-30.

20. Hsiung GD, Wang JR (2000) Enterovirus infections with special reference to enterovirus 71. J Microbiol Immunol Infect 33: 1-8.

21. Yan JJ, Wang JR, Liu CC, Yang HB, Su IJ (2000) An outbreak of enterovirus 71 infection in Taiwan 1998: a comprehensive pathological, virological, and molecular study on a case of fulminant encephalitis. J Clin Virol 17: 13-22.

22. Hsueh C, Jung SM, Shih SR, Kuo TT, Shieh WJ, et al. (2000) Acute encephalomyelitis during an outbreak of enterovirus type 71 infection in Taiwan: report of an autopsy case with pathologic, immunofluorescence, and molecular studies. Mod Pathol 13: 1200-1205.

23. Chen SP, Huang YC, Li WC, Chiu CH, Huang CG, et al. Comparison of clinical features between coxsackievirus A2 and enterovirus 71 during the enterovirus outbreak in Taiwan, 2008: a children's hospital experience. J Microbiol Immunol Infect 43: 99-104.

24. Zheng ZM, He PJ, Caueffield D, Neumann M, Specter S, et al. (1995) Enterovirus 71 isolated from China is serologically similar to the prototype E71 BrCr strain but differs in the 5'-noncoding region. J Med Virol 47: 161-167.

25. Nasri D, Bouslama L, Pillet S, Bourlet T, Aouni M, et al. (2007) Basic rationale, current methods and future directions for molecular typing of human enterovirus. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 7: 419-434.

26. Oberste MS, Maher K, Kilpatrick DR, Pallansch MA (1999) Molecular evolution of the human enteroviruses: correlation of serotype with VP1 sequence and application to picornavirus classification. J Virol 73: 1941-1948.

27. Brown BA, Oberste MS, Alexander JP, Jr., Kennett ML, Pallansch MA (1999) Molecular epidemiology and evolution of enterovirus 71 strains isolated from 1970 to 1998. J Virol 73: 9969-9975.

28. Yu H, Chen W, Chang H, Tang R, Zhao J, et al. Genetic analysis of the VP1 region of enterovirus 71 reveals the emergence of genotype A in central China in 2008. Virus Genes 41: 1-4.

29. Li L, He Y, Yang H, Zhu J, Xu X, et al. (2005) Genetic characteristics of human enterovirus 71 and coxsackievirus A16 circulating from 1999 to 2004 in Shenzhen, People's Republic of China. J Clin Microbiol 43: 3835-3839.

30. McMinn P, Lindsay K, Perera D, Chan HM, Chan KP, et al. (2001) Phylogenetic analysis of enterovirus 71 strains isolated during linked epidemics in Malaysia, Singapore, and Western Australia. J Virol 75: 7732-7738.

31. Cardosa MJ, Perera D, Brown BA, Cheon D, Chan HM, et al. (2003) Molecular epidemiology of human enterovirus 71 strains and recent outbreaks in the Asia-Pacific region: comparative analysis of the VP1 and VP4 genes. Emerg Infect Dis 9: 461-468. 32. Mizuta K, Abiko C, Murata T, Matsuzaki Y, Itagaki T, et al. (2005) Frequent importation of enterovirus 71 from surrounding countries into the local community of Yamagata, Japan, between 1998 and 2003. J Clin Microbiol 43: 6171-6175.

33. Shimizu H, Utama A, Onnimala N, Li C, Li-Bi Z, et al. (2004) Molecular epidemiology of enterovirus 71 infection in the Western Pacific Region. Pediatr Int 46: 231-235.

34. Lin KH, Hwang KP, Ke GM, Wang CF, Ke LY, et al. (2006) Evolution of EV71 genogroup in Taiwan from 1998 to 2005: an emerging of subgenogroup C4 of EV71. J Med Virol 78: 254-262.

35. Tu PV, Thao NT, Perera D, Huu TK, Tien NT, et al. (2007) Epidemiologic and virologic investigation of hand, foot, and mouth disease, southern Vietnam, 2005. Emerg Infect Dis 13: 1733-1741.

36. Zhang Y, Zhu Z, Yang W, Ren J, Tan X, et al. An emerging recombinant human enterovirus 71 responsible for the 2008 outbreak of hand foot and mouth disease in Fuyang city of China. Virol J 7: 94.

37. Sanders SA, Herrero LJ, McPhie K, Chow SS, Craig ME, et al. (2006) Molecular epidemiology of enterovirus 71 over two decades in an Australian urban community. Arch Virol 151: 1003-1013.

38. McMinn P, Stratov I, Nagarajan L, Davis S (2001) Neurological manifestations of enterovirus 71 infection in children during an outbreak of hand, foot, and mouth disease in Western Australia. Clin Infect Dis 32: 236-242.

39. Iwai M, Masaki A, Hasegawa S, Obara M, Horimoto E, et al. (2009) Genetic changes of coxsackievirus A16 and enterovirus 71 isolated from hand, foot, and mouth disease patients in Toyama, Japan between 1981 and 2007. Jpn J Infect Dis 62: 254-259.

40. Jee YM, Cheon DS, Kim K, Cho JH, Chung YS, et al. (2003) Genetic analysis of the VP1 region of human enterovirus 71 strains isolated in Korea during 2000. Arch Virol 148: 1735-1746.

41. Huang YP, Lin TL, Kuo CY, Lin MW, Yao CY, et al. (2008) The circulation of subgenogroups B5 and C5 of enterovirus 71 in Taiwan from 2006 to 2007. Virus Res 137: 206-212.

42. Wong SS, Yip CC, Lau SK, Yuen KY (2009) Human enterovirus 71 and hand, foot and mouth disease. Epidemiol Infect 138: 1071-1089.

43. Muir P, Kammerer U, Korn K, Mulders MN, Poyry T, et al. (1998) Molecular typing of enteroviruses: current status and future requirements. The European Union Concerted Action on Virus Meningitis and Encephalitis. Clin Microbiol Rev 11: 202-227.

44. Nishimura Y, Shimojima M, Tano Y, Miyamura T, Wakita T, et al. (2009) Human **P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 is a functional receptor for enterovirus 71**. Nat Med 15: 794-797.

45. Zoll J, Heus HA, van Kuppeveld FJ, Melchers WJ (2009) The structure-function relationship of the enterovirus 3'-UTR. Virus Res 139: 209-216.

46. Herrmann E, Lee JH, Marinos G, Modi M, Zeuzem S (2003) Effect of ribavirin on hepatitis C viral kinetics in patients treated with pegylated interferon. Hepatology 37: 1351-1358.

47. Layden-Almer JE, Ribeiro RM, Wiley T, Perelson AS, Layden TJ (2003) Viral dynamics and response differences in HCV-infected African American and white patients treated with IFN and ribavirin. Hepatology 37: 1343-1350.

48. Zeuzem S, Herrmann E, Lee JH, Fricke J, Neumann AU, et al. (2001) Viral kinetics in patients with chronic hepatitis C treated with standard or peginterferon alpha2a. Gastroenterology 120: 1438-1447.

49. Belsham GJ, Normann P (2008) Dynamics of picornavirus RNA replication within infected cells. J Gen Virol 89: 485-493.

50. Egger D, Bienz K (2005) Intracellular location and translocation of silent and active poliovirus replication complexes. J Gen Virol 86: 707-718.

51. Lin JY, Chen TC, Weng KF, Chang SC, Chen LL, et al. (2009) Viral and host proteins involved in picornavirus life cycle. J Biomed Sci 16: 103.

52. Whitton JL, Cornell CT, Feuer R (2005) Host and virus determinants of picornavirus pathogenesis and tropism. Nat Rev Microbiol 3: 765-776.

53. Manki A, Oda M, Seino Y (1997) [Neurologic diseases of enterovirus infections: polioviruses, coxsackieviruses, echoviruses, and enteroviruses type 68-72]. Nippon Rinsho 55: 849-854.

54. Arya SC (2000) Antiviral therapy for neurological manifestations of enterovirus 71 infection. Clin Infect Dis 30: 988.

55. Komatsu H, Shimizu Y, Takeuchi Y, Ishiko H, Takada H (1999) Outbreak of severe neurologic involvement associated with Enterovirus 71 infection. Pediatr Neurol 20: 17-23.

56. Chang LY, Lin TY, Huang YC, Tsao KC, Shih SR, et al. (1999) Comparison of enterovirus 71 and coxsackie-virus A16 clinical illnesses during the Taiwan enterovirus epidemic, 1998. Pediatr Infect Dis J 18: 1092-1096.

57. Chong CY, Chan KP, Shah VA, Ng WY, Lau G, et al. (2003) Hand, foot and mouth disease in Singapore: a comparison of fatal and non-fatal cases. Acta Paediatr 92: 1163-1169.

58. Wang SM, Liu CC, Tseng HW, Wang JR, Huang CC, et al. (1999) Clinical spectrum of enterovirus 71 infection in children in southern Taiwan, with an emphasis on neurological complications. Clin Infect Dis 29: 184-190.

59. Shieh WJ, Jung SM, Hsueh C, Kuo TT, Mounts A, et al. (2001) Pathologic studies of fatal cases in outbreak of hand, foot, and mouth disease, Taiwan. Emerg Infect Dis 7: 146-148.

60. Yang Y, Wang H, Gong E, Du J, Zhao X, et al. (2009) Neuropathology in 2 cases of fatal enterovirus type 71 infection from a recent epidemic in the People's Republic of China: a histopathologic, immunohistochemical, and reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction study. Hum Pathol 40: 1288-1295.

61. Shen WC, Chiu HH, Chow KC, Tsai CH (1999) MR imaging findings of enteroviral encephaloymelitis: an outbreak in Taiwan. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 20: 1889-1895.

62. Verboon-Maciolek MA, Utrecht FG, Cowan F, Govaert P, van Loon AM, et al. (2008) White matter damage in neonatal enterovirus meningoencephalitis. Neurology 71: 536.

63. Huang CC, Liu CC, Chang YC, Chen CY, Wang ST, et al. (1999) Neurologic complications in children with enterovirus 71 infection. N Engl J Med 341: 936-942.

64. Shindarov LM, Chumakov MP, Voroshilova MK, Bojinov S, Vasilenko SM, et al. (1979) Epidemiological, clinical, and pathomorphological characteristics of epidemic poliomyelitis-like disease caused by enterovirus 71. J Hyg Epidemiol Microbiol Immunol 23: 284-295.

65. Koroleva GA, Gracheva LA, Voroshilova MK (1978) [Isolation of type 71 enterovirus from patients with a poliomyelitis-like disease during an outbreak in Bulgaria]. Vopr Virusol: 611-618.

66. Chen CY, Chang YC, Huang CC, Lui CC, Lee KW, et al. (2001) Acute flaccid paralysis in infants and young children with enterovirus 71 infection: MR imaging findings and clinical correlates. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 22: 200-205.

67. Wong KT, Munisamy B, Ong KC, Kojima H, Noriyo N, et al. (2008) The distribution of inflammation and virus in human enterovirus 71 encephalomyelitis suggests possible viral spread by neural pathways. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 67: 162-169.

68. Ramos-Alvarez M, Bessudo L, Sabin AB (1969) Paralytic syndromes associated with noninflammatory cytoplasmic or nuclear neuronopathy. Acute paralytic disease in Mexican children, neuropathologically distinguishable from Landry-Guillain-Barre syndrome. JAMA 207: 1481-1492.

69. Crotty S, Hix L, Sigal LJ, Andino R (2002) Poliovirus pathogenesis in a new poliovirus receptor transgenic mouse model: age-dependent paralysis and a mucosal route of infection. J Gen Virol 83: 1707-1720.

70. Ohka S, Matsuda N, Tohyama K, Oda T, Morikawa M, et al. (2004) Receptor (CD155)-dependent endocytosis of poliovirus and retrograde axonal transport of the endosome. J Virol 78: 7186-7198.

71. Chen CS, Yao YC, Lin SC, Lee YP, Wang YF, et al. (2007) Retrograde axonal transport: a major transmission route of enterovirus 71 in mice. J Virol 81: 8996-9003.

72. Lin YW, Wang SW, Tung YY, Chen SH (2009) Enterovirus 71 infection of human dendritic cells. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 234: 1166-1173.

73. Chen LC, Shyu HW, Chen SH, Lei HY, Yu CK, et al. (2006) Enterovirus 71 infection induces Fas ligand expression and apoptosis of Jurkat cells. J Med Virol 78: 780-786.

74. Tung WH, Sun CC, Hsieh HL, Wang SW, Horng JT, et al. (2007) EV71 induces VCAM-1 expression via PDGF receptor, PI3-K/Akt, p38 MAPK, JNK and NF-kappaB in vascular smooth muscle cells. Cell Signal 19: 2127-2137.

75. Tung WH, Hsieh HL, Yang CM Enterovirus 71 induces COX-2 expression via MAPKs, NF-kappaB, and AP-1 in SK-N-SH cells: Role of PGE(2) in viral replication. Cell Signal 22: 234-246.

76. Kuo RL, Kung SH, Hsu YY, Liu WT (2002) Infection with enterovirus 71 or expression of its 2A protease induces apoptotic cell death. J Gen Virol 83: 1367-1376. 77. Liang CC, Sun MJ, Lei HY, Chen SH, Yu CK, et al. (2004) Human endothelial cell activation and apoptosis induced by enterovirus 71 infection. J Med Virol 74: 597-603.

78. Chen TC, Lai YK, Yu CK, Juang JL (2007) Enterovirus 71 triggering of neuronal apoptosis through activation of Abl-Cdk5 signalling. Cell Microbiol 9: 2676-2688.

79. Huang SC, Chang CL, Wang PS, Tsai Y, Liu HS (2009) Enterovirus 71-induced autophagy detected in vitro and in vivo promotes viral replication. J Med Virol 81: 1241-1252.

80. Chang SC, Lin JY, Lo LY, Li ML, Shih SR (2004) Diverse apoptotic pathways in enterovirus 71-infected cells. J Neurovirol 10: 338-349.

81. Shih SR, Weng KF, Stollar V, Li ML (2008) Viral protein synthesis is required for Enterovirus 71 to induce apoptosis in human glioblastoma cells. J Neurovirol 14: 53-61.

82. Li ML, Hsu TA, Chen TC, Chang SC, Lee JC, et al. (2002) The 3C protease activity of enterovirus 71 induces human neural cell apoptosis. Virology 293: 386-395.

83. Weng KF, Li ML, Hung CT, Shih SR (2009) Enterovirus 71 3C protease cleaves a novel target CstF-64 and inhibits cellular polyadenylation. PLoS Pathog 5: e1000593. 84. Roberts LO, Boxall AJ, Lewis LJ, Belsham GJ, Kass GE (2000) Caspases are not involved in the cleavage of translation initiation factor eIF4GI during picornavirus infection. J Gen Virol 81: 1703-1707.

85. Wu CN, Lin YC, Fann C, Liao NS, Shih SR, et al. (2001) Protection against lethal enterovirus 71 infection in newborn mice by passive immunization with subunit VP1 vaccines and inactivated virus. Vaccine 20: 895-904.

86. Ong KC, Devi S, Cardosa MJ, Wong KT Formaldehyde-inactivated whole-virus vaccine protects a murine model of enterovirus 71 encephalomyelitis against disease. J Virol 84: 661-665.

87. Dong C, Wang J, Liu L, Zhao H, Shi H, et al. Optimized development of a candidate strain of inactivated EV71 vaccine and analysis of its immunogenicity in rhesus monkeys. Hum Vaccin 6.

88. Lin YC, Wu CN, Shih SR, Ho MS (2002) Characterization of a Vero cell-adapted virulent strain of enterovirus 71 suitable for use as a vaccine candidate. Vaccine 20: 2485-2493.

89. Arita M, Nagata N, Iwata N, Ami Y, Suzaki Y, et al. (2007) An attenuated strain of enterovirus 71 belonging to genotype a showed a broad spectrum of antigenicity with attenuated neurovirulence in cynomolgus monkeys. J Virol 81: 9386-9395.

90. Lin YL, Chen LK, Liao CL, Yeh CT, Ma SH, et al. (1998) DNA immunization with Japanese encephalitis virus nonstructural protein NS1 elicits protective immunity in mice. J Virol 72: 191-200.

91. Konishi E, Yamaoka M, Kurane I, Mason PW (2000) A DNA vaccine expressing dengue type 2 virus premembrane and envelope genes induces neutralizing antibody and memory B cells in mice. Vaccine 18: 1133-1139.

92. Tung WS, Bakar SA, Sekawi Z, Rosli R (2007) DNA vaccine constructs against enterovirus 71 elicit immune response in mice. Genet Vaccines Ther 5: 6.

93. Foo DG, Alonso S, Phoon MC, Ramachandran NP, Chow VT, et al. (2007) Identification of neutralizing linear epitopes from the VP1 capsid protein of Enterovirus 71 using synthetic peptides. Virus Res 125: 61-68.

94. Hu YC, Hsu JT, Huang JH, Ho MS, Ho YC (2003) Formation of enterovirus-like particle aggregates by recombinant baculoviruses co-expressing P1 and 3CD in insect cells. Biotechnol Lett 25: 919-925.

95. Chung YC, Ho MS, Wu JC, Chen WJ, Huang JH, et al. (2008) Immunization with virus-like particles of enterovirus 71 elicits potent immune responses and protects mice against lethal challenge. Vaccine 26: 1855-1862.

96. Nishimura Y, Shimojima M, Tano Y, Miyamura T, Wakita T, et al. (2009) Human
P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 is a functional receptor for enterovirus 71. Nat Med.
97. Yamayoshi S, Yamashita Y, Li J, Hanagata N, Minowa T, et al. (2009) Scavenger
receptor B2 is a cellular receptor for enterovirus 71. Nat Med.

98. Rogers JM, Diana GD, McKinlay MA (1999) Pleconaril. A broad spectrum antipicornaviral agent. Adv Exp Med Biol 458: 69-76.

99. Romero JR (2001) Pleconaril: a novel antipicornaviral drug. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 10: 369-379.

100. Abdel-Rahman SM, Kearns GL (1999) Single oral dose escalation pharmacokinetics of pleconaril (VP 63843) capsules in adults. J Clin Pharmacol 39: 613-618.

101. Nolan MA, Craig ME, Lahra MM, Rawlinson WD, Prager PC, et al. (2003) Survival after pulmonary edema due to enterovirus 71 encephalitis. Neurology 60: 1651-1656.

102. Pevear DC, Tull TM, Seipel ME, Groarke JM (1999) Activity of pleconaril against enteroviruses. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 43: 2109-2115.

103. Chern JH, Lee CC, Chang CS, Lee YC, Tai CL, et al. (2004) Synthesis and antienteroviral activity of a series of novel, oxime ether-containing pyridyl imidazolidinones. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 14: 5051-5056.

104. Arita M, Wakita T, Shimizu H (2008) Characterization of pharmacologically active compounds that inhibit poliovirus and enterovirus 71 infectivity. J Gen Virol 89: 2518-2530.

105. Chen TC, Liu SC, Huang PN, Chang HY, Chern JH, et al. (2008) Antiviral activity of pyridyl imidazolidinones against enterovirus 71 variants. J Biomed Sci 15: 291-300.

106. Sadler AJ, Williams BR (2008) Interferon-inducible antiviral effectors. Nat Rev Immunol 8: 559-568.

107. He ML, Zheng B, Peng Y, Peiris JS, Poon LL, et al. (2003) Inhibition of SARSassociated coronavirus infection and replication by RNA interference. JAMA 290: 2665-2666.

108. Liu ML, Lee YP, Wang YF, Lei HY, Liu CC, et al. (2005) Type I interferons protect mice against enterovirus 71 infection. J Gen Virol 86: 3263-3269.

109. Jaks E, Gavutis M, Uze G, Martal J, Piehler J (2007) Differential receptor subunit affinities of type I interferons govern differential signal activation. J Mol Biol 366: 525-539.

110. Yi L, He Y, Chen Y, Kung HF, He ML (2011) Potent inhibition of human enterovirus 71 replication by type I interferon subtypes. Antivir Ther 16: 51-58.

111. Isaacs A, Lindenmann J (1957) Virus interference. I. The interferon. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 147: 258-267.

112. Flores I, Mariano TM, Pestka S (1991) Human interferon omega (omega) binds to the alpha/beta receptor. J Biol Chem 266: 19875-19877.

113. Hardy MP, Owczarek CM, Jermiin LS, Ejdeback M, Hertzog PJ (2004) Characterization of the type I interferon locus and identification of novel genes. Genomics 84: 331-345. 114. de Weerd NA, Samarajiwa SA, Hertzog PJ (2007) Type I interferon receptors: biochemistry and biological functions. J Biol Chem 282: 20053-20057.

115. Ozes ON, Reiter Z, Klein S, Blatt LM, Taylor MW (1992) A comparison of interferon-Con1 with natural recombinant interferons-alpha: antiviral, antiproliferative, and natural killer-inducing activities. J Interferon Res 12: 55-59.

116. Pfeffer LM (1997) Biologic activities of natural and synthetic type I interferons. Semin Oncol 24: S9-63-S69-69.

117. Soh J, Donnelly RJ, Kotenko S, Mariano TM, Cook JR, et al. (1994) Identification and sequence of an accessory factor required for activation of the human interferon gamma receptor. Cell 76: 793-802.

118. Soh J, Donnelly RJ, Mariano TM, Cook JR, Schwartz B, et al. (1993) Identification of a yeast artificial chromosome clone encoding an accessory factor for the human interferon gamma receptor: evidence for multiple accessory factors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90: 8737-8741.

119. Young HA, Bream JH (2007) IFN-gamma: recent advances in understanding regulation of expression, biological functions, and clinical applications. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 316: 97-117.

120. Kotenko SV, Gallagher G, Baurin VV, Lewis-Antes A, Shen M, et al. (2003) IFNlambdas mediate antiviral protection through a distinct class II cytokine receptor complex. Nat Immunol 4: 69-77.

121. Uze G, Monneron D (2007) IL-28 and IL-29: newcomers to the interferon family. Biochimie 89: 729-734.

122. Sheppard P, Kindsvogel W, Xu W, Henderson K, Schlutsmeyer S, et al. (2003) IL-28, IL-29 and their class II cytokine receptor IL-28R. Nat Immunol 4: 63-68.

123. Onoguchi K, Yoneyama M, Takemura A, Akira S, Taniguchi T, et al. (2007) Viral infections activate types I and III interferon genes through a common mechanism. J Biol Chem 282: 7576-7581.

124. Marie I, Durbin JE, Levy DE (1998) Differential viral induction of distinct interferon-alpha genes by positive feedback through interferon regulatory factor-7. EMBO J 17: 6660-6669.

125. Sato M, Hata N, Asagiri M, Nakaya T, Taniguchi T, et al. (1998) Positive feedback regulation of type I IFN genes by the IFN-inducible transcription factor IRF-7. FEBS Lett 441: 106-110.

126. Wathelet MG, Lin CH, Parekh BS, Ronco LV, Howley PM, et al. (1998) Virus infection induces the assembly of coordinately activated transcription factors on the IFN-beta enhancer in vivo. Mol Cell 1: 507-518.

127. Prakash A, Smith E, Lee CK, Levy DE (2005) Tissue-specific positive feedback requirements for production of type I interferon following virus infection. J Biol Chem 280: 18651-18657.

128. Sato M, Suemori H, Hata N, Asagiri M, Ogasawara K, et al. (2000) Distinct and essential roles of transcription factors IRF-3 and IRF-7 in response to viruses for IFN-alpha/beta gene induction. Immunity 13: 539-548.

129. Akira S, Uematsu S, Takeuchi O (2006) Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. Cell 124: 783-801.

130. Matsumoto M, Funami K, Tanabe M, Oshiumi H, Shingai M, et al. (2003) **Subcellular localization of Toll-like receptor 3 in human dendritic cells**. J Immunol 171: 3154-3162.
131. Takeda K, Kaisho T, Akira S (2003) Toll-like receptors. Annu Rev Immunol 21: 335-376.

132. Akira S (2004) Toll receptor families: structure and function. Semin Immunol 16: 1-2.

133. Toiyama Y, Araki T, Yoshiyama S, Hiro J, Miki C, et al. (2006) The expression patterns of Toll-like receptors in the ileal pouch mucosa of postoperative ulcerative colitis patients. Surg Today 36: 287-290.

134. Takeuchi O, Hoshino K, Kawai T, Sanjo H, Takada H, et al. (1999) Differential roles of TLR2 and TLR4 in recognition of gram-negative and gram-positive bacterial cell wall components. Immunity 11: 443-451.

135. Alexopoulou L, Holt AC, Medzhitov R, Flavell RA (2001) Recognition of doublestranded RNA and activation of NF-kappaB by Toll-like receptor 3. Nature 413: 732-738.

136. Hoshino K, Takeuchi O, Kawai T, Sanjo H, Ogawa T, et al. (1999) Cutting edge: Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)-deficient mice are hyporesponsive to lipopolysaccharide: evidence for TLR4 as the Lps gene product. J Immunol 162: 3749-3752.

137. Poltorak A, He X, Smirnova I, Liu MY, Van Huffel C, et al. (1998) Defective LPS signaling in C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr mice: mutations in Tlr4 gene. Science 282: 2085-2088.

138. Hayashi F, Smith KD, Ozinsky A, Hawn TR, Yi EC, et al. (2001) The innate immune response to bacterial flagellin is mediated by Toll-like receptor 5. Nature 410: 1099-1103.

139. Heil F, Hemmi H, Hochrein H, Ampenberger F, Kirschning C, et al. (2004) Species-specific recognition of single-stranded RNA via toll-like receptor 7 and 8. Science 303: 1526-1529.

140. Lund JM, Alexopoulou L, Sato A, Karow M, Adams NC, et al. (2004) Recognition of single-stranded RNA viruses by Toll-like receptor 7. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 5598-5603.

141. Hemmi H, Takeuchi O, Kawai T, Kaisho T, Sato S, et al. (2000) A Toll-like receptor recognizes bacterial DNA. Nature 408: 740-745.

142. de Bouteiller O, Merck E, Hasan UA, Hubac S, Benguigui B, et al. (2005) Recognition of double-stranded RNA by human toll-like receptor 3 and downstream receptor signaling requires multimerization and an acidic pH. J Biol Chem 280: 38133-38145.

143. Iwamura T, Yoneyama M, Yamaguchi K, Suhara W, Mori W, et al. (2001) Induction of IRF-3/-7 kinase and NF-kappaB in response to double-stranded RNA and virus infection: common and unique pathways. Genes Cells 6: 375-388.

144. Xie L, Pries R, Kesselring R, Wulff S, Wollenberg B (2007) Head and neck cancer triggers the internalization of TLR3 in natural killer cells. Int J Mol Med 20: 493-499.

145. Oganesyan G, Saha SK, Guo B, He JQ, Shahangian A, et al. (2006) Critical role of **TRAF3 in the Toll-like receptor-dependent and -independent antiviral response**. Nature 439: 208-211.

146. Hacker H, Redecke V, Blagoev B, Kratchmarova I, Hsu LC, et al. (2006) Specificity in Toll-like receptor signalling through distinct effector functions of TRAF3 and TRAF6. Nature 439: 204-207. 147. Colonna M, Krug A, Cella M (2002) Interferon-producing cells: on the front line in immune responses against pathogens. Curr Opin Immunol 14: 373-379.

148. Iwasaki A, Medzhitov R (2004) Toll-like receptor control of the adaptive immune responses. Nat Immunol 5: 987-995.

149. Uematsu S, Sato S, Yamamoto M, Hirotani T, Kato H, et al. (2005) Interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase-1 plays an essential role for Toll-like receptor (TLR)7and TLR9-mediated interferon-{alpha} induction. J Exp Med 201: 915-923.

150. Kerkmann M, Rothenfusser S, Hornung V, Towarowski A, Wagner M, et al. (2003) Activation with CpG-A and CpG-B oligonucleotides reveals two distinct regulatory pathways of type I IFN synthesis in human plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J Immunol 170: 4465-4474.

151. Asselin-Paturel C, Trinchieri G (2005) Production of type I interferons: plasmacytoid dendritic cells and beyond. J Exp Med 202: 461-465.

152. Yoneyama M, Kikuchi M, Natsukawa T, Shinobu N, Imaizumi T, et al. (2004) The RNA helicase RIG-I has an essential function in double-stranded RNA-induced innate antiviral responses. Nat Immunol 5: 730-737.

153. Rothenfusser S, Goutagny N, DiPerna G, Gong M, Monks BG, et al. (2005) The RNA helicase Lgp2 inhibits TLR-independent sensing of viral replication by retinoic acid-inducible gene-I. J Immunol 175: 5260-5268.

154. Yoneyama M, Kikuchi M, Matsumoto K, Imaizumi T, Miyagishi M, et al. (2005) Shared and unique functions of the DExD/H-box helicases RIG-I, MDA5, and LGP2 in antiviral innate immunity. J Immunol 175: 2851-2858.

155. Kato H, Takeuchi O, Sato S, Yoneyama M, Yamamoto M, et al. (2006) **Differential roles of MDA5 and RIG-I helicases in the recognition of RNA viruses**. Nature 441: 101-105.

156. Gitlin L, Barchet W, Gilfillan S, Cella M, Beutler B, et al. (2006) Essential role of mda-5 in type I IFN responses to polyriboinosinic:polyribocytidylic acid and encephalomyocarditis picornavirus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103: 8459-8464.

157. Saito T, Hirai R, Loo YM, Owen D, Johnson CL, et al. (2007) Regulation of innate antiviral defenses through a shared repressor domain in RIG-I and LGP2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104: 582-587.

158. Hornung V, Ellegast J, Kim S, Brzozka K, Jung A, et al. (2006) 5'-Triphosphate RNA is the ligand for RIG-I. Science 314: 994-997.

159. Gack MU, Shin YC, Joo CH, Urano T, Liang C, et al. (2007) TRIM25 RINGfinger E3 ubiquitin ligase is essential for RIG-I-mediated antiviral activity. Nature 446: 916-920.

160. Venkataraman T, Valdes M, Elsby R, Kakuta S, Caceres G, et al. (2007) Loss of **DExD/H box RNA helicase LGP2 manifests disparate antiviral responses.** J Immunol 178: 6444-6455.

161. Kato H, Sato S, Yoneyama M, Yamamoto M, Uematsu S, et al. (2005) Cell typespecific involvement of RIG-I in antiviral response. Immunity 23: 19-28.

162. Kawai T, Takahashi K, Sato S, Coban C, Kumar H, et al. (2005) **IPS-1**, an adaptor triggering **RIG-I-** and **Mda5-mediated type I interferon induction**. Nat Immunol 6: 981-988.

163. Meylan E, Curran J, Hofmann K, Moradpour D, Binder M, et al. (2005) Cardif is an adaptor protein in the RIG-I antiviral pathway and is targeted by hepatitis C virus. Nature 437: 1167-1172. 164. Seth RB, Sun L, Ea CK, Chen ZJ (2005) Identification and characterization of MAVS, a mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein that activates NF-kappaB and IRF 3. Cell 122: 669-682.

165. Fitzgerald KA, McWhirter SM, Faia KL, Rowe DC, Latz E, et al. (2003) **IKKepsilon and TBK1 are essential components of the IRF3 signaling pathway**. Nat Immunol 4: 491-496.

166. Hemmi H, Takeuchi O, Sato S, Yamamoto M, Kaisho T, et al. (2004) The roles of two IkappaB kinase-related kinases in lipopolysaccharide and double stranded RNA signaling and viral infection. J Exp Med 199: 1641-1650.

167. Hiscott J, Pitha P, Genin P, Nguyen H, Heylbroeck C, et al. (1999) Triggering the interferon response: the role of IRF-3 transcription factor. J Interferon Cytokine Res 19: 1-13.

168. Suhara W, Yoneyama M, Kitabayashi I, Fujita T (2002) Direct involvement of CREB-binding protein/p300 in sequence-specific DNA binding of virus-activated interferon regulatory factor-3 holocomplex. J Biol Chem 277: 22304-22313.

169. Chu WM, Ostertag D, Li ZW, Chang L, Chen Y, et al. (1999) JNK2 and IKKbeta are required for activating the innate response to viral infection. Immunity 11: 721-731.

170. Kim TK, Maniatis T (1997) The mechanism of transcriptional synergy of an in vitro assembled interferon-beta enhanceosome. Mol Cell 1: 119-129.

171. Agalioti T, Lomvardas S, Parekh B, Yie J, Maniatis T, et al. (2000) Ordered recruitment of chromatin modifying and general transcription factors to the IFNbeta promoter. Cell 103: 667-678.

172. Lutfalla G, Holland SJ, Cinato E, Monneron D, Reboul J, et al. (1995) Mutant U5A cells are complemented by an interferon-alpha beta receptor subunit generated by alternative processing of a new member of a cytokine receptor gene cluster. EMBO J 14: 5100-5108.

173. Novick D, Cohen B, Tal N, Rubinstein M (1995) Soluble and membraneanchored forms of the human IFN-alpha/beta receptor. J Leukoc Biol 57: 712-718.

174. Hardy MP, Owczarek CM, Trajanovska S, Liu X, Kola I, et al. (2001) The soluble murine type I interferon receptor Ifnar-2 is present in serum, is independently regulated, and has both agonistic and antagonistic properties. Blood 97: 473-482.

175. Kumar KG, Krolewski JJ, Fuchs SY (2004) Phosphorylation and specific ubiquitin acceptor sites are required for ubiquitination and degradation of the IFNAR1 subunit of type I interferon receptor. J Biol Chem 279: 46614-46620.

176. Colamonici OR, Uyttendaele H, Domanski P, Yan H, Krolewski JJ (1994) p135tyk2, an interferon-alpha-activated tyrosine kinase, is physically associated with an interferon-alpha receptor. J Biol Chem 269: 3518-3522.

177. Gauzzi MC, Velazquez L, McKendry R, Mogensen KE, Fellous M, et al. (1996) Interferon-alpha-dependent activation of Tyk2 requires phosphorylation of positive regulatory tyrosines by another kinase. J Biol Chem 271: 20494-20500.

178. Heim MH (1999) The Jak-STAT pathway: cytokine signalling from the receptor to the nucleus. J Recept Signal Transduct Res 19: 75-120.

179. Samuel CE (2001) Antiviral actions of interferons. Clin Microbiol Rev 14: 778-809, table of contents.

180. Stark GR, Kerr IM, Williams BR, Silverman RH, Schreiber RD (1998) How cells respond to interferons. Annu Rev Biochem 67: 227-264.

181. Fu XY, Kessler DS, Veals SA, Levy DE, Darnell JE, Jr. (1990) ISGF3, the transcriptional activator induced by interferon alpha, consists of multiple interacting polypeptide chains. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87: 8555-8559.

182. Kessler DS, Levy DE, Darnell JE, Jr. (1988) Two interferon-induced nuclear factors bind a single promoter element in interferon-stimulated genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85: 8521-8525.

183. de Veer MJ, Holko M, Frevel M, Walker E, Der S, et al. (2001) Functional classification of interferon-stimulated genes identified using microarrays. J Leukoc Biol 69: 912-920.

184. Der SD, Zhou A, Williams BR, Silverman RH (1998) Identification of genes differentially regulated by interferon alpha, beta, or gamma using oligonucleotide arrays. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95: 15623-15628.

<sup>°</sup>185. Matsumoto A, Seki Y, Kubo M, Ohtsuka S, Suzuki A, et al. (1999) Suppression of STAT5 functions in liver, mammary glands, and T cells in cytokine-inducible SH2-containing protein 1 transgenic mice. Mol Cell Biol 19: 6396-6407.

186. Yasukawa H, Misawa H, Sakamoto H, Masuhara M, Sasaki A, et al. (1999) The JAK-binding protein JAB inhibits Janus tyrosine kinase activity through binding in the activation loop. EMBO J 18: 1309-1320.

187. Patel RC, Sen GC (1992) Identification of the double-stranded RNA-binding domain of the human interferon-inducible protein kinase. J Biol Chem 267: 7671-7676.

188. Williams BR (1999) PKR; a sentinel kinase for cellular stress. Oncogene 18: 6112-6120.

189. Hershey JW (1991) Translational control in mammalian cells. Annu Rev Biochem 60: 717-755.

190. Ramana CV, Grammatikakis N, Chernov M, Nguyen H, Goh KC, et al. (2000) Regulation of c-myc expression by IFN-gamma through Stat1-dependent and independent pathways. EMBO J 19: 263-272.

191. Lee JH, Park EJ, Kim OS, Kim HY, Joe EH, et al. (2005) Double-stranded RNAactivated protein kinase is required for the LPS-induced activation of STAT1 inflammatory signaling in rat brain glial cells. Glia 50: 66-79.

192. Gil J, Alcami J, Esteban M (2000) Activation of NF-kappa B by the dsRNAdependent protein kinase, PKR involves the I kappa B kinase complex. Oncogene 19: 1369-1378.

193. Samuel MA, Whitby K, Keller BC, Marri A, Barchet W, et al. (2006) PKR and RNase L contribute to protection against lethal West Nile Virus infection by controlling early viral spread in the periphery and replication in neurons. J Virol 80: 7009-7019.

194. Nagai K, Wong AH, Li S, Tam WN, Cuddihy AR, et al. (1997) Induction of CD4 expression and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication by mutants of the interferon-inducible protein kinase PKR. J Virol 71: 1718-1725.

195. Chen CW, Tşay YG, Wu HL, Lee CH, Chen DS, et al. (2002) The doublestranded RNA-activated kinase, PKR, can phosphorylate hepatitis D virus small delta antigen at functional serine and threonine residues. J Biol Chem 277: 33058-33067.

196. Noguchi T, Satoh S, Noshi T, Hatada E, Fukuda R, et al. (2001) Effects of mutation in hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 5A on interferon resistance

mediated by inhibition of PKR kinase activity in mammalian cells. Microbiol Immunol 45: 829-840.

197. Gorchakov R, Frolova E, Williams BR, Rice CM, Frolov I (2004) **PKR-dependent** and -independent mechanisms are involved in translational shutoff during Sindbis virus infection. J Virol 78: 8455-8467.

198. Yeung MC, Chang DL, Camantigue RE, Lau AS (1999) Inhibitory role of the host apoptogenic gene PKR in the establishment of persistent infection by encephalomyocarditis virus in U937 cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96: 11860-11865. 199. Chinsangaram J, Koster M, Grubman MJ (2001) Inhibition of L-deleted foot-andmouth disease virus replication by alpha/beta interferon involves double-stranded RNA-dependent protein kinase. J Virol 75: 5498-5503.

200. Zhou A, Hassel BA, Silverman RH (1993) Expression cloning of 2-5A-dependent RNAase: a uniquely regulated mediator of interferon action. Cell 72: 753-765.

201. Tanaka N, Nakanishi M, Kusakabe Y, Goto Y, Kitade Y, et al. (2004) Structural basis for recognition of 2',5'-linked oligoadenylates by human ribonuclease L. EMBO J 23: 3929-3938.

202. Hoenen A, Liu W, Kochs G, Khromykh AA, Mackenzie JM (2007) West Nile virus-induced cytoplasmic membrane structures provide partial protection against the interferon-induced antiviral MxA protein. J Gen Virol 88: 3013-3017.

203. Malathi K, Dong B, Gale M, Jr., Silverman RH (2007) Small self-RNA generated by RNase L amplifies antiviral innate immunity. Nature 448: 816-819.

204. Zhou A, Paranjape J, Brown TL, Nie H, Naik S, et al. (1997) Interferon action and apoptosis are defective in mice devoid of 2',5'-oligoadenylate-dependent RNase L. EMBO J 16: 6355-6363.

205. Silverman RH (2007) Viral encounters with 2',5'-oligoadenylate synthetase and RNase L during the interferon antiviral response. J Virol 81: 12720-12729.

206. Horisberger MA, Staeheli P, Haller O (1983) Interferon induces a unique protein in mouse cells bearing a gene for resistance to influenza virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 80: 1910-1914.

207. Haller O, Frese M, Rost D, Nuttall PA, Kochs G (1995) Tick-borne thogoto virus infection in mice is inhibited by the orthomyxovirus resistance gene product Mx1. J Virol 69: 2596-2601.

208. Haller O, Staeheli P, Kochs G (2007) Interferon-induced Mx proteins in antiviral host defense. Biochimie 89: 812-818.

209. Accola MA, Huang B, Al Masri A, McNiven MA (2002) The antiviral dynamin family member, MxA, tubulates lipids and localizes to the smooth endoplasmic reticulum. J Biol Chem 277: 21829-21835.

210. Andersson I, Bladh L, Mousavi-Jazi M, Magnusson KE, Lundkvist A, et al. (2004) Human MxA protein inhibits the replication of Crimean-Congo hemorrhagic fever virus. J Virol 78: 4323-4329.

211. Chieux V, Chehadeh W, Harvey J, Haller O, Wattre P, et al. (2001) Inhibition of coxsackievirus B4 replication in stably transfected cells expressing human MxA protein. Virology 283: 84-92.

212. Liu YC, Penninger J, Karin M (2005) Immunity by ubiquitylation: a reversible process of modification. Nat Rev Immunol 5: 941-952.

213. Zhao C, Denison C, Huibregtse JM, Gygi S, Krug RM (2005) Human ISG15 conjugation targets both IFN-induced and constitutively expressed proteins functioning in diverse cellular pathways. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102: 10200-10205. 214. Malakhova OA, Yan M, Malakhov MP, Yuan Y, Ritchie KJ, et al. (2003) Protein ISGylation modulates the JAK-STAT signaling pathway. Genes Dev 17: 455-460.

215. Ritchie KJ, Hahn CS, Kim KI, Yan M, Rosario D, et al. (2004) Role of ISG15 protease UBP43 (USP18) in innate immunity to viral infection. Nat Med 10: 1374-1378.

216. Zou W, Kim JH, Handidu A, Li X, Kim KI, et al. (2007) Microarray analysis reveals that Type I interferon strongly increases the expression of immuneresponse related genes in Ubp43 (Usp18) deficient macrophages. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 356: 193-199.

217. Guo J, Hui DJ, Merrick WC, Sen GC (2000) A new pathway of translational regulation mediated by eukaryotic initiation factor 3. EMBO J 19: 6891-6899.

218. Hui DJ, Bhasker CR, Merrick WC, Sen GC (2003) Viral stress-inducible protein p56 inhibits translation by blocking the interaction of eIF3 with the ternary complex eIF2.GTP.Met-tRNAi. J Biol Chem 278: 39477-39482.

219. Arguello MD, Hiscott J (2007) Ub surprised: viral ovarian tumor domain proteases remove ubiquitin and ISG15 conjugates. Cell Host Microbe 2: 367-369.

220. Selleri C, Sato T, Del Vecchio L, Luciano L, Barrett AJ, et al. (1997) Involvement of Fas-mediated apoptosis in the inhibitory effects of interferon-alpha in chronic myelogenous leukemia. Blood 89: 957-964.

221. Juang SH, Wei SJ, Hung YM, Hsu CY, Yang DM, et al. (2004) IFN-beta induces caspase-mediated apoptosis by disrupting mitochondria in human advanced stage colon cancer cell lines. J Interferon Cytokine Res 24: 231-243.

222. Mui AL (1999) The role of STATs in proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis. Cell Mol Life Sci 55: 1547-1558.

223. Kim HS, Lee MS (2007) STAT1 as a key modulator of cell death. Cell Signal 19: 454-465.

224. Battle TE, Frank DA (2002) The role of STATs in apoptosis. Curr Mol Med 2: 381-392.

225. Ferrantini M, Capone I, Belardelli F (2007) Interferon-alpha and cancer: mechanisms of action and new perspectives of clinical use. Biochimie 89: 884-893.

226. Asefa B, Klarmann KD, Copeland NG, Gilbert DJ, Jenkins NA, et al. (2004) The interferon-inducible p200 family of proteins: a perspective on their roles in cell cycle regulation and differentiation. Blood Cells Mol Dis 32: 155-167.

227. Le Bon A, Durand V, Kamphuis E, Thompson C, Bulfone-Paus S, et al. (2006) Direct stimulation of T cells by type I IFN enhances the CD8+ T cell response during cross-priming. J Immunol 176: 4682-4689.

228. Epperson DE, Arnold D, Spies T, Cresswell P, Pober JS, et al. (1992) Cytokines increase transporter in antigen processing-1 expression more rapidly than HLA class I expression in endothelial cells. J Immunol 149: 3297-3301.

229. Le Bon A, Etchart N, Rossmann C, Ashton M, Hou S, et al. (2003) Cross-priming of CD8+ T cells stimulated by virus-induced type I interferon. Nat Immunol 4: 1009-1015.

230. Nguyen KB, Salazar-Mather TP, Dalod MY, Van Deusen JB, Wei XQ, et al. (2002) Coordinated and distinct roles for IFN-alpha beta, IL-12, and IL-15 regulation of NK cell responses to viral infection. J Immunol 169: 4279-4287.

231. Salazar-Mather TP, Lewis CA, Biron CA (2002) Type I interferons regulate inflammatory cell trafficking and macrophage inflammatory protein 1alpha delivery to the liver. J Clin Invest 110: 321-330.

232. Fredericksen BL, Smith M, Katze MG, Shi PY, Gale M, Jr. (2004) The host response to West Nile Virus infection limits viral spread through the activation of the interferon regulatory factor 3 pathway. J Virol 78: 7737-7747.

233. Fredericksen BL, Gale M, Jr. (2006) West Nile virus evades activation of interferon regulatory factor 3 through RIG-I-dependent and -independent pathways without antagonizing host defense signaling. J Virol 80: 2913-2923.

234. Talon J, Horvath CM, Polley R, Basler CF, Muster T, et al. (2000) Activation of interferon regulatory factor 3 is inhibited by the influenza A virus NS1 protein. J Virol 74: 7989-7996.

235. Donelan NR, Basler CF, Garcia-Sastre A (2003) A recombinant influenza A virus expressing an RNA-binding-defective NS1 protein induces high levels of beta interferon and is attenuated in mice. J Virol 77: 13257-13266.

236. Iqbal M, Poole E, Goodbourn S, McCauley JW (2004) Role for bovine viral diarrhea virus Erns glycoprotein in the control of activation of beta interferon by double-stranded RNA. J Virol 78: 136-145.

237. Andrejeva J, Childs KS, Young DF, Carlos TS, Stock N, et al. (2004) The V proteins of paramyxoviruses bind the IFN-inducible RNA helicase, mda-5, and inhibit its activation of the IFN-beta promoter. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 17264-17269.

238. Childs K, Stock N, Ross C, Andrejeva J, Hilton L, et al. (2007) mda-5, but not RIG-I, is a common target for paramyxovirus V proteins. Virology 359: 190-200.

239. Lee HK, Lund JM, Ramanathan B, Mizushima N, Iwasaki A (2007) Autophagydependent viral recognition by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Science 315: 1398-1401. 240. Orvedahl A, Alexander D, Talloczy Z, Sun Q, Wei Y, et al. (2007) HSV-1 ICP34.5 confers neurovirulence by targeting the Beclin 1 autophagy protein. Cell Host Microbe 1: 23-35.

241. Li K, Foy E, Ferreon JC, Nakamura M, Ferreon AC, et al. (2005) Immune evasion by hepatitis C virus NS3/4A protease-mediated cleavage of the Toll-like receptor 3 adaptor protein TRIF. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102: 2992-2997.

242. Stack J, Haga IR, Schroder M, Bartlett NW, Maloney G, et al. (2005) Vaccinia virus protein A46R targets multiple Toll-like-interleukin-1 receptor adaptors and contributes to virulence. J Exp Med 201: 1007-1018.

243. Brzozka K, Finke S, Conzelmann KK (2005) Identification of the rabies virus alpha/beta interferon antagonist: phosphoprotein P interferes with phosphorylation of interferon regulatory factor 3. J Virol 79: 7673-7681.

244. Mori M, Yoneyama M, Ito T, Takahashi K, Inagaki F, et al. (2004) Identification of Ser-386 of interferon regulatory factor 3 as critical target for inducible phosphorylation that determines activation. J Biol Chem 279: 9698-9702.

245. Vidy A, Chelbi-Alix M, Blondel D (2005) Rabies virus P protein interacts with STAT1 and inhibits interferon signal transduction pathways. J Virol 79: 14411-14420.

246. Bauhofer O, Summerfield A, McCullough KC, Ruggli N (2005) Role of doublestranded RNA and Npro of classical swine fever virus in the activation of monocyte-derived dendritic cells. Virology 343: 93-105.

247. Ruggli N, Bird BH, Liu L, Bauhofer O, Tratschin JD, et al. (2005) N(pro) of classical swine fever virus is an antagonist of double-stranded RNA-mediated apoptosis and IFN-alpha/beta induction. Virology 340: 265-276.

248. Hilton L, Moganeradj K, Zhang G, Chen YH, Randall RE, et al. (2006) The NPro product of bovine viral diarrhea virus inhibits DNA binding by interferon regulatory factor 3 and targets it for proteasomal degradation. J Virol 80: 11723-11732.

249. Hahn AM, Huye LE, Ning S, Webster-Cyriaque J, Pagano JS (2005) Interferon regulatory factor 7 is negatively regulated by the Epstein-Barr virus immediateearly gene, BZLF-1. J Virol 79: 10040-10052.

250. Lin R, Genin P, Mamane Y, Sgarbanti M, Battistini A, et al. (2001) HHV-8 encoded vIRF-1 represses the interferon antiviral response by blocking IRF-3 recruitment of the CBP/p300 coactivators. Oncogene 20: 800-811.

251. Lubyova B, Kellum MJ, Frisancho AJ, Pitha PM (2004) Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus-encoded vIRF-3 stimulates the transcriptional activity of cellular IRF-3 and IRF-7. J Biol Chem 279: 7643-7654.

252. Tait SW, Reid EB, Greaves DR, Wileman TE, Powell PP (2000) Mechanism of inactivation of NF-kappa B by a viral homologue of I kappa b alpha. Signalinduced release of i kappa b alpha results in binding of the viral homologue to NF-kappa B. J Biol Chem 275: 34656-34664.

253. Joo M, Hahn YS, Kwon M, Sadikot RT, Blackwell TS, et al. (2005) Hepatitis C virus core protein suppresses NF-kappaB activation and cyclooxygenase-2 expression by direct interaction with IkappaB kinase beta. J Virol 79: 7648-7657.

254. Spitkovsky D, Hehner SP, Hofmann TG, Moller A, Schmitz ML (2002) The human papillomavirus oncoprotein E7 attenuates NF-kappa B activation by targeting the Ikappa B kinase complex. J Biol Chem 277: 25576-25582.

255. Karin M (2006) Nuclear factor-kappaB in cancer development and progression. Nature 441: 431-436.

256. Symons JA, Alcami A, Smith GL (1995) Vaccinia virus encodes a soluble type I interferon receptor of novel structure and broad species specificity. Cell 81: 551-560.

257. Alcami A, Smith GL (1995) Vaccinia, cowpox, and camelpox viruses encode soluble gamma interferon receptors with novel broad species specificity. J Virol 69: 4633-4639.

258. Yao X, Chen ZQ, Gong JQ, Chen M, Li AS, et al. (2007) The interferon-gamma receptor gene polymorphisms (Val14Met and Gln64Arg) are not associated with systemic lupus erythematosus in Chinese patients. Arch Dermatol Res 299: 367-371.

259. Liu J, HuangFu WC, Kumar KG, Qian J, Casey JP, et al. (2009) Virus-induced unfolded protein response attenuates antiviral defenses via phosphorylationdependent degradation of the type I interferon receptor. Cell Host Microbe 5: 72-83. 260. Lin RJ, Chang BL, Yu HP, Liao CL, Lin YL (2006) Blocking of interferoninduced Jak-Stat signaling by Japanese encephalitis virus NS5 through a protein tyrosine phosphatase-mediated mechanism. J Virol 80: 5908-5918. 261. Li S, Labrecque S, Gauzzi MC, Cuddihy AR, Wong AH, et al. (1999) The human papilloma virus (HPV)-18 E6 oncoprotein physically associates with Tyk2 and impairs Jak-STAT activation by interferon-alpha. Oncogene 18: 5727-5737.

262. Weihua X, Ramanujam S, Lindner DJ, Kudaravalli RD, Freund R, et al. (1998) The polyoma virus T antigen interferes with interferon-inducible gene expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95: 1085-1090.

\*

263. Didcock L, Young DF, Goodbourn S, Randall RE (1999) The V protein of simian virus 5 inhibits interferon signalling by targeting STAT1 for proteasome-mediated degradation. J Virol 73: 9928-9933.

264. Ulane CM, Kentsis A, Cruz CD, Parisien JP, Schneider KL, et al. (2005) Composition and assembly of STAT-targeting ubiquitin ligase complexes: paramyxovirus V protein carboxyl terminus is an oligomerization domain. J Virol 79: 10180-10189.

265. Gotoh B, Komatsu T, Takeuchi K, Yokoo J (2002) Paramyxovirus strategies for evading the interferon response. Rev Med Virol 12: 337-357.

266. Vidy A, El Bougrini J, Chelbi-Alix MK, Blondel D (2007) The nucleocytoplasmic rabies virus P protein counteracts interferon signaling by inhibiting both nuclear accumulation and DNA binding of STAT1. J Virol 81: 4255-4263.

267. Lin W, Kim SS, Yeung E, Kamegaya Y, Blackard JT, et al. (2006) Hepatitis C virus core protein blocks interferon signaling by interaction with the STAT1 SH2 domain. J Virol 80: 9226-9235.

268. Frieman M, Heise M, Baric R (2008) SARS coronavirus and innate immunity. Virus Res 133: 101-112.

269. Look DC, Roswit WT, Frick AG, Gris-Alevy Y, Dickhaus DM, et al. (1998) Direct suppression of Stat1 function during adenoviral infection. Immunity 9: 871-880.

270. Bonjardim CA, Ferreira PC, Kroon EG (2009) Interferons: signaling, antiviral and viral evasion. Immunol Lett 122: 1-11.

271. Barral PM, Morrison JM, Drahos J, Gupta P, Sarkar D, et al. (2007) MDA-5 is cleaved in poliovirus-infected cells. J Virol 81: 3677-3684.

272. Barral PM, Sarkar D, Fisher PB, Racaniello VR (2009) RIG-I is cleaved during picornavirus infection. Virology 391: 171-176.

273. Papon L, Oteiza A, Imaizumi T, Kato H, Brocchi E, et al. (2009) The viral RNA recognition sensor RIG-I is degraded during encephalomyocarditis virus (EMCV) infection. Virology 393: 311-318.

274. Dodd DA, Giddings TH, Jr., Kirkegaard K (2001) Poliovirus 3A protein limits interleukin-6 (IL-6), IL-8, and beta interferon secretion during viral infection. J Virol 75: 8158-8165.

275. Morrison JM, Racaniello VR (2009) Proteinase 2Apro is essential for enterovirus replication in type I interferon-treated cells. J Virol 83: 4412-4422.

276. de Los Santos T, de Avila Botton S, Weiblen R, Grubman MJ (2006) The leader proteinase of foot-and-mouth disease virus inhibits the induction of beta interferon mRNA and blocks the host innate immune response. J Virol 80: 1906-1914.

277. de Los Santos T, Diaz-San Segundo F, Grubman MJ (2007) Degradation of nuclear factor kappa B during foot-and-mouth disease virus infection. J Virol 81: 12803-12815.

ć,

278. Yang Y, Liang Y, Qu L, Chen Z, Yi M, et al. (2007) Disruption of innate immunity due to mitochondrial targeting of a picornaviral protease precursor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104: 7253-7258.

279. Lei X, Liu X, Ma Y, Sun Z, Yang Y, et al. The 3C protein of enterovirus 71 inhibits retinoid acid-inducible gene I-mediated interferon regulatory factor 3 activation and type I interferon responses. J Virol 84: 8051-8061.

280. Chee AV, Roizman B (2004) Herpes simplex virus 1 gene products occlude the interferon signaling pathway at multiple sites. J Virol 78: 4185-4196.

281. Nanda SK, Baron MD (2006) Rinderpest virus blocks type I and type II interferon action: role of structural and nonstructural proteins. J Virol 80: 7555-7568.

282. Brzozka K, Finke S, Conzelmann KK (2006) Inhibition of interferon signaling by rabies virus phosphoprotein P: activation-dependent binding of STAT1 and STAT2. J Virol 80: 2675-2683.

283. Kumar KG, Varghese B, Banerjee A, Baker DP, Constantinescu SN, et al. (2008) Basal ubiquitin-independent internalization of interferon alpha receptor is prevented by Tyk2-mediated masking of a linear endocytic motif. J Biol Chem 283: 18566-18572.

284. Lei X, Liu X, Ma Y, Sun Z, Yang Y, et al. (2010) The 3C protein of enterovirus 71 inhibits retinoid acid-inducible gene I-mediated interferon regulatory factor 3 activation and type I interferon responses. J Virol 84: 8051-8061.

285. Kumar KG, Tang W, Ravindranath AK, Clark WA, Croze E, et al. (2003) SCF(HOS) ubiquitin ligase mediates the ligand-induced down-regulation of the interferon-alpha receptor. EMBO J 22: 5480-5490.

286. Kempf BJ, Barton DJ (2008) Poliovirus 2A(Pro) increases viral mRNA and polysome stability coordinately in time with cleavage of eIF4G. J Virol 82: 5847-5859.

287. Liebig HD, Seipelt J, Vassilieva E, Gradi A, Kuechler E (2002) A thermosensitive mutant of HRV2 2A proteinase: evidence for direct cleavage of elF4Gl and elF4GII. FEBS Lett 523: 53-57.

288. Joachims M, Van Breugel PC, Lloyd RE (1999) Cleavage of poly(A)-binding protein by enterovirus proteases concurrent with inhibition of translation in vitro. J Virol 73: 718-727.

289. Yu SF, Lloyd RE (1992) Characterization of the roles of conserved cysteine and histidine residues in poliovirus 2A protease. Virology 186: 725-735.

290. Yang CH, Li HC, Jiang JG, Hsu CF, Wang YJ, et al. Enterovirus type 71 2A protease functions as a transcriptional activator in yeast. J Biomed Sci 17: 65.

291. Leong WF, Chow VT (2006) Transcriptomic and proteomic analyses of rhabdomyosarcoma cells reveal differential cellular gene expression in response to enterovirus 71 infection. Cell Microbiol 8: 565-580.

292. Shih SR, Stollar V, Lin JY, Chang SC, Chen GW, et al. (2004) Identification of genes involved in the host response to enterovirus 71 infection. J Neurovirol 10: 293-304.

293. Kok TW, Pryor T, Payne L (1998) Comparison of rhabdomyosarcoma, buffalo green monkey kidney epithelial, A549 (human lung epithelial) cells and human embryonic lung fibroblasts for isolation of enteroviruses from clinical samples. J Clin Virol 11: 61-65.

294. She RC, Crist G, Billetdeaux E, Langer J, Petti CA (2006) Comparison of multiple shell vial cell lines for isolation of enteroviruses: a national perspective. J Clin Virol 37: 151-155.

295. Johansson ES, Xing L, Cheng RH, Shafren DR (2004) Enhanced cellular receptor usage by a bioselected variant of coxsackievirus a21. J Virol 78: 12603-12612.

296. Perez-Ruiz M, Navarro-Mari JM, Palacios del Valle E, Rosa-Fraile M (2003) Human rhabdomyosarcoma cells for rapid detection of enteroviruses by shell-vial assay. J Med Microbiol 52: 789-791.

297. Pliaka V, Dedepsidis E, Kyriakopoulou Z, Papadi G, Tsakogiannis D, et al. (2010) Growth kinetic analysis of bi-recombinant poliovirus vaccine strains. Virus Genes 40: 200-211.

298. Honda K, Sakaguchi S, Nakajima C, Watanabe A, Yanai H, et al. (2003) Selective contribution of IFN-alpha/beta signaling to the maturation of dendritic cells induced by double-stranded RNA or viral infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100: 10872-10877.

299. Vollstedt S, Arnold S, Schwerdel C, Franchini M, Alber G, et al. (2004) Interplay between alpha/beta and gamma interferons with B, T, and natural killer cells in the defense against herpes simplex virus type 1. J Virol 78: 3846-3850.

300. Le Bon A, Tough DF (2002) Links between innate and adaptive immunity via type I interferon. Curr Opin Immunol 14: 432-436.

301. Dupuis S, Jouanguy E, Al-Hajjar S, Fieschi C, Al-Mohsen IZ, et al. (2003) Impaired response to interferon-alpha/beta and lethal viral disease in human STAT1 deficiency. Nat Genet 33: 388-391.

302. Yi L, He Y, Chen Y, Kung HF, He ML Potent inhibition of human enterovirus 71 replication by type I interferon subtypes. Antivir Ther 16: 51-58.

303. Paulus C, Krauss S, Nevels M (2006) A human cytomegalovirus antagonist of type I IFN-dependent signal transducer and activator of transcription signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103: 3840-3845.

304. Jia D, Rahbar R, Chan RW, Lee SM, Chan MC, et al. Influenza virus nonstructural protein 1 (NS1) disrupts interferon signaling. PLoS One 5: e13927.

305. Hwang SY, Hertzog PJ, Holland KA, Sumarsono SH, Tymms MJ, et al. (1995) A null mutation in the gene encoding a type I interferon receptor component eliminates antiproliferative and antiviral responses to interferons alpha and beta and alters macrophage responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92: 11284-11288.

306. Muller U, Steinhoff U, Reis LF, Hemmi S, Pavlovic J, et al. (1994) Functional role of type I and type II interferons in antiviral defense. Science 264: 1918-1921.

307. Zurney J, Howard KE, Sherry B (2007) Basal expression levels of IFNAR and Jak-STAT components are determinants of cell-type-specific differences in cardiac antiviral responses. J Virol 81: 13668-13680.

308. Morita K, Tanaka K, Saito S, Kitamura T, Kondo M, et al. (1998) Expression of interferon receptor genes (IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 mRNA) in the liver may predict outcome after interferon therapy in patients with chronic genotype 2a or 2b hepatitis C virus infection. J Clin Gastroenterol 26: 135-140.

309. Aucan C, Walley AJ, Hennig BJ, Fitness J, Frodsham A, et al. (2003) Interferonalpha receptor-1 (IFNAR1) variants are associated with protection against cerebral malaria in the Gambia. Genes Immun 4: 275-282. 310. Leyva L, Fernandez O, Fedetz M, Blanco E, Fernandez VE, et al. (2005) IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 polymorphisms confer susceptibility to multiple sclerosis but not to interferon-beta treatment response. J Neuroimmunol 163: 165-171.

311. Kierstein S, Noyes H, Naessens J, Nakamura Y, Pritchard C, et al. (2006) Gene expression profiling in a mouse model for African trypanosomiasis. Genes Immun 7: 667-679.

312. Diop G, Hirtzig T, Do H, Coulonges C, Vasilescu A, et al. (2006) Exhaustive genotyping of the interferon alpha receptor 1 (IFNAR1) gene and association of an IFNAR1 protein variant with AIDS progression or susceptibility to HIV-1 infection in a French AIDS cohort. Biomed Pharmacother 60: 569-577.

313. Saito T, Ji G, Shinzawa H, Okumoto K, Hattori E, et al. (2004) Genetic variations in humans associated with differences in the course of hepatitis C. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 317: 335-341.

314. Frodsham AJ, Zhang L, Dumpis U, Taib NA, Best S, et al. (2006) Class II cytokine receptor gene cluster is a major locus for hepatitis B persistence. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103: 9148-9153.

315. Buenz EJ, Howe CL (2006) Picornaviruses and cell death. Trends Microbiol 14: 28-36.

316. Jurgens CK, Barton DJ, Sharma N, Morasco BJ, Ogram SA, et al. (2006) **2Apro is a multifunctional protein that regulates the stability, translation and replication of poliovirus RNA**. Virology 345: 346-357.

317. Kumar KG, Barriere H, Carbone CJ, Liu J, Swaminathan G, et al. (2007) Sitespecific ubiquitination exposes a linear motif to promote interferon-alpha receptor endocytosis. J Cell Biol 179: 935-950.

318. Ragimbeau J, Dondi E, Alcover A, Eid P, Uze G, et al. (2003) The tyrosine kinase Tyk2 controls IFNAR1 cell surface expression. EMBO J 22: 537-547.

319. Qian J, Zheng H, Huangfu WC, Liu J, Carbone CJ, et al. Pathogen Recognition Receptor Signaling Accelerates Phosphorylation-Dependent Degradation of IFNAR1. PLoS Pathog 7: e1002065.